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Foreword

The publication of this volume of the Rockbridge Historical Society’s
Proceedings was deliberately delayed in order to bring it out at the close of
the Society’s fiftieth anniversary. The Society attaches so much importance
to the publication of the research presented at its regular quarterly meet-
ings that it seemed unthinkable to plan a series of celebrations that did not
include an anniversary issue of this journal.

The delay has permitted the society to invite a professional historian,
who is one of its former presidents, to write the Society’s anniversary
history for this volume, and to ask the organization’s archivist to summar-
ize the sources on family history that we have accumulated during the past
fifty years.

The other essays found here range over a wide variety of topics and
indicate the lively interest that continues to be shown both in unearthing
new information about Rockbridge history and in suggesting fresh inter-
pretations of familiar facts. As has always been the case in these Proceed-
ings, the essays represent different stages in their writers’ researches. An
unusually large number of articles in this collection stem from books which
had either just been completed or were close to publication at the time the
authors addressed the Society. Others are tentative and exploratory or
descriptive of ongoing research. Still others are edited transcriptions of
informal presentations and roundtable discussions.

The authors are, of course, the most important contributors to the
Society’s Proceedings. But as in the case of volume 9, the society wishes to
recognize the invaluable assistance it has had from the George C. Marshall
Foundation in Lexington. The Foundation’s editor of the George C. Mar-
shall papers tirelessly serves the Society as its indispensable volunteer. He
not only collected and edited the articles, but used his technical skills to
prepare the volume camera-ready. Use of the Foundation’s office space
and technical equipment for this process is also gratefully acknowledged.

The photographic and library resources at Washington and Lee Univer-
sity and the Virginia Military Institute have been used extensively in pre-
paring the articles for publication. The skilled assistance made available to
the society by these institutions is warmly appreciated.

As the Society surveys its fifty years of existence, it realizes that it has
changed in many ways since it began as a little band of men and women
who knew each other very well (and many of whom were related) and
formally invited new members to join. Over the years the Society has
expanded into a 550-member, county-wide organization that stresses the
openness of its membership to all who are interested in the county’s his-
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Foreword

tory. It has also acquired, through generous bequests, three properties in
the Lexington Historic District, and in one of these houses it maintains its
headquarters and an exhibition room.

Above all, the Society has come to address itself not only to the long-
established members of the community but also to the large number of
newcomers who have been arriving in the county in recent years, and has
encouraged them to turn to the society to learn about the history of the
place that has become their home. During the last decade, moreover, the
Society has actively encouraged the ever-increasing number of tourists to
take an interest in the county’s history. ,

The Society hopes that all these groups, in addition to the readers in the
years ahead and in faraway places, will find this volume informative and
enjoyable.

Winifred Hadsel
President
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Preface

Point of view and perspective are crucial in determining what the viewer will
see in a scene. Our covers depict two rather disparate points of view. On the
back is the traditional image of our county: a low-level, immediate, intimate
depiction of the natural wonder from which Rockbridge derives its name.
Artists, professional and amateur, have come here to portray the Natural
Bridge over the past two centuries. The sketch used here is from an 1857 book
by David Hunter Strother (“Porte Crayon”).

On the front cover is a view of Rockbridge County taken on April 12, 1984,
by the Landsat-5 satellite from an altitude of 570 miles. Quite the opposite of
immediate and intimate, the colors are not even “real”; this picture is a compo-
site of three black and white photographs taken simultaneously at different
wavelengths and given a “false color” by a computer in order to emphasize the
different surface covers and conditions.

An infinity of viewpoints and perspectives are also available for depicting
the history of this area, and as Dr. Brooke notes in his history of the Rock-
bridge Historical Society, the emphasis of the Society’s programs has continu-
ally shifted since the first meeting in 1939. The themes of the thirty-nine essays
presented in this volume range in time from the period of first settlement to the
present, and the subjects include the otherworldly (e.g., religion and faculty
meetings) and the earthly (e.g., dancing and football). Appended are several
documents and reports that were deemed worthy of preservation as well as a
ten-volume cumulative index, which we hope will aid future researchers.

To produce a volume of this size (roughly the same as the first seven
volumes combined) required the assistance of many people in addition to the
authors and program participants. Joellen K. Bland spent an enormous amount
of time typing the essays, setting the type, and proofreading; the project could
not have been completed without her help. Society President Winifred Hadsel
was also invaluable. She edited certain of the meeting transcripts, collected
material for illustrations, proofread nearly everything, and generally provided
dynamic leadership in all phases of the project. Kit Huffman also contributed
much time in proofreading the galleys. Diane Jacob, Virginia Military Institute
archivist, and Lisa McCown, of the Washington and Lee University Special
Collections department, also assisted the editor in finding illustrative material.
Gene Thomas of the Gurtner Printing Company of Roanoke was particularly
helpful in guiding the project through the production phases. And special
thanks are extended to the George C. Marshall Foundation—whose motto is
“That Tomorrow May Better Know Our Times”—which provided the office
space and equipment to convert the essays into a printed volume.
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The First Fifty Years of the
Rockbridge Historical Society

George M. Brooke, Jr.

B
)

(€ )HE year 1939, which brought Hitler’s brutal invasion of Poland
7 and World War II, saw the birth of the Rockbridge Historical
~ Society. That a community with three colleges and a proud his-
tory should concern itself with its past is not surprising, but that it should
do so in such an epic year is a coincidence. As the world looked to the
future with foreboding, in Lexington on July 7 seventeen older citizens, of
whom all but four were women, looked to the past and attended a meeting
called to organize a local historical society. Perhaps they had been reas-
sured by a report in the Rockbridge County News the day before that
discussion on the “Britain-France-Russian mutual assistance pact” had
been renewed, and assurances from the Soviet Union “that only some
minor questions remained to be settled.” It was comforting to read that
tension over Danzig had lessened and that a Nazi spokesman said “Ger-
many had no intention of disturbing the territorial integrity of Poland.”
Furthermore, the American Bible Society claimed that the Bible outsold
Mein Kampfin 1938 by two hundred thousand copies. The worried reader

George M. Brooke, Jr., former Society president and professor emeritus of history at
the Virginia Military Institute, wrote this essay especially for this semicentennial issue
of Proceedings. He presented a brief history of the Society at the meeting on January
23, 1989, in Evans Dining Hall at Washington and Lee University.



George M. Brooke, Jr.

learned that the House of Representatives had “passed the neutrality bill
which now goes to the Senate.”

In such times it was reassuring to know that one of VMI’s own, General
George C. Marshall, had become acting army chief of staff on July 1 and
that he would “have charge of the great expansion program authorized by
Congress.” Thus another link was forged in Rockbridge County’s history
and made a study of its past more appealing.

On the domestic front the New Deal’s efforts had been largely unavail-
ing and the country was still mired in the 1937 recession. The Rockbridge
National Bank (now Crestar) listed total assets of $1,820,467.73, and across
the street the People’s National Bank (now Dominion) claimed assets of
$1,545,814.72. Tolley’s Toggery, the forerunner of the College Town Shop,
advertised “new, luxurious lightweight airgore-spun suits” for $11.75. Peo-
ple were urged to drink Coca-Cola, “the pause that refreshes,” for five
cents. For its July clearance sale, Adair-Hutton informed the ladies that
silk dresses usually priced from $5.95 to $7.95, would be sold at $4.88,
while $1.00 summer sweaters were going for seventy-nine cents. Shaner’s
Nursery, a standby then as today, advertised “12,000 square feet of glass
devoted to flower culture.” Before the complications of dialing, Shaner’s
phone was listed as 203.

Pender’s, a leading grocery, was selling sugar at ten pounds for fifty-one
cents and an eighteen ounce loaf of bread for eight cents. “Large juicy
lemons” were nineteen cents a dozen and bacon was nineteen cents a
pound. James A. Cook, in a day of coal furnaces, claimed “Perfect satisfac-
tion from Automatic Coal Heat.” Residents who planned to leave town for
the summer were told that they could get the Rockbridge County News
anywhere in the United States for two months at a cost of thirty cents.

For entertainment in early July one could go to the new State Theater
and see Cary Grant and Jean Arthur in “Only Angels Have Wings” or go
to the Lyric on Main Street and witness Gene Autry in “Blue Montana
Skies.”

The Fourth of July in Lexington was quiet with no accidents reported.
For entertainment, 450 people attended the baseball game where the Lex-
ington convict camp on the Lee Highway defeated a convict camp from
Roanoke, 18-8. Nationally, however, the picture was gloomier. Fatalities
over the Fourth totaled 460, with auto deaths numbering 227. People were
warned that more lives had been lost on the highway over the holidays than
at the Battle of Bunker Hill.

The newspaper of July 6 stated that Edward V. Brush, M.D., had
“announced the opening of his office for general practice of medicine at 113
Washington Street,” and also, that “Dr. and Mrs. O. Hunter McClung, Jr.

4 Rockbridge Historical Society



First Fifty Years of RHS

The home of Mary Preston Graham (Mrs. Beverley) Tucker on West
Washington Street in Lexington, the location of the Society’s first meeting
on July 7, 1939. The house was torn down in the late 1950s and the R. E.
Lee Memorial Episcopal Church built its Parish Hall on the site.

left Tuesday for Philadelphia, Pa., where Dr. McClung will be an intern at
the Pennsylvania Hospital for two years.”

In this environment the Rockbridge Historical Society was organized.
At the first meeting, held at the home of Mrs. Beverley Tucker on July 7,
Ruth Anderson McCulloch told those assembled “that the meeting had
been called for the purpose of considering the advisability of forming an
association, having as its object the accumulation and preservation of
material bearing upon the history of Rockbridge County, to stimulate
interest in preserving and marking places of traditional and historical
interest, and especially to work towards securing a permanent, safe, and
accessible place to keep these records.” Mr. Cabell Tutwiler was elected
temporary chairman of the meeting and Mrs. McCulloch acted as secre-
tary. A vote to form an organization carried unanimously.

A committee of five, consisting of Mr. Stuart Moore, chairman, Mr.
Matthew Paxton, Mrs. Rosa Tucker Mason, Mrs. Emily P. Pearse, and
Miss Mary Barclay, was appointed by Mr. Tutwiler to draft a constitution
and by-laws for the new organization to be known as the Rockbridge

Proceedings X (1980-89) 5



George M. Brooke, Jr.

Historical Society.! Neither Mr. Moore nor Mr. Paxton, both prominent
attorneys with deep roots in Rockbridge, attended the first meeting.

On July 27, before any further action had been taken, the Rockbridge
County News published a letter dated July 24, written by Dr. Leslie Lyle
Campbell, a retired physics professor who had settled in Lexington and
would later be a great benefactor of the Rockbridge Historical Society, on
the preservation of the Jordan House on Main Street. Dr. Campbell, who
had not attended the July 7 meeting and is not mentioned in the minutes,
wrote that the Washington and Lee University Board of Trustees had
“offered to turn over to some approved organization the old Jordan Hou-
se, . . . on condition that this house be restored and preserved.” Campbell,
who was a Washington and Lee graduate, suggested that “a Rockbridge
Historical Society be organized” to take the Jordan House from the uni-
versity and restore it. His plans were grandiose, as he envisioned a society
with its headquarters in Lexington and chapters in “Brownsburg, Buena
Vista, Collierstown, Fairfield, Glasgow, Goshen, Natural Bridge, Rock-
bridge Baths, Timber Ridge, and other points in the county.” His idea was
that the chapters hold meetings “at regular intervals,” while at least once a
year the chapters would send “delegates” to a meeting in Lexington. “The
main object of the society,” he wrote, “would be to collect and preserve the
historic annals of a county full of ungarnered historic grain and ungathered
relics.” He felt that the acquisition and furnishing of the Jordan House
“could be done gradually.” It was his idea that the restored Jordan House
serve as a storehouse for the things collected by the society.

Campbell’s suggestion as to the restoration of the Jordan House appear-
ed to fall properly within the province of the Association for the Preserva-
tion of Virginia Antiquities (APVA), a state-wide organization with a
branch in Lexington, although he made no mention of that organization
and was perhaps unaware of its existence. But he was concerned with
preserving documents. “Before memories fail,” he wrote, “before book-
worms devour, before mildew and fire destroy, before wood and metal
become dust and rust, it is hoped that living hands and hearts will gather
from hearth and home their priceless records and relics and store them in a
home that for years welcomed many guests.”

Meanwhile, Stuart Moore, chairman of the committee to draft a consti-
tution, was not idle. On July 29 he sent members of his committee “a
proposed draft of a constitution and by-laws, the first portion of which has
been drawn with a view to meeting the requirements of incorporation,
should this be determined upon,” and asked the members to meet at his
office.

1. Minutes, RHS, July 7, 1939.

6 Rockbridge Historical Society



First Fifty Years of RHS

As Hitler made ready to negotiate a nonaggression pact with the Soviet
Union that would clear the road for his attack on Poland, the founders of
the Rockbridge Historical Society gathered at Ann Smith Academy at 4:00
p.m. on Wednesday, August 9. This second meeting was described on the
front page of the Rockbridge County News the next day. Harrington
Waddell, Lexington superintendent of schools, who had attended the Socie-
ty’s first meeting, had lent the Ann Smith Academy, a “cool, central build-
ing,” for the meeting. In the usual fashion the minutes of the first meeting
were read and approved. With Mr. Tutwiler presiding as temporary chair-
man still, the constitution and by-laws were presented by Stuart Moore’s
committee. Expressing the desire to vote on the constitution and by-laws as
a whole, rather than by article, the membership accepted the document
unanimously. The secretary noted that “the Constitution is brief, anticipat-
ing legal incorporation.” The by-laws were described as “admirably definite
and yet elastic.”?

Who were the Charter Members? There is confusion on this point. It has
been mentioned that seventeen people attended the July 7 meeting and we
know who they were from the minutes. At the August 9 meeting it was
decided that those present who wished to become members of the Society
could sign their names in the secretary’s book as Charter Members. Twenty-
nine signed, but unfortunately this list of Charter Members has been lost; it
is not in the minute book. Moreover, it was agreed that those who had
attended the first meeting but could not attend the second “were to be
regarded as Charter Members.” To add to the confusion, the minutes state
“that no public statement should be made of a limiting date.”

From the beginning the Society sought to broaden its base so as to get
support throughout the Rockbridge area. The appeal was to all people
interested in local history, genealogy, and preservation. Intentionally, dues
were kept low: $2.00 a year for active members, $10.00 for sustaining
members, and $50.00 for life members. Also, from the start, when dinner
arrangements were made, the emphasis was on good, plain food at a
modest price with no frills.

The by-laws provided for a president, seven vice-presidents, a recording
secretary, a corresponding secretary, a treasurer, and a historian-librarian.
The large number of vice-presidents seems to have been provided in order
to honor prominent citizens who did not live in Rockbridge County but
had some interest, financial or otherwise, in it.

The first nominating committee, appointed at the August 9 meeting,
moved swiftly. The acting chairman appointed a committee of five, consist-
ing of Miss Elizabeth Barclay, chairman, Mrs. Charles McCulloch, Miss

2. Minutes , RHS, August 9, 1939; Rockbridge County News.
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Ellen Anderson, Stuart Moore, and T. J. McSpadden. The committee was
allowed a recess of ten minutes to prepare a slate of officers, which they
did. There were no nominations from the floor and the slate was unanim-
ously approved.

The officers were elected for one year. Dr. Francis Pendleton Gaines,
president of Washington and Lee University, was elected president of the
Society. Three of the vice-presidents were from the community: General
James A. Anderson, D. E. Brady, and John A. Graham. Matthew Paxton
was elected recording secretary and Miss Mary Barclay, corresponding
secretary. Frank J. Gilliam was the first treasurer and Dr. E. Pendleton
Tompkins, historian-librarian. The constitution also provided for four
trustees, elected by the Society to manage its affairs.

At its inception the Society seems to have been a bit top-heavy with
committees: membership, program (Mrs. McCulloch), special projects
(Miss Elizabeth Barclay), committee on historical records (Dr. James
Lewis Howe). The last committee was subdivided into committees on
genealogy, biography, and historical landmarks (Dr. Campbell). Dr. L. C.
Helderman of the Washington and Lee History Department was the only
professional historian named to a committee.

The by-laws called for four general meetings a year. Between such meet-
ings necessary business was to be transacted by the Executive Committee,
later called the Board. The early membership and leadership of the Society
revealed a blend of town and gown with the town taking far the more
active role. Between Washington and Lee and VMI, personnel from the
former were considerably more in evidence in the early years.

An analysis of the officers of the Society shows the kind of leadership.
During its first fifty years the Society had twenty-two presidents, of whom
six were women. Until 1949 the presidents served one-year terms. The first
four presidents, Dr. Gaines, Mrs. McCulloch, Miss Elizabeth Barclay, and
Earle Paxton each served one year. The next three presidents, Dr. Camp-
bell, Dr. Cole Davis, and Mrs. Russell Robey of Southern Seminary were
each reelected for a second one year term. Dr. George Diehl was the first
president elected, with a change in the constitution, for a two-year term.
Mrs. J. P. (Louise) Alexander was the first to serve two consecutive two-
year terms. This precedent was followed by General J. S. Letcher, Dr.
Allen Moger, Richard Fletcher, Dr. Pamela Simpson, and Mrs. Fred
(Winifred) Hadsel.

Indicative of Washington and Lee’s prominent role in the Society, eight
of the presidents, including Dr. Gaines, were actively engaged at the college
at the time they served; five of these were on the teaching faculty. Only four
of the presidents were working at VMI while they held office, of whom two
were on the faculty.

8 Rockbridge Historical Society



First Fifty Years of RHS

Rockbridge Historical Society
Presidents, 1939-1989+

1940 Dr. Francis P. Gaines

1941 Mrs. Ruth Anderson McCulloch
1942 Miss Elizabeth Barclay

1943 Earle K. Paxton

1944-45 Leslie Lyle Campbell
1946-47 Dr. W. Cole Davis

1948-49 Mrs. Margaret Durham Robey
1950-51 Dr. George W. Diehl
1952-55 Mrs. Louise Alexander
1956-57 Col. William Couper
1958-59 Dr. Charles W. Turner
1960-61 Col. George M. Brooke, Jr.
1962-65 Gen. John S. Letcher

1966 Dr. Frank J. Gilliam

1967 Rt. Rev. Lloyd R. Craighill}
1967-70 Col. B. McCluer Gilliam
1971-72 James G. Leyburn

1973-76 Dr. Allen W. Moger
1977-78 D. E. Brady, Jr.

1979-82 Richard R. Fletcher

1983-86 Dr. Pamela H. Simpson
1987- Mrs. Winifred Hadsel

t Elections held in October preceding term of office.
1 Retired because of ill health.

The office of treasurer was usually filled by someone with financial or
business experience, and once appointed the treasurer often served a long
time. The recording secretaries also usually served several terms. The min-
utes they kept were vital for the writer of this paper. Several of them
deserve praise. Professor Earle K. Paxton performed these duties conscien-
tiously in the early days. Dr. James Moffatt, of the Washington and Lee
English Department, kept full and accurate minutes with detailed descrip-
tions of the papers read at quarterly meetings. Dr. Marshall Fishwick,
professor of American Studies at Washington and Lee, displayed a literary
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flair and keen sense of humor not usually found in the recording of min-
utes. Mrs. Louise Alexander, whose family has been associated with Rock-
bridge County from the earliest days, was a Charter Member and performed
many duties well. Serving as secretary for many years, she kept detailed
minutes.

From its beginning the Society took seriously its mission of collecting
documents and artifacts and making known to all the history of Rock-
bridge County. Throughout its history it has attempted to do this through
the reading of papers or, occasionally, holding informal discussions of the
old days at the quarterly meetings. Much of the Society’s effort was
directed toward the presentation of appropriate programs, and the pro-
gram committee chairmen generally performed their duties effectively. To
preserve the record and disseminate information pertaining to Rockbridge
County history, the Society published periodically the Proceedings, which
consisted of papers read at the meetings or abstracts of them. Throughout
its history the Society has pursued this aim, although in later years its
efforts have been focused, also, on such other activities as dedicating
plaques, displaying objects, holding seminars, improving its properties,
enlarging the membership, and cooperating with other organizations with
somewhat similar goals, such as the APVA, the Historic Lexington Foun-
dation (HLF), and the Jackson House.

What subjects did the programs emphasize? An analysis of the nearly
two hundred programs during the first fifty years gives us some insight.
Although several papers must be included in several categories, the follow-
ing subjects have predominated:

biographical and autobiographical—S51

the Civil War—10

early history of the county—8

churches—8

transportation—7

historic houses and buildings—6

the iron industry—5

architecture—5

arts, crafts, music and the dance—5

archaeology and geology—4

blacks—4

springs in the county—4

booms—?2

Indians—2
As a generalization one might say that at first the emphasis was on biog-
raphy, buildings, and early history. In the sixties there began a trend
toward architecture, archaeology, arts and crafts, dance and music. The

10 Rockbridge Historical Society



First Fifty Years of RHS

nature of the programs shifted with the change in leadership. In the seven-
ties and eighties less interest was shown in traditional history. Perhaps the
subject matter had been thoroughly mined. Nonetheless, throughout its
history the Society has adhered in its programs to its basic aim of further-
ing knowledge of this community. The program chairmen were conscien-
tious, for in this writer’s view only six programs in fifty years could be
deemed irrelevant. The goal was certainly not just to get a program, but to
get a program that would expand our knowledge of Rockbridge County.

It is of interest to note who the speakers were. Once again, we get a
variety. There were professional and amateur historians, specialists in a
variety of disciplines, hobbyists, and people who had lived through some of
the events they described. Among professional historians Washington and
Lee took the lead, twenty-one of the papers having been delivered by men
from its History Department. Dr. W. Gleason Bean read four papers; Dr.
Charles Turner, seven; Drs. Ollinger Crenshaw and Allen Moger, three
each; Drs. Marshall Fishwick and Taylor Sanders, two each. At VMI seven
professors from the History Department gave a total of twelve papers, but
only Colonel Brooke (4) gave more than two.

A number of other liberal arts professors from the colleges gave histori-
cal papers, and other professors read papers relating to their own disci-
plines, such as architecture, archaeology, engineering, geology, and library
science. A number of people in different occupations offered papers on
topics of local history in which they had developed an interest. Among
them (with the number of papers read) were Dr. E. P. Tompkins (5),
Royster Lyle (5), Colonel William Couper (5), Dr. George Diehl (4), Har-
rington Waddell (3), Mrs. Charles McCulloch (3), Matthew Paxton, Jr. (3),
Richard Fletcher (2), Pat Brady (2), Barbara Crawford (2), Anne Heiner
Knox (2), and Pamela Simpson (2).

In addition, a number of specialists from outside the area spoke to the
Society, including F. N. Boney, Forrest Pogue, Jackson Darst, Lewis
McMurran, and Louis H. Manarin. That the general public might be
better educated in local history, the Society, particularly in the early days,
was able sometimes to have the papers printed in the Rockbridge County
News or the Lexington Gazette.

At the beginning, three general meetings were usually held each year at
8:00 p.m. at Washington and Lee, either in the Student Union, Robinson
Hall, or the McCormick Library. Starting in the summer of 1940, the
annual summer meeting was preferably a picnic at one of the county
churches, the meal being prepared by the ladies of the church. The first
such meeting was held at Falling Spring Church and the popularity of
such an arrangement is attested by the fact that one hundred people
attended. In 1941 the picnic was at New Providence Church and in 1942 at
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Timber Ridge Church. In 1944 the members visited Bethesda Church near
Rockbridge Baths, in 1945 High Bridge Church, in 1946 Bethany Luther-
an, in 1947 Oxford Church, and in 1948 New Monmouth. The trend
continued. It can be said that in addition to a good meal at a low price, the
membership was getting a strong exposure to the county’s Scotch-Irish
roots.

A break with the past occurred in 1951 when the summer picnic was
held on the lawn at Col Alto, one of Lexington’s historic homes. Following
this meeting there was more diversification, with such non-church settings
as the club house of the Rockbridge Women’s Club in Glasgow, Mountain
View School, Hamilton School, the auditorium in VMI’s new Mallory
Hall, Tribrook Country Club, and Effinger schoolhouse. Sometimes, as in
1960 and 1962, there was a seated dinner at the Robert E. Lee Hotel. At
8:00 p.m. on July 24, 1964, the Society assembled at the new George C.
Marshall Research Library for the first time with 125 present. In July 1968
the Society met for a catered dinner at VMI’s Lejeune Hall and in 1969 and
1973 at the Keydet-General Motel. But the churches were not forgotten,
and in 1971, 1972, and 1975 meetings were held in such settings.

The price of dinner at such functions rose steadily from $1.25 in 1949 to
$3.50 in 1974. In July 1975 the picnic was held behind the Sloan House on
Washington Street to familiarize the Society with its newly restored prop-
erties. Also, beginning in the mid-seventies Bessie Nicholas was often hired
to cater the summer picnic.

Until 1950 the January meeting was usually held at 8:00 p.m. in the
Washington and Lee Student Union or the McCormick Library. In 1951
this first meeting of the year was held in the Society’s new home, “The
Castle”, but two years later a precedent was established when the Society
gathered for a dinner meeting at Trinity Methodist Church in Lexington.
This idea was popular and for the next two years that church was the site of
dinner meetings in January. Beginning in 1956 the Robert E. Lee Hotel
was often used for these meetings. The hotel remained the favorite for
fifteen years with an occasional dinner meeting at Trinity Methodist
Church. Then the Society began to diversify for the winter dinner meeting,
using the Keydet-General, Virginia House, and Evans Dining Hall at
Washington and Lee. By 1975 the cost of a roast beef dinner at the last
place had climbed to $4.00, and by 1980 such a dinner was $6.25.

The growing membership of the organization limited sharply the number
of places that could handle a dinner meeting. Also, it became a problem to
get church ladies to cook for such large numbers. Often, in order to get
sufficient space, acoustics suffered. From 1984 to 1988, the winter dinner
meeting was held at Southern Seminary, but the unpredictable weather
had an impact on the attendance.
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Until 1949 the spring and fall meetings were usually held at the Student
Union or McCormick Library. But the April and October meetings in 1949
were convened at “The Castle,” the Society’s new home. This was the
custom until 1965 when an effort was made sometimes to relate the setting
to the subject of the paper in some way, or to show the membership a new
building. Again, arranging sufficient seating was an inhibiting factor.
Lejeune Hall, Mallory Hall, and Preston Library, all at VMI, the Marshall
Library, DuPont Hall, Mary Moody Northen Auditorium, and the Gaines
Hall Rotunda at W&L, the Lexington Presbyterian Church auditorium,
the courthouse, the R. E. Lee Memorial Episcopal Church’s parish hall,
and Southern Seminary are examples of places used for meetings after
1965.

Meetings of the Executive Committee or Board were much simpler to
arrange. Until 1950 the members usually met at 4:00 or 4:30 p.m. at the
home of one of the officers or in a Washington and Lee classroom. For ten
years after 1950, “The Castle” was generally used, although the mezzanine
of the Robert E. Lee Hotel was popular, too. From 1959 to 1973 the
committee members frequently met at the home of the president. In Janu-
ary 1974 the Executive Committee gathered at the renovated Campbell
House, and that practice has continued.

When the Executive Committee met for the first time on October 10,
1939, Hitler had crushed Poland and the United States had proclaimed an
uneasy neutrality. In fact, four days after the committee’s initial meeting,
which was in Dr. Gaines’s office, the Soviet Union presented demands on
Finland that soon led to the Russo-Finnish War. At this first meeting Dr.
Arthur Gerhard of Philadelphia, who had family connections in Lexing-
ton, became the first life member by paying dues of $50.00. The treasurer,
Frank Gilliam, making his first report, said there was $115.00 in the treas-
ury and that there were twenty members in the infant organization. Mrs.
McCulloch, reporting for the Program Committee, recommended that the
quarterly meetings of the Society be set for the last Monday in January,
April, July, and October.

Dr. Gaines, the president, presided at the first quarterly meeting on
October 23 at the Student Union. The sixty people present heard from
Miss Elizabeth Barclay, special projects chairman, “that a committee had
been appointed to consider the cost of restoring the Jordan house to a
suitable condition.” It was his concern for the Jordan House that had
prompted Dr. Leslie Lyle Campbell to write his long letter to the Rock-
bridge County News. In a discussion of possible projects it was suggested
that the Dold House be restored and the town’s historic brick sidewalks be
saved. Dr. Francis Lee Thurman of Buena Vista read the Society’s first
paper. Entitled, “Red House,” it was concerned with the home of John
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McDowell, “the first settler in Rockbridge,” The program committee
served refreshments. At this first meeting, a number of people “brought
antique articles of interest which were displayed on side tables.”3

The Executive Committee was informed in January 1940 that the Socie-
ty’s receipts of $386.00 had been deposited in a savings account and that
plans were being made for a picnic meeting in July at Falling Spring
Church. Reporting for the committee on special projects, Professor John
Graham said “that the Jordan House project seemed impracticable.” He
proposed “looking into the possibilities of getting hold of the Withrow
house or the Dold house.” The Executive Committee decided that the
special projects committee should continue to examine “all three projects.”4

The Society’s intention of collecting historical documents was illustrated
when Dr. Tompkins, historian-librarian, reported a gift from the Misses
Johnstone of the rough draft of a legislative act incorporating Liberty Hall
Academy. Over the years, hardly a meeting passed without a report of the
acquisition of documents and artifacts. Dr. Campbell assured the Society
that the First National Bank “had agreed to store the valuables of the
Society in the vault until their own home is obtained.” So, from the begin-
ning the need for a building to serve as a museum and repository for
documents was felt.

Also, it was announced at the January 1949 meeting that Mrs. Win-
throp Aldrich and Mrs. Sheldon Whitehouse of New York had become life
members. The one hundred dollars thus received showed the value of life
memberships as a potential revenue source, although the $50.00 fee was a
bit beyond the means of most Lexingtonians at that time. For entertain-
ment at this winter meeting “Mr. Harry Philpott gave an enjoyable demon-
stration of the singing of local folk songs.” Dr. Tompkins, perhaps the
county’s premier local history buff at that time, read a paper on “Borden’s
Grant.”?

In April 1940, at the third quarterly meeting, three new members were
added.¢ In those days joining the Society was a rather cumbersome proce-
dure. A prospective member had to be formally invited to join by the
Membership Committee, and if the prospect accepted, he was admitted
after a formal affirmative vote of the membership.

The first summer picnic meeting was at Falling Spring Church in July
1940. Dr. Twyman Williams of Hampden-Sydney College read “an inter-
esting paper” on the early history of the church. The membership had

. Minutes, October 23, 1939.
. Minutes, January 12, 1940.
. Minutes, January 22, 1940.
. Minutes, April 22, 1940.
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grown to 116. Dr. Gaines appointed a nominating committee of six people
with Professor Hale Houston as chairman.”

Meeting at the Student Union in October 1940, the Society elected Mrs.
Charles McCulloch, president, and E. S. Mattingly, treasurer. As was
becoming the custom, refreshments were served after the meeting. As
chairman of the committee on historical landmarks and appliances, Dr.
Campbell reported the acquisition of thirteen items, including papers and a
portrait.?

When the Society met in January 1941, Dr. Gaines, now first vice-
president, presided and “expressed his appreciation of the splendid work
being done by the organization through its committees and by individual
members.” He voiced the desire for more clearly defined aims and pur-
poses. Mrs. McCulloch, the president, read “an interesting paper on the
history of Rockbridge County, its formation from Augusta and Botetourt
counties, and the establishment of Lexington as the county seat. Her paper
gave a vivid picture by quotations from court proceedings and otherwise of
the manner of living among the people of this section during the latter part
of the 18th century.” At the meeting there was again discussion of the Dold
and Withrow houses but no action was taken. The Society’s library was
truly in its infancy, for receipt of a book by Dr. Tompkins doubled its
collection.?

Publications of the proceedings of the Society was first discussed by the
Executive Committee in March 1941. A motion was passed that the com-
mittee recommend to the Society that the proceedings be published. Dr.
Tompkins and Mr. Mattingly were designated a.committee to arrange “for
printing and selling at $1.00 per copy.” At the general meeting the next
month, Mattingly reported “that 200 copies of 108 pages each could be
obtained for $175.00.”10 Though no formal action was taken, the Tompkins-
Mattingly committee began work. Later, Dr. Campbell was added to the
committee as editor.!!

The fact that the Society appealed initially to older people was indicated
when the membership committee reported, when the organization was less
than two years old, that three members had died.

Guests from Augusta County attended the summer picnic meeting at
New Providence Church in 1941. Mr. W. F. Dice of Brownsburg presented
a paper on the church, tracing “the developments of the religious and

7. Minutes, July 22, 1940.

8. Report of Dr. Campbell, October 28, 1940.
9. Minutes, January 27, 1941.

10. Minutes, March 25, April 28, 1941.

11. Minutes, July 15, 1941.

Proceedings X (1980-89) 15



George M. Brooke, Jr.

educational life of this community from its earliest days to the present
time.” A bountiful buffet supper was served on the lawn “by the ladies of
the church.”12

The genesis of the Society’s photograph collection derives from a motion
passed by the Executive Committee in the fall of 1941 “to appoint a com-
mittee, consisting of Dr. Leslie Lyle Campbell, Dr. E. P. Tompkins, and
Miss Mary Barclay, to investigate the question of securing photographs of
landmarks, homes, churches, and other old buildings of historical sig-
nificance.”!3

The debate that surrounded the selection of the title “Proceedings” is
illustrated by the comments when volume I was offered for sale at the fall
meeting two years after the Society was founded. Dr. Campbell, the editor,
“reported that the book is freshly off the press—extremely fresh, as one
hundred copies (half the edition) [were] delivered in this hall only ten
minutes before the meeting opened.” The editor informed the Society that
“first it had been proposed to call it a “Year-Book,” but as two years’
proceedings were contained in its pages the name was illogical. Then
“Biennial Report” was suggested; this [was] correct so far as this particular
number is concerned, and we hope in future to publish one every year, so
that term could not be used under those circumstances. Finally, the term
“Proceedings” seemed to be an apt one, and Proceedings it is.” The book
was sold at the meeting for $1.00 per copy.

Following Senator Miles Poindexter’s “most scholarly and comprehen-
sive paper on Arnolds Valley,” the program committee offered “refresh-
ment such as our grandmothers might have served: fresh apple cider and
gingerbread.”!4

The young Society won a wider audience late in 1941 when the United
Daughters of the Confederacy of Virginia gave it time on Roanoke radio
station WDBJ. Arrangements for the December 27 morning broadcast
were made by Captain Greenlee Letcher and Dr. Tompkins.!5 Charles
McNulty delivered a talk that was published in the Lexington Gazette,
January 1 and 8, 1942. McNulty explained the goals of the Society and its
accomplishments. He closed with a plea for preservation:

The old homes, the old landmarks, the old burying grounds, are falling to

decay, or are being destroyed for modern purposes. Old articles are disappear-
ing; these remnants must be saved.

12. Minutes, July 28, 1941.

13. Minutes, October 8, 1941.
14. Minutes, October 27, 1941.
15. Minutes, January 23, 1942.
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The officers and members of the Rockbridge Historical Society take this
opportunity to ask all who love Virginia and Rockbridge County and Lexing-
ton to help in this effort to recall, keep, and restore.

Look in storage rooms—on old farms—good friends, look in your attics,
cellars, trunks—look for those things that must now be preserved or lost
forever.

The Rockbridge Historical Society finally caught up with the Second
World War. “After a discussion as to what the Society might do in regard
to National Defense,” it was moved and carried in 1942 that $600.00 of the
$650.00 in the treasury be used to purchase war bonds. Furthermore,
Captain Letcher and Colonel Couper were appointed a committee to keep
a record of Rockbridge men involved “in the current war.”16

In its organization the Society had overlooked a detail required by the
constitution: election of trustees. To comply, Stuart Moore, Matthew Pax-
ton, and Earl S. Mattingly were elected in 1942.17

A feature of the 1942 spring meeting in the Student Union was the social
period following adjournment. Refreshments prepared under the supervi-
sion of Mrs. James Davidson consisted of “delicious orange sherbert punch
with ginger ale, and beaten biscuit with ham, the biscuits having been made
by ‘Uncle Bud’ Houston, personally, ham furnished by Mrs. Owen, and all
served by Mrs. Davidson’s assistants.”!8 At this time the minutes of the
quarterly meetings were often published in the local newspapers.

Earle K. Paxton, a Washington and Lee professor, was elected president
of the Society in October 1942. At the meeting where Paxton was elected,
Dr. Tompkins and Dr. Campbell “explained the very interesting exhibits
now in the possession of the Society, by gift or loan.” The speaker, Miss
Grace Buford of Roanoke, read a paper on “Fancy Hill,” “the home of her
grandfather, Dr. J. T. Moorman.”!®

Harold Lauck, the secretary, recorded in December 1942 that President
Paxton appointed a special Project Committee, with Mrs. W. A. Earl of
Brownsburg as chairman, “to work out a plan for marking graves of
Revolutionary soldiers in Rockbridge County.”

Among the new members of the Society at this time were Dr. and Mrs.
George Diehl of Corpus Christi, Texas. In the future the former would
become a pillar of the Society and an authority on Rockbridge history.
Conforming to the formal procedure of that day, the secretary was directed

16. Minutes, January 26, 1942.
17. Ibid.

18. Minutes, April 27, 1942.
19. Minutes, October 26, 1942.
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to write to new members “advising them of their election to membership.”20

Stalwarts in the Society continued to collect documents and artifacts. In
1943 Dr. Tompkins said he had obtained a photostatic copy of the High
Bridge Church session book and a map of Rockbridge County drawn by
Colonel William Gilham in 1860. This indefatigable worker observed that
he “was compiling a card index of all the physicians who had practiced in
Rockbridge County, the list now totalling 125 names.”

Dr. Campbell was equally busy and presented some “account books of
Henry Norgrove, a merchant of Lexington more than 100 years ago.” The
secretary noted that at the quarterly meeting in January “Dr. Campbell
very delightfully described many of the entries which revealed much about
the dress and habits of the older residents.”

Owing to the uncertain conditions caused by the war, Miss Mary Bar-
clay, chairman of the program committee, said she was only planning one
meeting at a time. Colonel Couper’s “highly interesting paper” on the early
history of VMI was published in the Rockbridge County News.?!

The war continued to have an effect. Another $300.00 was invested in
war bonds, bringing the total to $900.00. Colonel Couper, reporting for the
Records Committee, said that more than two thousand names of Rock-
bridge people serving in World War II were on file and that the cards
included all available information on a person’s war service.

Turning to the past, the Society appropriated money “to place a marker
at the grave of Mary Greenlee, the first white woman to set foot on
Rockbridge soil.”22 At a subsequent meeting $200.00 was appropriated for
this purpose. Still later, Dr. Tompkins reported that a large stone had been
selected and that it would be suitably engraved. He estimated the cost at
$40.00.2

The Society continued to grow, Mrs. McCulloch reporting in October
1943 that twenty-two new members had joined in the past year. At this
meeting Dr. W. G. Bean, head of the History Department at Washington
and Lee, read a paper entitled “John Letcher and the Ruffner Pamphlet of
1847.” This was the first paper read by a professional historian and it “was
received with prolonged applause.”?4

Dr. Leslie Lyle Campbell served two one-year terms as president begin-
ning in January 1944. He was a very active president and made many
valuable suggestions. Early in 1944 the Executive Committee wrestled with

20. Minutes, December 14, 1942.

21. Minutes, January 25, 1943.

22. Minutes, April 26, July 26, 1943.

23. Minutes, October 25, 1943; January 31, 1944.
24. Minutes, October 25, 1943.
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two vexing problems. There was more discussion of the purchase of the
Dold House, priced at $12,500, but no action was taken because the
Society only had about $1000.00 and no source of income but dues. Even
when Captain Letcher was quoted a price of $10,000.00, the building
remained out of reach.

On the question of incorporation, which had been hanging fire since
1939, the Society in January 1944 decided not to incorporate at that time
“for reasons given by Mr. Stuart Moore,” the lawyer who had drafted the
constitution.?s Like the lack of funds, the failure to incorporate militated
against the acquisition of property. In 1944 the Chesapeake and Ohio
Railroad offered the Society “land and locks remaining of the old canal on
North River near Lexington.” Colonel Couper “suggested another organi-
zation take over this offer—since the Historical [Society] By-laws as yet
[have] not been incorporated.”

At the same meeting three new members were reported: Carrington C.
Tutwiler, Jr., son of a Charter Member, and Dr. and Mrs. Cole Davis. Dr.
[Colonel] Davis who was the surgeon at VMI would later take an exceed-
ingly active part in the Society and serve as president. An amendment was
added to the by-laws: “Papers read before the Society constitute a part of
the Proceedings of the Society, and may be printed as such.”26

The summer meeting in 1944 at Bethesda Church in Rockbridge Baths
was memorable. The new member, Dr. Cole Davis, who was “a native of
the section, gave an interesting talk on the history and activities of the
section, and origin of names. The many iron furnaces were of note, ship-
ping iron by flat boat from Cedar Grove, then an important post-office
and shipping point.” To add color to the occasion, “Dr. Tompkins appeared
as a teamster of one of the wagons carrying iron from Bath Iron Works
through the Pass to Cedar Grove where the flat-boats and batteaux tied
up.” Some eighty people attended and enjoyed the picnic supper served by
the ladies of the church.?’

When the Second World War ended, Colonel Couper, reporting for the
Committee on Rockbridge Men in Service, noted in his meticulous way
that he had cards for 4,118 individuals. “Of these,” he noted, “93 were dead,
159 wounded, 9 missing in action, and 9 prisoners of war. Among 116
women in the service were 36 WACS and 24 WAVES.”

Record keeping was of vital importance to the Society. At this time Dr.
James Lewis Howe stressed the need for gathering information on family
burying grounds. President Campbell had already begun such a project

25. Minutes, January 11, January 31, 1944,
26. Minutes, April 4, 1944,
27. Minutaes, July 31, 1944.
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and he explained that he had prepared a chart for this purpose and he
intended to appoint various Society members to obtain the information.28

The publication of volume II of the Proceedings was delayed by man-
power shortages during the war, but in 1945 Harold Lauck reported that a
forty page digest of the proceedings would cost approximately $4.00 per
page. The Executive Committee authorized the printing of three hundred
copies. At the quarterly meeting in October Lauck said that volume II
would include a “list of members, by-laws, and digest of minutes for last 4
years.”?9

Over the years the Society tried to inform its members about the signifi-
cance of the iron industry in Rockbridge County. At his last meeting as
president, Dr. Campbell announced an impressive program with seven
speakers:

“Old Charcoal Iron Furnaces” by E. T. Robinson;

“The Old Buena Vista Furnace” by Colonel William Couper;

“The Glenwood Furnace” by Miles Poindexter;

“The Bath Iron Works and Victoria Furnace” by Dr. Cole Davis;

“Furnaces and the McCormick Shop on South River” by Dr. E.
P. Tompkins;

“Presentation of the Block of Iron on Which Was Made the
First McCormick Reaper” by E. K. Paxton,

“Buffalo Forge” by D. E. Brady.

Dr. Campbell was an active and enthusiastic president. Perhaps it is perti-
nent to note that at the conclusion of his term there were 175 members in
the Society, of whom 123 lived in Rockbridge County. Eleven members
had joined during the past year.3? Dr. Campbell was the first president to
serve two terms and would be followed by another strong leader, Dr. Cole
Davis.

Dr. Davis’s first order of business was to appoint ten members to the
Executive Committee. It was obvious that while relying principally on
proven workers, he was trying to bring new blood into leadership posi-
tions. Davis emphasized that according to the by-laws officers were
members ex-officio of the Executive Committee. Committee chairmen
were supposed to appoint the members of their own committees and notify
him and the recording secretary of their selection.3!

28. Minutes, April 23, October 29, 1945.
29. Minutes, October 29, 1945.

30. Ibid.

31. Minutes, January 22, 1946.
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No paper was read at the quarterly meeting held in the Washington and
Lee Library in January 1946, but Dr. Davis invited members to descend to
the basement of the library to see the “Collection of manuscripts, books,
pamphlets, and historical relics owned by the Society, or lent to it by the
owners,” Dr. Campbell “had spent many hours in arranging the materials.”

Once again we see the close tie between the Society and Washington and
Lee. At this time there were 191 members. On this winter day the members
were saddened to learn of the death of a stalwart colleague, Professor Hale
Houston, professor of engineering at Washington and Lee. A happy note
was the announcement of Miss Elizabeth Barclay, chairman of the Recep-
tion Committee, that “the practice of serving refreshments at Society meet-
ings, which had been abandoned for the war period, would be resumed at
the next meeting.”32

No formal paper was read at the April 1946 meeting, but Dr. Howe,
program chairman, stated that the theme for the meeting was “Living
Conditions in the Valley, especially Rockbridge County, a Hundred Years
Ago.” Members talked on a variety of subjects such as occupations of early
Virginia girls, colonial quilts, living expenses in Lexington (1818-60), early
recipes and cooking. A sample of music was rendered and household
articles were displayed.33

When volume II of the Proceedings was published, Harold Lauck,
chairman of the Publications Committee, announced that six copies of
volumes I and II had been hard bound and one copy of each had been
given to VMI, Washington and Lee, the Virginia State Library, the Library
of Congress, and Dr. Campbell. One copy of each had been retained by the
Society. At this time Mrs. McCulloch mentioned a suggestion from Mrs.
Augusta B. Fothergill, a prominent historian and genealogist, that a marker
be placed at the entrance to the Lexington Cemetery listing the names of
“eminent men” buried there.34 The Historical Society did not do this, but
nearly forty years later the local branch of the APVA did place such a
marker.

Time was catching up with the older members of the Society. At the
annual meeting in 1946, the president read a list of seven members who had
died since the last annual meeting. Among those especially active, in addi-
tion to Hale Houston, was state senator Miles Poindexter. Dr. J. J. Murray
led the members in a memorial prayer for the deceased.

The speaker that evening was Dr. Ollinger Crenshaw, of the Washington
and Lee History Department, who later published a history of the univer-

32. Minutes, January 28, 1946.
33. Minutes, April 29, 1946.
34. Minutes, October 15, 1946.
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sity. His topic was “The Attitude Toward Secession in Rockbridge County
Previous to 1862.” Secretary Moffatt in his detailed notes recorded that
“Crenshaw traced the secession movement in Rockbridge from its earliest
stage of pronounced Unionist sentiment to a general acceptance of seces-
sion as an inevitability.”

At this meeting members learned that the Society had become a land-
owner, as the late Hale Houston had left “The Castle” to it in his will. So,
finally, the Society would have a home of its own as Dr. Campbell and
others had wished.

Also, it was announced that Mrs. Fothergill had given the Society many
books. Another matter was discussed: the problem of “preserving records
left on grave-stones in county cemeteries that have fallen into disuse.”
Volunteers were called for. At the conclusion of the meeting, Dr. Davis was
reelected president for a second one-year term.35

The Society enjoyed a healthy growth and in January 1947 thirteen new
members were recommended for membership, of whom ten were compara-
tively young, including Dr. Charles Turner of the Washington and Lee
History Department. Turner would do much for the Society.

A report was made early in 1947 on recordings made from the tomb-
stones in the Lexington Cemetery. The need to make a map of the county
“with important historical locations and points of interest marked, and
photographs printed with the map” was expressed.3¢ But nothing was done
and later the APVA filled the void.

In its early days, with members such as Dr. Tompkins and Colonel
Couper, the Society was conscientious in compiling historical records. In
April 1947 Colonel Couper, reporting on county personnel in service dur-
ing World War II, said that his list showed: dead, 117; wounded, 185;
missing, 6; prisoners of war, 28.37

As in so many organizations without a professional staff, the Rock-
bridge Historical Society found that it had to spend considerable time on
housekeeping details. When the energetic Major C. C. Tutwiler became
membership chairman, he made an effort to adopt a more clear-cut proce-
dure in recruiting members. There was a discussion “as to the best method
of approaching prospective members.” Considering alternatives, the Exec-
utive Committee ruled that the best procedure “would be to elect members
first, and then inform them of their election.”

A related matter concerned the time for paying dues. Major Tutwiler
complained that “members have been dropped from the rolls for non-

35. Minutes, October 28, 1945.
36. Minutes, January 14, 1947.
37. Minutes, April 28, 1947.
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1)

payment of dues when no notice whatever had been sent these members.’
No formal action was taken on this perennial question, but President
Davis said he favored the October meeting being designated the annual
meeting with “dues payable for the ensuing year.” He felt that the treasurer
should collect from members who failed to pay at the October meeting.
This interpretation was later confirmed by the Executive Committee.
Wrestling with the problem a year later, the Executive Committee decided
that dues were payable “immediately upon election.”38

On April 28, 1947, the Society met at the VMI library, the first time at a
VMI facility. After the meeting a tour was made of the VMI museum
which was located in the library. Colonel Couper made pertinent com-
ments during the tour. At this meeting the membership voted a change in
the by-laws. Henceforth committee chairmen would be appointed by the
president rather than being elected by committee members as in the past.
Dr. Davis interpreted the by-laws to mean that the officers elected in
October should “enter immediately on their term of office.” Therefore, it
was incumbent upon the president to appoint committee members “as soon
as possible after the October meeting.”3°

The question of the Society acquiring and restoring buildings was again
introduced at the meeting at Oxford Church in the summer of 1947. “Mr.
Granville Johnston suggested that a committee be appointed to consider
... taking over for preservation and repair the old Hamilton School, now
in a condition rapidly approaching ruin.” The matter was referred to the
Executive Committee for consideration “at its next meeting.”40 The min-
utes do not indicate any subsequent action on this matter at that time.

Ownership of “The Castle” posed a problem for the Executive Commit-
tee. In order for the Society to qualify to hold title to real estate, was it
better to act through a board of trustees or to incorporate? On this subject
President Davis said that he had consulted with two lawyers who were
members of the Society. According to the minutes “it seemed to be the
consensus of [the committee] members present” that to act through the
board of trustees was the better procedure. At this point, Matthew Paxton,
Stuart Moore, and T. B. Shackford were elected trustees.4!

Subsequently, at the annual meeting, it was explained that although in
1942 a board of trustees had been elected, “the necessary technicalities had
not been observed, nor [had] this Board been confirmed by the Court;

38. Minutes, April 15, October 9, 1947; October 11, 1948.
39. Minutes, April 28, 1947.

40. Minutes, July 28, 1947.

41. Minutes, October 9, October 27, 1947.
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hence the need for another election.” The Society unanimously confirmed
the election of Paxton, Moore, and Shackford.

At this meeting in 1947 Dr. Charles Turner read his first paper to the
Society: “Railways of Virginia Prior to the Civil War.” The secretary noted
that “it was to be seen that the speaker had devoted much time to the
preparation of his address, which was thoroughly documented and most
informative.”

Mrs. Russell Robey of Southern Seminary was elected president of the
Society. In this election an effort was made to bring fresh ideas into the
organization. In fact, Miss Ellen Anderson, a Charter Member, wrote Mrs.
Robey: “I was sorry I did not meet you at the Historical Society in late
October. 1 did not realize who you were—then I heard Dr. Davis’ announce-
ment! You are kind to accept the presidency.”42

In thanking the retiring president, Dr. Davis, for giving her a list of the
officers and committees during the past year, Mrs. Robey wrote, it “will
help to fill in some of the blank places in my information about the
Society’s affairs. It seems incredible to me that I should be the head of
something about which I know so little.”43

Mrs. Robey’s efficiency and persuasive powers were immediately appar-
ent as she began to form her committees. Writing to Colonel Couper that
she hoped he would continue as chairman of the Committee on Historical
records, she said the officers “all agreed that it would be a calamity if you
would not serve again.” The harassed colonel, the VMI business executive,
replied: “I definitely cannot serve again as chairman, because of conditions
here. I can’t take on anything more.” He recommended Dr. Tompkins and
protested, “I am definitely not a Rockbridge person.” But Mrs. Robey
would not be outmaneuvered. In the margin of the letter she wrote: “Tele-
phoned him—and he reconsidered. ‘Yes.”4

At her first general meeting as president, the minutes record, “Mrs.
Robey extended an invitation to the Society to have its April meeting at
the Southern Seminary, with the college acting as hosts.” To widen the net,
she included on the membership committee people from Glasgow, Goshen,
Fairfield, Natural Bridge, Buena Vista, Kerrs Creek, and Lexington. The
move was effective, because in April the membership chairman proposed
fourteen names for membership, including nine from Buena Vista.

42. Minutes, October 27, 1947; Ellen Anderson to Mrs. Robey, January 13, 1948,
RHS Archives, Washington and Lee University.

43. Robey to Dr. Davis, October 31, 1947, RHS Archives.

44. Robey to Couper, January 7, 1948; Couper to Robey, January 14, 1948, RHS
Archives.

24 Rockbridge Historical Society



First Fifty Years of RHS

Warming to her task, Mrs. Robey asked the secretary to examine the
minutes of past meetings and note any unfinished business.45 At her first
quarterly meeting, the Society voted to place a marker at the spot on the
Washington and Lee campus where General Lee’s horse Traveller was
buried, a project which Captain Greenlee Letcher had brought to the
attention of the Society some time ago. By coincidence, one of the seven
new members elected at this meeting was General J. S. Letcher, Greenlee’s
son, who would perform valuable service as an officer and trustee.

Mrs. Robey was conscientious in her duties, attempting to answer per-
sonally inquiries directed to the Society and using this as a way to enlarge
the membership. To a man in Waynesboro she wrote: “I had to make
several inquiries before I could get the information you requested. Big
House Mountain is 3,612 feet high and Little House Mountain is 3,410
feet.” She urged him to attend some meetings of the Society.46

A pressing matter for the Society at this time was the disposition of “The
Castle.” Dr. Tompkins and others favored “the use of the house as a
repository for books, papers, and other items owned by the society.” The
matter was referred to the Executive Committee.4” Interest continued as
Dr. Campbell asked permission from the trustees “to remodel at my
expense, the lower floor of ‘The Castle.”” He explained that his purpose
was “to make it possible for the Society to hold its regular meetings there,
and to provide a place where may be put the historic material . . . now
stored in the Washington & Lee University Library.” He added that the
building would “provide a place for putting a number of articles of historic
interest, that I wish to turn over to the Society.” He felt that the upper floor
“could still be rented.”8

At the next meeting of the Executive Committee, Mrs. McCulloch
presented a resolution to accept “The Castle” from the estate of the late
Professor Hale Houston. The resolution was passed unanimously and a
copy was sent to Dr. Campbell. The resolution noted that “the late Hale
Houston belonged to a family which has been prominent in Rockbridge
County since the days of the earliest settlements in this region and which
has furnished distinguished leadership not only in Virginia but throughout
the nation.” After discussing Dr. Campbell’s offer to remodel “The Castle,”
a committee was appointed to confer with him. Subsequently, Dr. Camp-
bell said he would “confer with a competent architect.” Decisive action was

45. Minutes, January 12, April 12, 1948.

46. Robey to H.M.H. Potter (copy), RHS Archives.

47. Minutes, January 26, 1948.

48. Campbell to Mattingly, February 16, 1948, RHS Archives.
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finally taken in July when the Executive Committee voted “that Dr.
Campbell’s plan for making the building more readily usable by the
Society be accepted in toto, that Mr. Shackford and Dr. Davis be con-
tinued as a committee with full power to act, in conjunction with Dr.
Campbell, in carrying out the proposed plan.”4

A report at the spring meeting at Southern Seminary showed the
Society was continuing to grow. Membership totalled two hundred and the
treasury claimed $1,000 in government bonds, $813.73 in a savings account,
and $266.12 in a checking account. Dr. Tompkins announced many gifts to
the Society. A motion by Dr. Davis “that valuable parchment and fragile
paper materials owned by the Society be framed in glass” was carried. The
program, arranged by Mrs. Robey and Dr. Davis, was musical in nature. A
Washington and Lee quartet sang songs and Mrs. Al Tucker played “sev-
eral piano selections embodying classical and folk music.” Southern Semi-
nary students performed the Virginia Reel and a series of folk dances. The
program concluded with square dancing for the guests and refreshments.50

When the Society neared its tenth birthday in October 1948, Mrs.
Robey suggested that the event “be celebrated in some appropriate way.”
There is no evidence that anything was done.

Time was taking its toll. Setting the number of Charter Members at 63,
Mrs. McCulloch reported that seventeen had died and six had resigned.
Stuart Moore, Colonel Couper, and Mrs. McCulloch were appointed to a
committee to revise those sections of the by-laws “dealing with the length
of terms of office.” The committee suggested that the terms for officers be
two years instead of one. The only restriction on reelection was that the
president should not serve more than two successive terms.

The Society also appointed a committee of overseers to serve for an
indefinite time that would handle “all matters pertaining to the arrange-
ment, care, and use of ‘The Castle.”” Harrington Waddell, Dr. Tompkins,
Dr. Campbell, and Mrs. McCulloch were appointed to this committee. The
trustees were members ex officio.

In recognition of Dr. Campbell’s exceptional service to the Society, he
was elected a life member. Dr. Tompkins, who had replaced Harold Lauck
as chairman of the Publications Committee, described plans for volume I11
of the Proceedings. As in the past, details, such as binding and cost of
printing, were left to the Publications Committee.

At the October meeting Mrs. Robey was reelected president; Moffatt,
recording secretary; Tutwiler, treasurer; and Tompkins, librarian.5!

49. Minutes, April 12, 26, July 15, 1948.
50. Minutes, April 26, 1948.
51. Minutes, October 25, 1948; January 18, 1949.
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When the work on “The Castle” was nearing completion, Dr. Campbell
notified Mrs. Robey that “the historical material has been brought over
from the University Library and placed in the Historical Room of the
‘Castle.”” The second floor was rented.>2

An insight into how different some things were forty years ago when the
Society had its first meeting in “The Castle” is revealed by a letter Mrs.
Robey wrote to the treasurer: “I would like to present a bill to the Histori-
cal Society for the following items: 360 penny post cards (enough for two
meetings) - $3.60, six hours of secretarial assistance at whatever rate you
are accustomed to pay your assistant when she sends out bills.” Major
Tutwiler paid Mrs. Robey $4.50 for the secretarial assistance, at the rate of
75¢ per hour. The cards were used to inform the members of meetings.53

The first meeting of the Society at “The Castle,” held on April 25, 1949,
was a memorable one. Harrington Waddell opened the meeting with
prayer. Then Dr. Campbell read “a most interesting paper on the history of
‘The Castle.”” He explained that the building “is located near the site of one
of the two main springs, now covered over by streets and roadways, in the
center of town.” “The Castle,” probably the oldest building in Lexington,
was first used for lawyers’ offices. Campbell said that the building came
into Professor Houston’s possession in 1920 and was rented to students
and others. Campbell had a personal knowledge of the building as he had
been Hale Houston’s brother-in-law.

Commenting on the recent restoration of “The Castle,” the speaker said
W. M. Agnor, the carpenter who did the work, had been “competent and
skillful.” On behalf of the Society, Colonel Couper presented Dr. Campbell
with an inscribed memorial.

Another highlight of the meeting came when Dr. Tompkins distributed
copies of volume III of the Proceedings fresh from the printer. Also,
artifacts owned by the Society were displayed for the edification of the
members.54

As Mrs. Robey’s second term approached its end, it is appropriate to
observe that she was an excellent president who wrote many letters, offered
sound advice, and attended to countless details. Perhaps it all seemed
worthwhile when Dr. Tompkins wrote: “I take this opportunity to again
express my admiration for your very great ability as a presiding officer, for
you have administered the office with marked efficiency, grace, and charm,
... I know that this appraisement of your term of office is shared by many,

52. Campbell to Robey, April 18, 1945, RHS Archives.
53. Robey to Tutwiler, April 21, 1949, RHS Archives.
54. Minutes, April 25, 1949.
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and I really believe I may say is an unanimous opinion.”5

There was one final piece of business involving “The Castle” before Mrs.
Robey stepped down. Dr. Campbell had offered the Society “$1,000 for the
maintenance and upkeep of ‘The Castle,” with the condition attached that
the Society quarters on the lower floor of the building should never be used
for any other purpose than as a Society meeting place and as a depository
for Society collections (and that, if this condition is violated, the gift should
revert to the donor or his estate).” The offer was accepted by unanimous
vote. The Rev. George W. Diehl was elected president for the two-year
term provided for by the change in the by-laws. Dr. Moffatt, the able
recording secretary, was reelected as was the indefatigable Dr. Tompkins,
the librarian. In her final remarks as president, Mrs. Robey spoke of the
need to recruit more young members.56

The theme of enlisting young members was repeated by Dr. Diehl at his
first meeting as president. Expanding on the subject, he talked of “the
necessity of keeping alive an interest in local history among the rising
generation,” and he suggested junior memberships, the organization of
historical society groups in the schools, and prizes for essays to stimulate
interest. A committee was appointed to study the matter. Like his prede-
cessor, he urged the secretary to examine the minutes for unfinished
business.5’

“The Castle” confronted the new president with one of his first prob-
lems. The Society appointed a part-time custodian to catalogue the relics,
manuscripts, and books in its collection, so that they could be made avail-
able to the public. The Society also agreed to the establishment of an
“upkeep fund” for the rooms and grounds of “The Castle” to be defrayed
by income from Dr. Campbell’s gift. Mr. Shackford was elected to admin-
ister the upkeep fund for the first year. At his first meeting as president, Dr.
Diehl, a dedicated local historian, was the speaker and read a paper
entitled, “The Awakening Comes to Rockbridge—1789.”58

In July, as a result of the secretary’s search of the minutes, the Executive
Committee considered items of unfinished business dating back to 1947.
Referring to grave recordings in Rockbridge cemeteries, the committee
urged those so engaged to complete the work “as soon as possible.” Dr.
Davis and Dr. Tompkins were asked to determine the cost of printing a
book on the history of Rockbridge County that Dr. Tompkins had written.
County families were asked to complete their family genealogies. The

55. Tompkins to Robey, August 13, 1949, RHS Archives.
56. Minutes, October 17, 1949.
57. Minutes, January 21, 1950.
58. Minutes, January 30, 1950.
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effort to obtain copies of all books written by Rockbridge authors was to
be continued.

The preservation of the Hamilton Schoolhouse was discussed. Dr. Diehl
informed the Executive Committee that it was “the last log field-school in
the county, [and] that it was attended by many who became outstanding
citizens of the County and the State.” Dr. Diehl and E. A. Mattingly were
directed “to confer with the County Court to devise ways and means for
the preservation of this historic landmark.”

In another matter the Society was offered an acre of land containing
“two old brick stacks of Lucy Selina Furnace,” but declined the gift
because the land was not in Rockbridge County.*®

At the summer meeting in Goshen in 1950, Dr. Tompkins, giving a
report on Rockbridge County authors, said he had compiled a list of
sixty-eight. At this time the Society voted to print “a memorial booklet
listing World War II casualties from Rockbridge County.” Dr. Tompkins
said he had gathered the records of sixty-two county men killed in the
conflict, but the records of twenty others “were unavailable.” At this meet-
ing Mrs. Henry Agnew of Lafayette, Alabama, gave “an interesting and
scholarly address on the history of the Jordan family, so long prominent in
Rockbridge County and Virginia.”60

Under the by-laws it was the president’s duty to appoint members of all
the committees and the nominating committee. As Dr. Diehl prepared for
his second year in office he found it difficult to find people who would
serve and he informed the Executive Committee “that many who had been
asked to serve declined.” But he assured his listeners that he would announce
the membership of the committees at the fall meeting of the Society.

A matter close to Dr. Diehl’s heart was, as he informed the Society in
October of 1950, the preparation of abstracts of the records and minutes of
Rockbridge County churches for inclusion in a volume to be kept in the
Society’s library. He said he was doing this at Oxford Church where he was
the pastor. The matter was discussed briefly but no action was taken.

At this meeting Dr. Tompkins read a paper on “Interesting Features of
Rockbridge Wills,” in which he “called attention to the definitely religious
atmosphere surrounding many of the older wills” and observed “that some
wills made by husbands left to the wife property that was already hers.”
This, he said, was “a revelation of the dominance of the male and the
submergence of the female in the early days of our history.”¢!

59. Minutes, July 9, 1950.
60. Minutes, July 14, 1950.
61. Minutes, October 10, 1950.
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At its first meeting in 1951 the Executive Committee learned from
Colonel Tutwiler, the treasurer, that application blanks for new members
had been prepared. Miss Ellen Anderson, who had been directed to place a
bronze marker with an appropriate inscription at the grave of artist Wil-
liam D. Washington in the Lexington Cemetery, reported that it would
cost $55.00 to place such a marker. She was authorized to proceed. But she
“suffered very great disappointment” when she learned that because of the
Korean War “the U.S. Government had clamped down firmly on the use of
bronze except for military purposes.” So the matter was stalled. But six
months later the Society was informed that the marker had been obtained
and would soon be in place.62

Dr. Allen Moger, a Washington and Lee history professor who would
later serve as president of the Society with distinction, read his first paper
to it in April 1951. Dr. Moffatt described it as “a most interesting and
informative paper on boom times in Virginia” with particular attention to
The Valley of Virginia. Moger said that “Buena Vista took its name from
‘Old Buena Vista,’ an iron furnace owned by the Jordan family only a few
miles away. . . . The Buena Vista Company was chartered by the state
legislature in 1887. . . . The bottom dropped out of the Buena Vista boom
in 1893.”

At the meeting, Dr. Campbell gave the Society “a number of pictures of
people and places.”63® A matter of concern was that the County Board of
Supervisors had removed the portraits from the portrait gallery in the
county court house and stored them in the attic. President Diehl suggested
to the Executive Committee that the Society “might be made custodian of
the portraits, and later make arrangements for their proper preservation
and display.” But the only action the Society took at that time was to ask
members “to approach individual supervisors for explanations of what
looks to us like a breach of faith with donors of these portraits.” The
matter was resolved three months later when Dr. Diehl reported that the
portraits had been removed from the attic and rehung “in the court room
and other conspicuous places in the building.”64

At the last meeting of 1951, Dr. Marshall Fishwick, assistant professor
of American Studies at Washington and Lee, spoke on Michael Miley who
left fifteen thousand photographic glass plates and was a pioneer developer
of color photography, of which process Fishwick “gave a detailed de-
scription.”

62. Minutes, October 16, 1950; February 5, April 16, October 29, 1951.
63. Minutes, April 23, 1951.
64. Minutes, July 16, 23, October 19, 1951.
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This was Dr. Diehl’s last meeting as president and he took the occasion
to commend Colonel C. C. Tutwiler, treasurer, “for his accuracy and effi-
ciency.” Cash on hand amounted to $1,017.02 and there was $3,050.00 in
war bonds. Membership appears to have dropped a little with 137 paid-up
members, 22 members one year overdue, and 26 members two years
overdue. The last group was dropped according to the by-laws. The shrink-
age of membership seems to have been more the result of careful screening
of dues payments than any real loss.

The nominating committee made its report and Mrs. J. P. (Louise)
Alexander of Fairfield was elected president and Dr. Charles Turner,
recording secretary.65

At the first meeting of the Executive Committee during Mrs. Alex-
ander’s presidency, twelve members assembled at her historic home near
Fairfield. The perennial question of admitting new members was discussed
and the committee decided that it was unnecessary to have the whole
Society vote on the admission of new members. Also, the question of
insuring the Society’s books, documents, and relics was considered. Al-
though “no adequate knowledge of their value had been ascertained,” it
was decided that a $4,000 blanket policy should be purchased. This matter
was ably handed by Mr. Shackford. A committee consisting of Fishwick,
Turner, and Davis was appointed to catalogue the material. Dr. Turner
asked for $300 to provide shelving and “to fix up the sun porch to hold the
relics and exhibition pieces.” The request was granted.6¢

Programs relating to Rockbridge County and its famous sons were
popular. Mrs. McCulloch read a paper on “The Old Blue Hotel” of Lex-
ington. Her narrative “evoked smiles and many chuckles, especially as to
prices in that early day, the broadest smiles and the heartiest chuckles when
the prices of liquid refreshments were mentioned.”¢’

At the 1952 summer meeting at the Rockbridge Baths Methodist Church,
Dr. Berryman H. McCoy of Harrisburg, Pennsylvania, gave a talk on
Bishop William Taylor “who was born on the side of Hogback Mountain.”
McCoy described Taylor’s “various activities as a preacher, missionary,
and bishop of the Methodist Church in many parts of the world including
America, England, Australia, and Africa.” This talk was the result of a
letter from McCoy to Mrs. J. B. Wood of Goshen concerning the work of
Bishop Taylor. Alert to program possibilities, Mrs. Wood in her response
suggested that he read a paper to the Society and he agreed to do so. Mrs.

65. Minutes, October 29, 1951.
66. Minutes, January 18, April 28, July 16, 1952.
67. Minutes, January 28, 1952.
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McCulloch suggested that a marker be placed near Bishop Taylor’s birth-
place, but Mrs. Alexander replied that the State Conservation Commission
had indicated that it was “unable to erect historical markers at this time.”68

In the early 1950s important steps were taken regarding publications. As
a matter of policy, Colonel Couper, who had a keen interest in accumulat-
ing and preserving facts, moved that when publishing the Proceedings
complete papers be published and not just abstracts. The motion carried.

An effort was made to publish Dr. Tompkins’s manuscript on the
“Annals of Rockbridge,” as Dr. Tompkins had recently died. Marshall
Fishwick was assigned “the job of editing the work, re-writing certain
incomplete portions, and making such additions from Dr. Tompkins’ notes
and sketches that seem appropriate.” When the job was done, Fishwick
submitted the draft under the title, Rockbridge County, an Informal His-
tory, to three publishers and received a bid of $1,800 for two thousand
copies which was accepted. It was sold at a price of $2.00 per copy.®

Also, it was time to publish volume IV of the Proceedings. Fishwick and
Turner were entrusted with this responsibility. They made arrangements to
publish five hundred copies for $425, and by November 1954 the volume
was ready for sale at $1.50 per copy.”

Dr. Tompkins’s death was a blow, as he had been a sparkplug of the
Society since its earliest days. Dr. Diehl and Mrs. McCulloch were asked
to prepare a proper memorial resolution, and Earle Paxton was appointed
to fill Dr. Tompkins’s unexpired term as librarian.”!

By 1953 the number of letters requesting information on genealogical
matters had grown significantly, and Miss Ellen Anderson, who was on the
Genealogical Committee and was attempting to answer them, asked for
help. In time, Houston Barclay was made co-chairman of the Genealogical
Committee and the Society authorized the payment of $1.00 an hour to
students hired to look up information. Also, as the collections at the library
in “The Castle” continued to grow, volunteers were asked to keep the
library open once or twice a week. In May 1953 the librarian reported “the
completion of the cataloguing of the books under the able direction of
Miss Virginia Pomfrey and Miss Evelyn Nelson,” and that in June he
would keep the library open several hours a week.”? The Society had been

68. Minutes, January 28, July 28, 1952; W. Edwin Hemphill to Mrs. Penick West,
July 13, 1952, RHS Archives.

69. Minutes [May], October 27, 1952; Marshall Fishwick to Rockbridge Histori-
cal Society, July 23, 1942, RHS Archives.

70. Minutes, July 25, November 8, 1954.

71. Minutes, July 16, 28, 1952.

72. Minutes, January 15, 26, May 4, October 19, 1953.
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renting the upstairs of “The Castle,” but as activities multiplied, additional
space was needed and the tenant was asked to vacate.

At the end of the year Mrs. Alexander was reelected for a second
two-year term as president. Colonel Tutwiler was reelected treasurer and
Earle Paxton, librarian. Marshall Fishwick was elected recording sec-
retary.”3

At the spring meeting in 1954, held at the Student Union, Marshall
Fishwick displayed in writing the minutes his ability to make rather drab
events exciting. He recorded that more than seventy-five members and
guests “took an imaginary multi-colored journey around Rockbridge
County, and enjoyed once more its scenic and historic beauty through the
unerring eye of a camera.” He described Lester Schnare’s program as a
“kodachrome safari.” “Nothing remained after this aesthetic feast,” he
wrote, “but the fulfillment of a more physical urge, which the Social Com-
mittee met admirably with punch and cakes.”’*

For many months Mrs. McCulloch struggled to stimulate interest in
local history in the schools by offering prizes. In July 1954 she reported
happily the completion of the first essay contest, commenting “that some
17 students had presented some very acceptable historical works.” The
essays written by the school children were to be preserved in the Society’s
archives. Clinton Anderson, the first prize winner, wrote a letter of appre-
ciation to the president for the $25 he was awarded for his paper on “Early
Schools in the Buffalo Valley.” The Executive Committee voted to extend
the essay contest for another year with $60 in prizes. In another effort to
elicit the interest of the young, the committee endorsed the idea of encour-
aging school children in the town and county to visit the new exhibit
upstairs at “The Castle.”’5

With improvements “The Castle” seemed to take on new life in 1954,
Marshall Fishwick noting that the building “was resplendent with a new
sign hung during the summer and a general re-arranging of our facilities
and library.” The Executive Committee “was well pleased” with a tour of
the upstairs. When the Society met in November ““The Castle’ was full to
overflowing,” and Mrs. Alexander in praising the new arrangement and
displays exclaimed, according to the secretary, “We’re beginning to look
like a museum now!”

It could be hoped that the grounds would soon be as attractive as the
building because the Blue Ridge Garden Club had offered to restore them.

73. Minutes, January 15, May 4, October 26, 1953.

74. Minutes, April 26, 1954.

75. Minutes, July 8, 25, 26, 1954; Clinton Anderson to Mrs. J. P. Alexander; June
11, 1954, RHS Archives.
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Of course the offer was “gratefully accepted.” Miss Mary Monroe Penick
explained later that the Garden Club would “refurbish” the garden if the
Society “agreed to furnish $25 per year to maintain it.” This stipulation was
approved promptly.’¢ '

The year was also a good one for membership. In July Mrs. Isola
Paxton, membership chairman, was commended for her diligence and she
certainly deserved the honor. In April she had reported nine new members
and in July, twenty-eight.”’

The flavor of the first meeting of the Executive Committee in 1955 was
captured by the secretary’s facile pen: We “met in a somewhat chilly Cas-
tle. . . . There was speculation as to the extent of the gas bill—but no
solution.” He then recorded that “Mary Moore’s cradle is upstairs—all six
feet of it.”

Describing the quarterly meeting of the Society at the Methodist Church,
he exclaimed that “there was turkey in the kitchen and anticipation in the
members. . . . Soon the turkey . . . was on the table and the Methodist
ladies had won still another star in their crown.” At this meeting Mrs.
Paxton announced thirty-six new members had been added in the past
year.

“Jay Johns of ‘Ashlawn’ spoke with contagious enthusiasm about the
Stonewall Jackson Memorial. . . . ‘We’re trying to be part and parcel of
your community,”” he began. Johns explained “how the Memorial had
begun as a beautiful idea with no money.” “We must stop the tourist and
make a better American of him!” he asserted. He suggested that members
“ransack their attics” to add to the “27 pieces of furniture and 50 Jackson
letters” in the Memorial’s possession.” This was the genesis of the Jackson
House of today, with which the Society became closely associated.

Meanwhile, “The Castle” was beginning to play a central role in the
Society’s life. In the spring of 1955 some $550 was spent in painting and
repairing the building. At an open house for the public, sixty visitors
registered.”

The fame of the Society began to reach beyond the borders of Rock-
bridge County. Notified that the American Association for State and Local
History would hold its annual meeting in Williamsburg, the Society decided
to participate. Colonel Couper, praising the Society’s work in arousing
interest among young people, suggested that Mrs. McCulloch send some of
the school essays written for her committee to be exhibited. Later, report-

76. Minutes, July 25, November 8, 1954.
77. Minutes, April 12, July 25, 26, 1954.
78. Minutes, January 17, 31, 1955.

79. Minutes, April 25, July 25, 1955.
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ing on the meeting, President Louise Alexander noted that Leon Johen-
ning had donated a large sign that attracted people to the RHS exhibit.
“There was no other display from a local society that compared with ours,”
she boasted. She observed further that “our high school essay contest was
particularly commended.”80
At her last meeting as president, Mrs. Alexander praised many people.
Reports detailed what had been done:
Mr. Earl[e] Paxton, librarian, told of gifts ranging from a humble sausage
grinder to a complete staircase. He told of new books which reaffirmed our
heritage. Miss Barclay urged members to “Please get up in the attic before
you get to the point where you can’t get up.” Mrs. P. L. Paxton reported 46
new members since January 1954, and noted in the report the death of 4
others. . . . Dr. Turner reported that the library has almost doubled in two
years, that our documents have been properly catalogued, and that the whole
building has been renovated.

In retiring, Mrs. Alexander could take satisfaction in a job well done.

The nominating committee named Colonel William Couper, president;
Marshall Fishwick, recording secretary; Miss Lula Dunlap, treasurer; and
Charles Turner, librarian. The slate was elected.

For the program Marshall Fishwick spoke on “The Magnificent Valley.”
His paper was, he wrote, a general summary and not a scholarly mono-
graph, because “no one would dare tackle specific points of Valley history
while a man of Couper’s knowledge and experience sat idly by.”8!

During his presidency, Colonel William Couper, the business executive
at VMI who wore many other hats, gave an extraordinary amount of time
to answering personally the steady stream of historical and genealogical
questions that flowed in. He expressed a particular interest in reactivating
the committee on markers. Like some other committees created in the early
days, this one seems to have virtually disappeared. Earle Paxton, chairman
of the committee, a Charter Member, and former president, said that “he
knew of no markers that had been put up by the Society.” He explained
that the marker to “Big Foot” Wallace had been erected by “admirers.” A
year later, however, Paxton reported the placing of a marker at the
“Robert E. Lee, Thomas J. Jackson, Margaret Junkin Preston Home.”$2

In the spring of 1957 “The Castle” was open during Garden Week and
Colonel Couper reported that he and Dr. Davis would “man it.”83

A matter close to Colonel Couper’s heart was the publication of histori-
cal papers. At his last meeting of the Executive Committee he urged again

80. Minutes, July 25, September 14, 1955.
81. Minutes, October 31, 1955.

82. Minutes, April 30, 1956; April 30, 1957.
83. Minutes, April 22, 1957.
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that the Society “attempt to print all past speeches given to the Society.”84
At this meeting, in October 1957, Dr. Charles Turner was elected president,
Chester Goolrick, recording secretary; Miss Lula Dunlap, treasurer; and
Miss Mary Galt, librarian.

The value of preserving and using documents was, appropriately, made
clear by the guest speaker, Dr. W. Edwin Hemphill, at Colonel Couper’s
final meeting as president. Hemphill, the editor of Virginia Cavalcade and
the new eleventh-grade textbook on Virginia history, spoke on “Records of
Rockbridge in Richmond.” “There were,” he said, “thousands of items,
many of primary importance . . . available in the State archives.” “Those
who write about Rockbridge County,” he added, “can ill afford to bypass
the basic sources in our state’s official archives.”85

At the winter meeting at the Robert E. Lee Hotel in January 1958, there
were sixty members present. The secretary recorded that “the Society
enjoyed a delicious meal at tables on which flowers were colorfully arranged
in globes which had their own historical significance, having once been
used as gas globes for the original Buena Vista lighting system.” The new
president, Charles Turner, enumerated some of his goals, including a pro-
gram to be devoted to the music of the region, an historical fashion show, a
program on the ghosts of the county, the publishing of the Proceedings, the
development of the gardens at “The Castle,” and expansion of the mem-
bership.8¢ Only a few of these goals were fully achieved, but others were put
in motion.

A highlight of the year was the program of music written by John
Graham (1895-1947) who had been an active member of the Society. The
founder of the Department of Fine Arts at Washington and Lee, he had
directed the Glee Club for seventeen years. The program was a great
success. .

A sad note came with the death of Dr. Cole Davis who had died while
traveling in a remote part of Venezuela. A former president, he was des-
cribed as an “enthusiastic, efficient and dedicated member.” Colonel Couper
prepared a fitting tribute.

For enlisting new members, 1958 was a good year. At the July meeting
Mrs. Paxton presented fifteen members, including two from Buena Vista
and one from Goshen. Among the recruits were three who would contrib-
ute much to the Society: Richard Fletcher, Bishop Lloyd Craighill, and
Mrs. S. M. (Della) Heflin.

84. Minutes, October 22, 1957.
85. Minutes, October 28, 1957.
86. Minutes, January 23, 1958.
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During the year the Society had good reason to thank D. E. Brady for
the “effective work” he had done on the grounds of “The Castle.”87

Charles Turner’s second year as president was memorable because an
arrangement was made for the proper care of the garden, “The Castle” was
opened to the public, and a plaque was dedicated to Archibald Alexander.
With reference to the garden, the County Council of Garden Clubs “pres-
ented detailed plans for the proposed planting and restoration work.” The
Society agreed to maintain it. “The Castle” was opened for two days in the
spring with the hope that “school children would take advantage of this.”
To stimulate interest “the history and civic classes of the grade and high
schools” were specifically invited. Later, it was reported that the “Open
House” was well attended “by nearly a hundred visitors,” but no reference
was made to school children. Also, the records at “The Castle” were “used
frequently for research by historians.”

The feature of the summer meeting at Mountain View School was the
unveiling of the stone marker placed near Archibald Alexander’s birth-
place on W. H. Chittum’s property where Irish Creek joins South River.
The address was delivered by Dr. Goodridge Wilson, a Presbyterian minis-
ter from Bristol who was “an authority on Southwest Virginia.” The
audience was told that Alexander became president of Hampden-Sydney
College at the age of twenty-five. Later he became a professor of theology
at Princeton and founded Princeton Theological Seminary. This was the
fourth marker placed by the Society, the others being to Mary Greenlee,
William Washington, and Margaret Junkin Preston.s8

In 1959 the secretary, Louise Alexander, began to use the term “Board”
when referring to the Executive Committee, and this term would be used
more and more, eventually replacing the earlier terminology altogether.

By the end of its second decade there was a feeling that new blood was
needed in the Society. In any event, the nominating committee was asked
“to select a slate of completely new officers, it being the feeling of the
committee that the widest possible rotation of officers insures the highest
possible interest among the Society’s members.” Mrs. Alexander was the
chairman of the nominating committee. Yet, the slate offered had few new
names. Marshall Fishwick and Earle Paxton were named vice-presidents;
Mrs. Alexander remained recording secretary; and Mrs. Lula Dunlap,
treasurer. Colonel George Brooke, who had previously not been active,
was, however, nominated as president. The son of two Charter Members,
he was a VMI history professor and the first Institute faculty member to be
named president. The slate was accepted.

87. Minutes, April 21, 28, July 25, October 13, 1958.
88. Minutes, January 12, April 25, July 10, 27, 1959.
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At the first meeting in 1960, which marked the twentieth anniversary of
the Society, Dr. Turner, the outgoing president, was thanked for his
“splendid and untiring work.”89 .

Tried and trusted hands were appointed or reappointed to head commit-
tees by the new president, such as Earle Paxton, historical markers; Colonel
Couper, publications; Mrs. Isola Paxton, membership; and Charles Turner,
program. The base was broadened a little, however, by bringing in some of
the junior members of the VMI History Department. Dr. James Leitch
Wright, for example, was appointed assistant librarian to assist Turner in
“cataloging and care of the documents and artifacts.”

At the first meeting in 1960, Dr. Turner outlined the programs planned.
There was some discussion about the cost of dinner at the winter meeting
which in these years was arranged usually at the Robert E. Lee Hotel. The
Executive Committee set the price at $2.00. At this meeting, attended by
eighty-three members and guests, Dr. Ollinger Crenshaw read a paper on
Dr. Milton Humphries, “emphasizing to the delight of his audience, the
quirks and foibles of a man who was one of the great scholars of his day.”
To keep the membership informed, Colonel Brooke asked the secretary to
read the minutes of the last Executive Committee meeting.%

As president, Dr.Turner had hoped to publish volume V of the Proceed-
ings, but there was too much else going on. In 1960, however,the Executive
Committee accepted the motion to endorse the publication of the “proceed-
ings since 1954, editor to be chosen by the Executive Board, publication
costs to be submitted by the fall meeting.” At that meeting Dr. Turner, who
had been appointed editor, complained that he was having trouble collect-
ing some of the papers read. This problem illustrated the need of publish-
ing the Proceedings frequently, making sure the speakers turned over
copies of their papers to the secretary promptly. Turner explained the
policy on publication. It was: “to publish whole papers except in the case of
those already in print,” in which case excerpts would be included.’!

Senator A. Willis Robertson, a Lexington resident, showed interest in
the Society. He was introduced at the summer meeting in 1960 as a distin-
guished guest. Asked to make a few remarks, he commended the Society’s
“aims and efforts.” Impressed by Mrs. Gordon Heiner’s speech on Dr.
Ephraim McDowell and his patient, Jane Todd, the senator said he wanted
to print the speech in the Congressional Record. Doubtless he was charmed

89. Minutes, October 14, 27,.1959.
90. Minutes, January 11, 26, 1960.
91. Minutes, January 26, April 22, July 12, October 17, 1960.
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by the “beautiful display of roses” from the garden of his neighbor, Mrs.
William O. Hay, who had helped make arrangements for the dinner.

At the final meeting of the year in 1960 the attendance was good “in
spite of the heavy downpour of rain.” Dr. Turner, putting on his librarian’s
hat, said that the library space in “The Castle” had been enlarged and
approximately one hundred books had been acquired during the year and
catalogued. An interesting group of old school books given to the Society
by Dr. Campbell was on display.

As a herald of the approaching Civil War Centennial, the Rockbridge
County Centennial Committee asked the Society if it “would be interested
in staging a ceremony at the Court House to commemorate the point at
which the first local troops departed.” The plan called for the placing of “a
suitable marker.” The Society accepted the challenge and Brooke appointed
a committee under Dr. James Connor of the VMI history department “to
work and plan.”

On this rainy October night Mrs. McCulloch spoke of the death of Miss
Elizabeth Barclay, one of the Founders, and “asked for a moment of
silence.”

The two principal events in Brooke’s second year as president were the
ceremony in Courthouse Square and the publishing of volume V of the
Proceedings. Dr. Connor did an excellent job arranging the dedication
ceremony. Activities began at 3:30 p.m. on April 19, 1961, an “exceedingly
raw and uncomfortable day.” Colonel Brooke presided. Following the
invocation by the Rt. Rev. Lloyd R. Craighill, the retired Episcopal bishop
of Anking, China, and a resident of Lexington, Houston Barclay gave a
fine commemorative address entitled, “Rockbridge County Goes to War.”
It was particularly fitting that Mr. Barclay should make the address,
because he had strong ties with the county. When living in Wichita, Kan-
sas, he had been active in the local historical society, and it was partly due
to his inspiration that a historical society was founded in Rockbridge.

Following the singing of Civil War songs by the Lexington High School
Glee Club, the plaque was unveiled by Betsy Letcher, a great-granddaughter
of Virginia’s Civil War governor, who was a native of Lexington. The
inscription stated:

In grateful memory of the brave men from Rockbridge County, Virginia
Who served so gallantly in war, 1861-65

This memorial is dedicated in tribute to

their services

One hundred years later

Following the unveiling, Dr. George Diehl dedicated the memorial.
Next, the VMI Band, under the direction of Captain Joseph Pearce, played
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a number of marches. The impressive ceremony concluded with a benedic-
tion by Bishop Craighill, an honor guard from the VMI and W&L ROTC
units standing by.%2 :

At the summer meeting of the Executive Committee at Colonel Brooke’s
home, where Mrs. Brooke furnished “delicious and most welcome refresh-
ment,” Brooke produced an advance copy of volume V of the Proceedings,
edited by Charles Turner, which contained the minutes and papers of every
meeting from 1954 through 1960.

The volume was sold for $1.50 a copy at the summer meeting of the
Society at Oxford Presbyterian Church. Five hundred copies were printed.
About seventy members attended the meeting at Oxford Church where the
ladies of the church served dinner. In a sense this was a special occasion
because the address was given by Clinton Anderson, who some years
earlier had won the Society’s first essay contest while a student at Effinger
High School. His talk on “The James D. Davidson Family of Rockbridge
County, Virginia” was a condensation of his senior thesis at Washington
and Lee. As was often the case in those days, excerpts from the address
were printed in the Rockbridge County News.

At the meeting members were reminded that time was marching on
when the deaths of two Charter Members, Harrington Waddell and Stuart
Moore, were announced.?3

In addition to the dedication of the plaque, the Civil War Centennial
impinged on the Society in another way. A special committee, of which
Miss Mary Galt was the chairman, put a display with a Civil War theme in
the windows of the Robert E. Lee Hotel, then the largest hotel in the
Lexington area. The plan was to change the display periodically.

At the October 30, 1961, meeting a new slate of officers was elected.
Brigadier General John S. Letcher (USMC, Retired), a grandson of Gov-
ernor John Letcher, was elected president. Mrs. J. P. Alexander and Miss
Lula Dunlap were reelected recording secretary and treasurer, respectively.

The year 1962 was notable because of the renewed interest in architec-
ture and preservation displayed by the Society and by the numerous activi-
ties of Charles Turner pertaining to “The Castle” and its collections. In
January at Trinity Methodist Church, Dr. Turner’s brother Theodore, of
the University of Virginia Art Department, spoke on “Virginia Architec-
ture.” He illustrated his talk with slides “of significant types of architecture
found throughout the state.”

92. Minutes, April 7, 19, 1961.
93. Minutes, July 7, 25, October 10, 1961.
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Perhaps this talk reawakened a dormant interest in the subject among
the members. In any case, in July Miss Mary Galt “mentioned a conversa-
tion with out-of-town visitors who had remarked on the many fine old
buildings in Lexington, citing the Withrow and Dold buildings among
others, saying that its architecture alone should make Lexington a tourist
mecca, and now that so many towns were making strenuous efforts to
protect and preserve their older sections, they wondered if Lexington had
such an organization.” Miss Galt suggested that the members “give some
serious thought to the problem.”

It will be recalled that shortly after its founding the Society had consi-
dered purchase of the Jordan House and the Dold House, but having no
money and not being incorporated, it had decided such action was not
feasible. In October President Letcher reminded the members of Miss
Galt’s suggestion and “mentioned that tablets giving a brief history of the
building might make a walking tour quite interesting for tourists.” But the
year passed with nothing being done.%

Dr. Turner began the year 1963 by announcing that typed lists of
manuscripts in the Society’s library were available and that the material
was being used. Also, with the help of Lee Scholars and seniors at the
college, “he had nearly completed sorting, arranging, and listing papers,
pictures, etc. at ‘The Castle.”” Five students were using material in the
Society’s collections for essays, and some students had read papers to the
Society based on their research. Dr. Turner was eager for the public to see
“The Castle,” and in April he announced that the building and grounds
had been “cleaned and refurbished” and would be open for two days early
in May from 10-12 a.m. and 2-4 p.m. School children were especially
invited.?s '

To help Jay Johns raise money for the Jackson Memorial, the Society
sent members a letter and collected $308.50.9

The Society continued to serve its historic purpose in 1963 as Dr. Turner
announced that Miss Mary Monroe Penick had given it about five hundred
letters of Judge James K. Edmonson and a large number of magazines
which had been catalogued.

Yet, concern for the restoration of buildings grew and several members
spoke out. At the last meeting of the year Miss Galt “commented on the
destruction of some of the most interesting architectural features in Lexing-
ton. She said many other old towns often expend great effort to preserve

94. Minutes, January 22, July 30, October 29, 1962.
95. Minutes, January 9, 22; April 16, 30, 1962.
96. Minutes, July 30, 1962.
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the individual flavor of their towns and she thought that the Historical
Society was the logical organization to concern itself with such matters.”
Mrs. Gordon Heiner added “that often towns have town ordinances or
codes that might be helpful in such a project.” Miss Ellen Anderson, Mrs.
McCulloch’s sister, then took a significant step when she moved “that Gen.
Letcher serve as chairman and appoint a committee to explore what action
might be taken by the Society.” Letcher had been busy keeping “The
Castle” in good condition by such steps as painting and replacing rotted
sills.

Interest in such matters had been whetted further at the summer meet-
ing at Mountain View School when the Rev. John Moore spoke on “John
Jordan, Baptist Layman.” Referring to Jordan’s work as an architect and
engineer, Moore said that Jordan reportedly “had a hand in everything of
importance built in Lexington for fifty years,” including Washington Hall
and the first VMI barracks. It was at this time that Royster Lyle, who has a
keen interest in architecture, became a member.5’

Fairfield had its moment of glory in 1963 when Miss Dorcas Campbell
won the Miss Virginia contest and placed in the top ten at the Miss
America pageant in Atlantic City. Attuned to the accomplishments of
Rockbridge natives, the Society made Miss Campbell an honorary member.
Miss Ellen Anderson was entrusted with writing the letter of notification.%

General Letcher was reelected for a second two-year term and was
assured of support in the Executive Committee by such officers as Miss
Lula Dunlap, Miss Ellen Anderson, Mrs. J. P. Alexander, and Charles
Turner.

In 1964 the Society began to take a much more active role in architectu-
ral preservation. Taking an interest in this work, General Letcher informed
the Board in January “that he had checked with Sears, Roebuck to see if
their new building could be done in an architectural style appropriate to
the town.” But he found “that plans had progressed too far to admit any
changes.” Also, the general asked the Board of Supervisors to protect
“historical features of the town,” and when no response was forthcoming,
he asked Miss Mary Galt to prepare a resolution for presentation to the
Board of Supervisors. Passed unanimously by the Executive Board the
resolution said:

Be it Resolved that the Rockbridge Historical Society now call upon the

Board of Supervisors of the County of Rockbridge, and upon the Mayor and
Council of the Town of Lexington to appoint immediately a Joint Advisory

97. Minutes, January 28, April 29, July 22, October 28, 1963.
98. Minutes, October 28, 1963.
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Commission, representing both bodies, and make it mandatory that this
commission be consulted before any permit is granted for any demolition or
construction in connection with any venerable or historic building, or any
historic neighborhood in town or county.

Another matter of concern related to the planned razing of the com-
mandant’s house adjacent to the VMI barracks to make room for a recrea-
tion building for the cadets. Miss Galt, a firebrand in these matters, was
unable to attend the April meeting but she sent an eloquent plea to the
Society to save the building. As a result, the Society passed a resolution to
urge the saving of the commandant’s house. To further the cause Miss
Ellen Anderson, as corresponding secretary, wrote a letter to the Virginia
Art Commission protesting the threatened demolition. The subject was
discussed again at the July meeting when it was stated that General George
Shell, the VMI superintendent, had invited members and other interested
people to meet in his office “to be briefed on plans for the building and to
express their opinions.”

The possible loss of another historic building caused concern. The
Kappa Alpha Order, looking for a national headquarters, was talking of
tearing down the Barclay house on Lee Avenue and erecting a new build-
ing. The fraternity informed General Letcher “that they would be unable to
preserve the Barclay house.” The crisis came to a happy conclusion when
KA changed its plans and Colonel and Mrs. C. C. Tutwiler purchased the
house and did a magnificent job of historical restoration.

The Society became more directly involved in preservation when its
long-time benefactor, Dr. Leslie Lyle Campbell, died in 1964 and in his will
left the Society two houses, the residence at 101 East Washington Street
and the one next door at 107-109 East Washington. He also left articles
such as furniture and pictures. Dr. Campbell, from the beginning, had
wanted the Society to have a permanent home or headquarters large
enough to meet in and to store documents. “The Castle” was not com-
pletely adequate. Space not utilized in the new buildings could be rented
and thereby supply an income for maintenance.

At a special meeting of the Executive Committee called in June, General
Letcher read Dr. Campbell’s will. The Board immediately empowered the
president “to take whatever steps are necessary to rent the house and take
care of the articles left to the Society.” A month later the Board decided to
attempt to rent the house at 101 East Washington Street, called the Camp-
bell House. The treasurer reported $2,000 in the savings account for
repairs. Dr. Turner reported that there was “a room full of documents,

99. Minutes, January 15, February 3, April 27, July 27, October 26, 1964.
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manuscripts, etc.” and he would welcome assistance in examining the
material to determine its value. Three months later he said he had spent
“about 30 hours sorting” the material.!00

In its twenty-fifth year the Society not only acquired two houses and
fought hard for historic preservation, but it lost a number of its oldest and
strongest supporters in addition to Dr. Campbell: Dr. Gaines, its first
president; Colonel Couper; Mr. Earle Paxton; and Mr. T. B. Shackford. To
fill vacancies on the board of trustees, General Letcher and Mr. Alvin
Oakes were elected. 10!

Among the Society’s valuable letters were two purportedly signed by
Thomas Jefferson. Their authenticity was questioned in February, and two
months later General Letcher reported that after investigation he had
found that only one of them was an original.102

In July 1964, meeting for the first time in the Marshall Library, the
Society heard an informative address by Dr. Forrest Pogue, the biographer
of General George C. Marshall, on “Oral History and the Tape Recorder
as New Tools for the Historian.” Pogue described the value of these tools
“in securing the reminiscences of elderly people while they are still around.”
Use of the telephone and typewriter have caused, he said, “the gradual
disappearance of the old type of personal letters.” Dr. Pogue emphasized
that it was essential for the interviewer to make careful preparation for the
interview.”103

The Society learned that owning property was not an unmixed blessing
and much of the time at meetings in 1965.concerned repairs to the Camp-
bell House. Shortly after acquisition, a $635.00 bid was received for replac-
ing guttering and downspouts, repairing leaks in the roof, replacing rotted
wood in the window frames, and repairing the porch and steps. But this
was only a start. At the next meeting of the Board General Letcher
lamented that he had been unable to rent the Campbell House and that
“antiquated wiring and bathroom facilities” were “the greatest drawback to
securing desirable tenants.” This raised the question of money, because
according to Dr. Campbell’s will the house could not be sold. Therefore, “a
bank would not consider it collateral for a loan.” As there was approxi-
mately $865.00 in the treasury and a $1,000.00 bond would soon mature,
the Society authorized the expenditure of $1,500.00 for renovation and

100. June 23, July, October 26, 1964.

101. Minutes, April 13, 1964.

102. Minutes, February 3, April 13, 1964. The original is Land Grant to William
Galloway for parcel of land in Botetourt Co., signed “Th. Jefferson, Governour of the
Commonwealth of Virginia,” April 10, 1781.

103. Minutes, July 27, 1964.
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maintenance, and the president appointed a committee to consider the
renovation of the building.104

During the year Royster Lyle began collecting papers for the publica-
tion of volume VI of the Proceedings, and in October he said he had
received bids from several firms of $1,300 to $1,400 for one thousand
copies. A motion to accept the bid from the News-Gazette, the low bidder,
carried.

About this time Dr. Turner, with the help of W&L students, completed
the cataloguing of the Campbell papers.

The nominating committee of Colonel Brooke, Dr. Turner, Mrs. Mc-
Culloch, and Mrs. Alexander, four past presidents, was asked to review the
by-laws and constitution and make recommendations for revision. The
proposed changes were presented at the October meeting as was the list of
nominees. The changes in the constitution and by-laws were minor, except
for paragraphs adding a Museum and Library Committee and a Publica-
tion Committee.

Mr. Frank Gilliam, dean of admissions at W&L, was elected president.
A number of new officers were nominated and elected: Mrs. S. M. Heflin,
corresponding secretary; Mrs. Felix Staedli, recording secretary; William
McCorkle, treasurer. It had been a good year for new members, with Mrs.
Isola Paxton, the indefatigable membership chairman, adding twenty-nine
names to the rolls.105

During President Frank Gilliam’s first year in office it was apparent that
the growing membership was straining the physical capabilities of “The
Castle.” At the spring meeting fifty members attended and the president
explained that owing to the burgeoning membership, the Executive Com-
mittee had decided “not to remodel the Castle, but to hold meetings in
suitable places.” This was a wise precaution, for when the Society met in
October at the R. E. Lee Church parish hall to hear Colonel C. C. Tutwiler
read a paper on his aunt Ellen Glasgow, there were between eighty and
ninety people in attendance, “the largest outside of a dinner meeting.”

When “The Castle” was opened in May, there were 102 visitors, accord-
ing to Dr. Turner. The limited size of “The Castle” also restricted the
development of the museum, and the president found it necessary to
appoint an Acquisitions Committee to determine “the number and kind of
items” the museum could accept.

Meanwhile, the Campbell House with three tenants was a source of
income and the real estate agent said it was “in much better condition and

104. Minutes, October 1964, January 12, 25, 1965.
10S. Minutes, July 26, October 12, 1965; January 7, 24, 1966.
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many necessary improvements [had] been made in the past year.” He urged
that the building be rewired. In April 1967 the rents amounted to $310.00 a
month. 106

The preservation of documents was continuing. With the assistance of a
student, Dr. Turner “completed the index of papers and pictures” belong-
ing to the Society. Turner reported that the University of Virginia was
microfilming the Society’s papers.

In 1966 Royster Lyle published volume VI of the Proceedings which
covered five years and included thirteen papers. Dedicated to Dr. Camp-
bell, the volume also paid special tribute to Colonel Couper and Mr.
Houston Barclay. One thousand copies were printed to be sold at $1.50
each.107

During this period the Society enjoyed a remarkable growth, mainly
through the efforts of Mrs. Isola Paxton, the membership chairman. In
April 1966 she reported fifteen new members and in October she said that
eleven had joined since July. In January 1967 Mrs. Paxton reported forty-
one new members in the past year and three months later, nineteen more.
Yet, dues were raised modestly to $2.50 and a membership drive was
launched.108

A high point of the year was the spring meeting at Southern Seminary at
the time of its one hundredth anniversary. Mrs. Robey mailed beautiful
invitations printed in gold. Festivities included a reception and a speech by
Dr. Sandridge, the academic dean of the college. The secretary recorded
that the program “was brilliant and most interesting,” and “from the open-
ing welcome of Mrs. Robey, to the closing numbers of the Glee Club, it
was an enjoyable evening.”109

Colonel Couper had been a prodigious worker and one of his projects
had been a survey of the Lexington Cemetery. President Gilliam made a
study of Couper’s comprehensive index of the cemetery and promised to
make mimeographed copies. It was Mrs. McCulloch’s view that Colonel
Couper’s papers should “be permanently recorded” and Dr. Turner said he
would have his students put them in proper form. A year later Turner
presented the Society with a finished copy of Colonel Couper’s “Complete
History of the Stonewall Jackson Cemetery,” and after another year he
was able to report that “a 55 page index had been completed for Colonel
Couper’s work on headstones.”!10

106. Minutes, April 25, July 25, October 12, 24, 1966; April 11, 1967.

107. Minutes, April 25, July 14, 1966; January 23, 1967.

108. Minutes, April 25, October 24, 1966; January 23, April 24, October 25, 1967.
109. Minutes, January 10, April 11, 24, 1967.

110. Minutes,.April 11, 1967; April 22, 1968; April 21, 1969.
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In drawing up the new slate of officers late in 1967, the nominating
committee tapped new talent. The Rt. Rev. Lloyd Craighill was elected
president; Colonel B. McCluer Gilliam, vice-president; Robert Weaver,
treasurer; and Mrs. W. O. Hay, librarian. Mrs. Felix Staedli and Mrs. S.
M. Heflin were reelected recording secretary and corresponding secretary,
respectively.!!!

Bishop Craighill, the new president, was unable because of illness to
attend the first meeting of the Executive Committee in January, and
Colonel Gilliam, vice-president, presided in his place. When Bishop Craig-
hill was no better in April, he resigned and subsequently Colonel Gilliam
was elected president on the recommendation of a special nominating
committee. Dr. Turner, who had served efficiently as program chairman
for six years, asked to be relieved of his duties and Colonel Gilliam
appointed Royster Lyle in his place.

Despite the manifest interest in architecture and the preservation of
buildings, Mrs. Gordon Heiner in 1968 reminded the Board that the Socie-
ty’s “only function . . . was the printing of important historical papers and
publications. That it was a scholarly organization, and we should work
toward this goal with our resources and money.” A motion was passed
again that the Proceedings be published every two years.!!2

The idea of a newsletter surfaced at this time. Robert Weaver, the
treasurer, had determined in July that forty-five members had not paid
their dues in two years. The Board reviewed the names with him and
recommended that most of those delinquent be sent second notices. Mr.
Weaver then suggested that in order to keep members better informed, a
newsletter should be sent out with the annual statements. The idea was
received enthusiastically and Mrs. Heflin and Mrs. Heiner agreed to under-
take the task. The Board’s patience with delinquent members seemed never
ending. When the treasurer reported in October that thirty people had still
not paid after receiving two notices, the Board voted to send them still
another notice.!!3

At this time the trustees were: Alvin Oakes, M. W. Paxton, Charles
Turner, and General Letcher. The Society decided that the trustees should
review the Society’s properties at the end of each fiscal year.!14

As we know, the Society from the beginning had been interested in
historical markers. Members were shocked to learn in 1969 that the Maury

111. Minutes, November 6, 1967.

112. Minutes, January 8, April 8, 22, 1968.
113. Minutes, July 8, 1968.

114. Minutes, October 7, 1968.
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Monument in Goshen Pass had been vandalized and the inscription had
disappeared. But vandals were not the only enemies. The great flood of
1969 washed downstream the Archibald Alexander monument the Society
had erected at the place where Irish Creek flowed into the South River.
General Letcher, on his own initiative, had saved the metal plaque and
stored it in his garage awaiting a decision by the Society.

In this same year Miss Ellen Anderson, who had served long and faith-
fully as chairman of the Genealogical Committee, resigned because of
failing health. She was replaced by Dr. Diehl.

At this time Dr. Turner began a new project in oral history which
consisted of “the taping of stories connected with the history of the
county.” In another capacity Turner opened “The Castle” on Friday after-
noons for two hours with Mrs. Frederic (Emily) Pearse, a Charter Member,
in attendance.!!5

Mr. William O. Hay, who become treasurer in 1969, was extremely
conscientious in his duties. As 1970 started he gave the Society a detailed
account of its financial position:

Checking account : $ 681.48
Savings account 1,643.86
5% demand note Historic Lexington Foundation 2,100.00
Publications for sale 1,397.88
8 Randolph Street (“The Castle™) 15,000.00
107 East Washington Street 20,000,00
101 East Washington Street (Campbell House) 35,000.00116

A recurrent problem was the vines growing on the houses, particularly
that at 107 East Washington Street. Mr. Grimley, the caretaker, gave the
Board three alternative courses of action and it “voted to remove the vines
completely, and to put brushkiller on the roots.” But it was a tough fight.
Nine months later General Letcher, who was chairman of the Property
Committee, and Mr. Grimley reported that the ivy on the small rented
house “had refused to die in spite of being cut off at the bottom, and
appeared to be feeding on the house. It was suggested that it be pulled off
by hand with hooks.”!17

Forever concerned with books and documents, Dr. Turner informed the
Board in April 1970 that forty books had been received and they would be
catalogued. He reported obtaining annuals from the high school and sug-

115. Minutes, October 9, 27, 1969.
116. Minutes, January 9, 1970.
117. Minutes, January 9, October 6, 1970.

48 Rockbridge Historical Society



First Fifty Years of RHS

gested that they be collected yearly. Turning to Timber Ridge Cemetery, he
said that the gravestones were being recorded. His oral history project with
tape recorders was continuing and he reported four more interviews.

Concerned with the safety of the Society’s valuable papers, Turner
reported that the Washington and Lee librarian, Maurice Leach, “had
offered to provide on the upper floor of the Library a large corner section
for the files of the Society.” The offer was gratefully accepted. Within three
weeks three files of manuscripts were moved to the new location.!!8

A significant event of 1970 was the appearance of volume VII of the
Proceedings, edited by Anne Heiner, who was also the recording secretary.
She was so pleased with the work of the McClure Printing Company in
Staunton that she wrote them, saying: “We are receiving congratulations
from all sides for what is called ‘a work of distinction’ and we appreciate
very much your splendid help.”!!® One thousand copies were ordered and
the president of the Historic Lexington Foundation offered to sell the book
on HLF’s fall tour.

In 1970 the election of officers was advanced from October to July. Dr.
James S. Leyburn of Washington and Lee was elected president. As was
becoming the custom, the retiring president was elected first vice-president.
There was no change in the recording secretary (Mrs. Heiner), the corres-
ponding secretary (Mrs. Heflin), treasurer (W. O. Hay), and librarian
(Charles Turner).

Some seventy members and guests attended the summer meeting held at
Collierstown Presbyterian Church. The dinner was priced at $2.50. Colonel
Gilliam reported that on the recommendation of the trustees and the Exec-
utive Committee, the Society would apply for status as a tax-exempt foun-
dation. A resolution lamenting the death of Miss Ellen Anderson was
passed by acclamation. With $50 expense money donated by William E.
Trout III of Richmond, the Society decided to place “a map with the name
of the canal and the route of its locks” at the Ben Salem lock on Maury
River. Mr. Trout had spoken to the Society in April on the “North River
Navigation.”120

Upkeep of the properties became an ever more time-consuming duty.
The persistent ivy on the house at 107 East Washington Street continued to
thwart the Society. An offer by Norman Bowles to remove it for $50 was
accepted. By June 1971 this had been done “and members of the board
commented on the handsome lines” of the building to be seen “for the first
time in many years.”

118. Minutes, April 14, 27; October 6, 26, 1970.
119. Heiner to McClure Printing Company, June 3, 1970, RHS Archives.
120. Minutes, July 13, 27, 1970.
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Another problem was heating “The Castle.” Miley Dunn, a Lexington
plumber, offered to install “a New American Gas Fired Boiler” for $1,715.
This envisioned “a complete two zone system,” and the Board accepted the
offer. Within two months Dunn had completed the job, but he noted that
the water system had rusted, all the plumbing had rusted.” He gave an
estimate for this additional work.!2!

With an eye on preservation, Mrs. McCulloch and Dr. Turner made a
list of twenty buildings in the county “for consideration of Virginia Land-
marks Commission as of national significance.” In Lexington these included
the Withrow House, Stono, and the Presbyterian Manse. This complied
with a request from the Virginia Historic Landmarks Commission for the
Society to consider the historic buildings and sites in the area “which might
qualify as official Virginia landmarks and for inclusion in the ‘Landmarks
Register.”” Dean Leyburn appointed a committee of three to work on this:
Royster Lyle (chairman), Mrs. B. McCluer Gilliam, and Charles Turner.

In the cause of preservation, Walter A. Paxton of Buena Vista left
$2,000 to the Society in his will “for the purpose of procuring and preserv-
ing historical documents, and for the creation of markers and memorials.”
No doubt, it was because of this that President Leyburn appointed a
committee on markers consisting of Mrs. Frederic M. Pearse, Jr., Frank
Gilliam, and Dr. Diehl. Mrs. McCulloch, ever alert, sent a message to the
Board that a marker should be placed at the site of the original Lexington
water reservoir used from 1835-80.

Another important matter was the three hundred Miley negatives that
had been found in Miss Nettie Dunlap’s attic. These included about ninety-
four scenes of Lexington and VMI. Royster Lyle arranged for the Library
of Congress to make proofs of these at $3.37 per picture. The Board voted
to pay this expense with funds from the Walter Paxton bequest.!22

Mrs. Charles McCulloch died on July 8, 1971, and as the entry above
attests, she maintained a vibrant interest in the Rockbridge Historical
Society until the end. Three weeks after her death ninety-four members
and guests assembled for the summer picnic meeting at Mt. Carmel Church
where they feasted on ham and corn pudding. On this occasion President
Leyburn paid tribute to Mrs. McCulloch, saying “she probably knew more
about the county than any other citizen.”

When the Board met in the fall it appropriated $150 for the tran-
scription of tapes recording conversations of Dr. Turner with Mrs. McCul-
loch. Turner asserted that a whole drawer in the files at the W&L library

121. Minutes, April 7, May 3, June 2, 1971.
122. Minutes, June 2, 1971.
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“will be set aside for the McCulloch papers.” A resolution in memory of
Mrs. McCulloch adopted by the Society said:

Mrs. McCulloch, who would have been 95 later in July, was a leader for many
years in the efforts to preserve historic landmarks in the Rockbridge area. She
was an authority on the early history of the town and county and wrote
numerous articles on subjects of local interest, some of which were published
in the Society’s Proceedings. . . . At the first meeting of the Rockbridge
Branch of the APVA, October 25, 1935, Mrs. McCulloch was named secre-
tary. On August 9, 1939, when the Rockbridge Historical Society had its
organizational meeting, Mrs. McCulloch, a Charter Member, was named
chairman of the executive committee.!23

In 1972 the election of officers was held three months early as Dr.
Leyburn was moving from Lexington. Dr. Allen Moger, of the Wash-
ington and Lee History Department, was elected president. There was no
change among the principal officers. Dr. Moger, though new to the Society,
was better prepared for his office than most of his predecessors because he
received one and one-half pages of helpful suggestions from the outgoing
president. Dr. Leyburn wrote:

Your first and most important problem will be finding a Program Chairman,
for the public success of the Society depends on interesting programs. Charles
Turner is Librarian, and in my opinion the most devoted member of the
Society. . . . I should add only two bits of advice: First the meetings are
planned for many weeks in advance, it is not always easy to arrange a dinner
meeting or even a place for the other public meetings. Second, at the Board
meetings talk often flows on and on, and it sometimes wanders from the
immediate point; the president learns early that it is a mistake to try to keep a
tight rein on discussion—and yet he must see to it that all the business gets
done. You will be amazed (perhaps) at what topics arouse people’s emotions.
For three meetings we talked about ivy on one of the residences we own. . . . It
is wise always to pay attention to Buena Vista interests, for Lexingtonians
tend to forget that their city is not the centre of the universe.!24

As president, Moger made two important appointments: Miss Margaret
Davis, chairman of the Program Committee, and Richard Fletcher, chair-
man of the House and Property Committee.

The Society was awakened to its perilous financial condition by its
treasurer, Mr. Hay. Preparing “a compilation of receipts and expenditures
since 1966,” Hay found that receipts from all sources totalled about
$25,000, but expenses exceeded them by about $600. “The idea that we
have a great deal of money to spend is a myth,” he said.!2

123. Minutes, July 28, October 6, 25, 1971.
124. Leyburn to Moger, April 3, 1972, RHS Archives; Minutes, July 24, 1972.
125. Minutes, October 4, 1972.

Proceedings X (1980-89) 51



George M. Brooke, Jr.

In Dr. Moger’s first year the Society’s principal efforts were directed to
utilizing and improving the physical properties, moving the headquarters
from “The Castle” to the Campbell House, and increasing the number of
life members. Fletcher’s Property Committee began work immediately and
considered various plans to make the best use of the Society’s three build-
ings. As Moger explained to the Board, consideration was being given “to
rent the Castle as office space or apartments, to use the Campbell House’s
main floor as a museum, rent the upstairs to someone who could act as
custodian when visitors came, and rent the basement also.”!26

At the next Board meeting Fletcher, using a chart showing site devel-
opment, said the Property Committee had been guided by specific consid-
erations, such as “potential public and quasi-public use, care and costs of
maintenance, aesthetics, potential for additional revenue from tenants, and
costs of installation.” The Board accepted these ideas “in principle.” Also,
the Board accepted Fletcher’s detailed recommendations with regard to the
Campbell House: “that the main floor be reserved for Society and public
use, housing the Society’s Library, Archives, and Museum, but also provid-
ing accommodations for small group meetings, and for possible use as

reception/information center. . .. The Second Floor of the Campbell
House be rented as an apartment with stove and refrigerator and separate
entrance, and the Basement ... be used for a rental apartment, and

museum storage.”

Referring to “The Castle,” the Board accepted Fletcher’s recommenda-
tion that its “main floor be rented to a professional or group, that the
second floor be rented as an apartment to a qualified individual, and that
the basement be used for storage space for both tenants and the Society.”

Regarding the small house at 107 East Washington, the Board accepted
the plan “that the property be used for individual rentals for 1973-74, but
that consideration be given to the feasibility of a long-term lease to a civic
or professional group thereafter.” Fletcher also recommended specific ren-
tal policies which were accepted.!??

As membership grew and postage rates climbed, the Society raised dues,
effective in 1974, to $3.50 for an individual and $6.00 for a couple.!28

In July the first issue of News- Notes, prepared by Richard Fletcher, was
distributed to the members. President Moger, excited by this accomplish-
ment, felt this was an important way to keep members informed and
enthusiastic. In the first issue the reader learned that Milton L. Grigg, a
well-known Charlottesville architect, had been consulted on the restoration

126. Minutes, January 10, 1973.
127. Minutes, April 10, 1973.
128. Minutes, June 25, 1973.
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of the Campbell House, the exterior restoration of which was estimated to
cost $5,000.

As the funds available for this work fell about $2,000 short of the
amount needed, the Board endeavored to raise the money through the sale
of life memberships at $50 each. An effort was made to enroll fifty life
members by December 1, and Moger wrote a personal letter to twenty
members especially selected as prospects. The Board passed a resolution to
this effect with the proviso that on January 1, 1974, life memberships
would increase to $80. By November 19 there were forty-five life members.
Though the construction costs climbed to $7,900 in what Fletcher face-
tiously called “a race toward bankruptcy,” the situation was eased by
noninterest-bearing notes totalling $2,000, given by Allen Moger, Richard
Fletcher, and William O. Hay.!29 ;

The goal was to move the Society’s headquarters from “The Castle” to
the Campbell House by October 1, and this goal was nearly achieved, for
shortly after the deadline Fletcher thanked Capt. Tom Gray and “six Jay-
cee stalwarts” for moving the Society’s possessions “from five rooms in the
Castle to three rooms in the Campbell House without a single bit of
damage, a cross word or an unsolved problem.”130

Early in its history the Society discussed incorporation, but, as we have
seen, dismissed the idea. In 1973 the idea was resurrected by Richard
Fletcher after a conversation with the president of the Albemarle Historical
Society, who taught law. The main advantages to incorporation were said
to be liability protection and continuity in legal obligations. The Society
had opted earlier for acting through trustees, but Fletcher, in a letter to
President Moger, commented that he did not “believe we even know the

names of the five trustees of the Society.”!3! This letter at last brought the
" matter to the Society’s attention again, but the wheels turned slowly.

Fletcher’s plans for renting the buildings began to bear fruit. In August
1973 it was announced that the City had signed a lease with the Society for
the use of two rooms in the Campbell House “by the new Department of
Visitor Relations,” formerly called the Tourism Department. Dr. Moger
was most appreciative of Fletcher’s work and in writing to a friend observed,
“the credit for the great and tasteful job of restoration of the Campbell
House belongs to him.”!132

129. News-Notes, July 1973; Minutes, September 26, October 22, 1973; Moger to
prospects, November 12, 1973, RHS Archives.

130. Fletcher to Calmet M. Sawyer, October 29, 1973, RHS Archives; News-
Gazette, October 31, 1973.

131. Fletcher to Moger, August 15, 1973, RHS Archives.
132. News-Gazette, August 22, 1973; Moger to William D. Hough, December 9,
1973, RHS Archives.
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Increasing membership was one of Moger’s goals during the country’s
Bicentennial celebration. He personally drafted a new invitation for pros-
pects that was much more detailed than the old one. He informed the
twelve members of the Membership Committee that “by increasing our
membership significantly from the present slightly under 300, we hope to
arouse interest in the great history of Rockbridge County and to streng-
then the Society in preparation for the Independence Bicentennial of
1976.”133

With the Campbell House renovated, the Society took a new lease on
life in 1974. Meeting there in January, the Board heard that there were
fifty-one life members, that the house was “completely rented,” and that a
stove and refrigerator had been purchased for an apartment in “The Cas-
tle.” The Board thanked Richard Fletcher for his “hard work, imagination,
and ingenuity.”

Major Edwin L. Dooley, curator of the VMI Museum, who had been
appointed curator of the Society’s museum scheduled to occupy “the front
west room of the Campbell House,” reported that most of the artifacts for
the museum had been moved from “The Castle.”!34 Early in 1974 Dooley
ran a series of short seminars for volunteers on “the essentials of profes-
sional museum inventorying and cataloging.” The purpose of the intended
walk-through museum was to trace the history of Rockbridge County
from the days of the Borden Grant in the 1730s. This promising start ended
abruptly in January 1975 when Dooley had to resign because of the pres-
sure of other duties.!35

William L. Payne, a retired English professor from City College of New
York, who had moved to the area, was thanked in the spring “for contribut-
ing more than 20 hours of his time and skill to improving the Campbell
House basement area.” Now that the Society had something to show, it
held open house for the membership one April afternoon and open house
for the public the following day.

In the spring Pamela H. Simpson, instructor in architectural history at
Washington and Lee, who had come to Lexington in 1973 and would later
be very active in the Society, “showed slides and spoke on ‘Another Pers-
pective of Lexington Architecture,” pointing out the Italianate influence.”

By the spring of 1974 six of the seven rental properties had been leased
with several prospects for the seventh. In fact, progress was such that by

133. Moger to Membership Committee, September 19, 1973, RHS Archives.

134. Minutes, January 2, 1974.

135. News-Gazette, February 6, 1974; Fletcher to Dooley, January 7, 1975, RHS
Archives.
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July 1, Otis Meade’s services as rental agent were no longer needed.!3¢

The permanence of the improvements was made manifest by the adop-
tion of new stationery for the Society designed by Larry Drechsler and
“featuring a pen-and-ink sketch of the Campbell House by Chris Bow-
ring,” 137

By 1974 the Society’s growing membership was creating some problems.
When Roy K. Patterson of Rockbridge Baths was scheduled to speak at
New Providence Presbyterian Church, the women of the church provided
dinner, but as only 120 seats were available, reservations were limited to
that number.!38

To attain federal tax-exempt status from the Internal Revenue Service,
it was necessary to amend the constitution and by-laws. As passed the
amendment stated:

If at any time or for any reason the Rockbridge Historical Society should be
dissolved, its property or material assets shall be turned over to an organiza-
tion in Lexington or Rockbridge County which performs a public service
similar to that of the Rockbridge Historical Society founded in 1939.139

Taking a fresh look at its properties, the Society decided in 1974 that all
of its buildings should be appropriately named. The News-Gazette reported
that the brick building at 107 East Washington Street, that had been built
in 1840, had been named the Sloan House in memory of its builder,
Alexander T. Sloan, a prominent Lexington merchant. In 1974 the build-
ing was being used by the Visitor Center, the Chamber of Commerce, and
the United Way.

The Society decided also to change the name of “The Castle” to “Hale
Houston’s Castle” because it was his “generosity which gave impetus to the
Society’s programs in its early years.” Moreover, “the initials HH appear
on the end of the rods on the southern gable end of the Castle.”

The Society had been calling the building at the corner of Randolph and
Washington, where it held its meetings, the Campbell House, and this was
now officially confirmed. Signs were placed to identify the buildings.!40

Much that had been done in the past year (1974) had been through the
efforts of Richard Fletcher. As the year drew to a close, he resigned as
publicity chairman, pointing out to President Moger that six issues of
News- Notes, which publication he initiated, had appeared, and with a new

136. News-Gazette, April 10, 1974; Minutes, April 22, 1974.
137. News-Gazette, October 1974.

138. Minutes, July 17, 1974.

139. Minutes, October 8, 1974.

140. News-Gazette, October 16, 1974; Minutes, April 2, 1975.
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series starting in January, someone else should take over. Moger appointed
Robert Keefe of Washington and Lee to fill the vacancy.

Fletcher agreed to remain as chairman of the House and Property
Committee on a quarterly basis if he were allowed to reorganize the com-
mittee into subcommittees. Soon, he reported to the Executive Committee
that $6,000 had been borrowed to complete the repairs at the Sloan House,
which would bring the Society $3,000 a year from its nine-year lease with
the city.

With an ear to the ground, Fletcher suggested that a special meeting be
called to choose the Society’s objectives for the nation’s Bicentennial year.
Such a meeting of sixteen members was held. According to Fletcher, at this
meeting the suggestions made included four “organizational objectives,
five physical and financial objectives, and twelve educational objectives
and activities.”14!

President Moger set a membership goal of 500 and offered to write a
personal letter to any prospect. There were then 365 members. Moger’s
enthusiasm and accomplishments earned him a second two-year term with
no significant change among the officers.!42

Once again the Society became involved in preservation when the Board
voted in July 1975 “to oppose the use of the Robert E. Lee Hotel as a jail.”
The Society deemed the proposal before the Board of Supervisors to con-
sider such use of the hotel building as “inappropriate and undesirable.” As
the building dominated the historic area, its “use as a jail would create
social and aesthetic as well as physical problems.43

Richard Fletcher’s manifold services in improving the Society’s proper-
ties led it to vote that July 28, 1975, be named “Richard Fletcher Day.” The
same year that brought honor to Fletcher brought grief to the Society in
the death of another stalwart, Dr. George Diehl. In a memorial resolution
the Society stated that Diehl “certainly devoted himself to the purposes for
which the Society exists.” He had been the genealogist, and Dr. Turner was
elected to take his place with the understanding that Turner would charge
for his services.!44

The preservation and publication of historical records attracted the
Society’s attention late in 1975. Dr. Turner reported that the Society’s
manuscripts had been moved to the basement of the Washington and Lee

141. Fletcher to Moger, October 25, 28, November 21, 1974; Fletcher to Keefe,
January 6, 1975, RHS Archives.

142. Minutes, January 8, 1975; News-Notes, January 1975.

143. News-Gazette, July 12, 1975.

144. Minutes, July 28, October 27, 1975; Obituary of Dr. George Diehl, October
1975, RHS Archives, News-Notes, July 1976.
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library “where there is much more room to work and it is cooler.” Taylor
Sanders, who was working on volume VIII of the Proceedings, said he had
received bids from six printers with prices ranging from $3,000 to $8,500
for two thousand copies. The McClure Press of Verona offered the lowest
bid. The Board voted to include the papers for five years in the volume.!45

The new sign at the Campbell House was described by Richard Fletcher
as “arresting and beautiful.” It was a gift of Mrs. Pat Perrin and A. B.
Jackson of Loblolly Farm, an art center in the county. Four feet by five,
the new marker depicted Virginia’s bird and tree, the cardinal and the
dogwood, and the bluebird for happiness. It was lighted by a tin box
lantern salvaged from the Old Blue Hotel demolished thirty years earlier. 46

Over the years many valuable documents relating to Rockbridge County
were stored in various repositories, many outside the state. Dr. Turner
made a determined effort to find out where they were, and he discovered
many were stored at Yale, Duke, and the University of North Carolina. He
photocopied quite a number and catalogued others. Fletcher informed
Robert Keefe that Turner had “a listing of 20,000 Rockbridge County
items in Yale Library holdings.”!4?

The Rockbridge Historical Society fully supported the city’s effort to
put brick sidewalks in the historic area, including that around the Camp-
bell House and “The Castle.” President Moger discussed the matter with
John Doane, the city manager, and a contractual arrangement was made
“for the installation of the curb, gutter, and sidewalks.” Doane wrote that
as city manager he had “always felt most fortunate to have the opportunity
to work with the Rockbridge Historical Society.” 148

Dr. Moger’s Bicentennial goal of expanding the membership to five
hundred was reached by September 20, 1976. Richard Fletcher noted that
from early February to late March seventy-two new members had joined,
“almost all recruited by President Moger’s letters and efforts.” George
Brooke, however, questioned the advisability of such a large membership.
How could you arrange dinner meetings for so many with limited accom-
modations? Mrs. Pearse, a Charter Member, feared “that a very large
membership might exclude the Society from the pleasant church dinners
and other functions of the past.”149

145. Minutes, October 7, 1975.

146. News-Notes, October 1975.

147. Minutes, January 14, March 29, 1976; News-Notes, February 1976; Fletcher
to Keefe, March 30, 1976, RHS Archives.

148. Minutes, October 7, 1975; Doane to Moger, February 20, 1976, RHS Archives.

149. News-Notes, October 1976; Minutes, March 29, 1976; Fletcher to Keefe,
March 30, 1976, RHS Archives.

Proceedings X (1980-89)
57



George M. Brooke, Jr.

At the fall meeting in 1976 at DuPont Hall, D. E. (Pat) Brady, Jr., was
elected president. It was noted that his predecessor, Dr. Moger, had been
president “during four years of unusual improvement of properties and
expansion of membership.” Moger said that there were at that time 511
members, including sixty life members, and that all but $2,500 of the
$8,000 borrowed had been repaid. As he went out of office Moger gave a
comprehensive written report to his successor and observed that the chair-
men of five committees were appointed by the president: Program, House
and Property, Museum, Membership, and Publicity. Moger had been
especially impressed with the untiring efforts of William O. Hay, Jr., as
treasurer and wrote him expressing his appreciation:

Perhaps I know better than anyone else how efficient your work has been and
how greatly your duties as treasurer have increased. The transition from the
arrangement with the Meade Associates (which saved the Society ten per-
cent), the significant increase in membership, the preparation of a vast
amount of information necessary to secure for the Society tax-free status
from IRS, and the payment of rents directly to the treasurer have all increased
your work. But you have responded efficiently and without complaint.!5¢

Pat Brady was fortunate in having most of the officers and committee
chairmen continue in office. Miss Austina Mallory did, however, become
recording secretary; Mr. Nat Chapman, treasurer; and Mr. Anthony Craw-
ford of the Marshall Foundation, program chairman. Also, Taylor Sanders
was appointed to pursue an oral history project. At Brady’s first meeting,
Mr. Keefe reported that he had been able to save the Society approxi-
mately $130 by using the 3rd class mailing-system for News-Notes.

Also, when the Rockbridge Community Bicentennial Commission ceased
operations at the end of the Bicentennial, the Lexington museums agreed it
would be appropriate to offer the Rockbridge Community Bicentennial
Quilt to the Rockbridge Historical Society. The Society was asked to clean
the quilt and store it at the Campbell House. The offer was accepted with
the intention of displaying the quilt at the Campbell House on occasion
and lending it to other organizations that might ask for it.!5!

The Society gave a helping hand to the Historic Lexington Foundation
which was restoring the Jackson Memorial Hospital to its original condi-
tion as a house when Stonewall Jackson lived there. The Society offered
use of the Campbell House for office and storage space and a place to hold
meetings. No fee was charged. When the Stonewall Jackson House was

150. Minutes, October 25, 1976; Moger to Brady, November 10, 1976; Moger to
Hay, December 2, 1976, RHS Archives.

151. Minutes, January 5, May 31, 1977; Crawford to Brady, January 7, 1976[7],
RHS Archives.
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opened in October 1979, Historic Lexington Foundation vacated the space
in the Campbell House that it had occupied. By an official loan agreement,
RHS lent thirteen items to the Jackson House for an indefinite period.!52

A high point in 1977 was the showing of a film by the Rev. Bernard
Bangley at the summer meeting at Bethesda Church in Rockbridge Baths.
The film, “Portrait of a Farmer,” was produced by Mr. Bangley with a
grant from the Virginia Foundation of Humanities and Public Policy. The
Society sponsored the making of the film which “depicted four seasons of
work of a typical Rockbridge County farmer, Mr. Henry McCurdy, whose
forbears had owned and farmed the same land since the early nineteenth
century.”!53

The impending completion of the splendid new library at Washington
and Lee was a blessing to the Society. Mr. Maurice Leach, the W&L
librarian, offered to keep the Society’s documents and books in the library’s
rare book storage area and have them catalogued. Though designated
RHS items, they would not be put in a separate room, but a librarian
would supervise their use. The Board accepted the gracious offer and a
contract was subsequently signed.

At Mr. Nat Chapman’s suggestion the Society donated $200 to the
library. Mr. Leach, in a letter of appreciation, said the money would be
spent on “acid-free folders and boxes to house the Society’s manuscript
collection.” The Washington and Lee facilities gave not only security and
more ample working space but also assured temperature and humidity
control, prime considerations in preserving documents. The importance of
this arrangement was brought home to the Society by Tony Crawford’s
“very interesting and knowledgeable account of the preservation of records
and photographs.” In discussing the deterioration of paper, Crawford said
man was the number one enemy. As a result of the move, Dr. Turner would
soon report that “RHS documents are in the best order ever.”!54

With the expansion of the membership the collection of dues became
more of a problem. In June 1978, the treasurer, Mr. Chapman, informed
the Board that 225 people had not paid their dues. After discussion the
Board decided to drop those who remained delinquent after a reminder.
When the treasurer commented in April 1979 that no new members had
joined that year, he was reminded that because of the large membership the
Board had decided “to forego any recruiting of new members.” At a later

152. Minutes, March 17, 1977, March 27, 1978; News-Notes, October 1979, Janu-
ary 1980.

153. Minutes, July 25, 1977.

154. Minutes, March 27, June 26, September 25, October 23, 1978; News-Notes,
April, August, 1978. j
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date Richard Fletcher declared that local historical societies were not
encouraging life memberships because of inflation.!55

In the fall election of 1978 Richard Fletcher was elected president and
Virginia Leach, corresponding secretary. There were no other significant
changes. At Mr. Brady’s final Board meeting as president, the question of
liability suits arising from the Society’s properties and the advisability of
being incorporated were discussed again but no action was taken.!56

One of Richard Fletcher’s first actions as president was to inquire about
the possibility of a place name survey for Rockbridge County. As a result,
in January 1979, Douglas Tanner of Charlottesville, director of the Place
Name Survey of Virginia, addressed the Society. Following this, Fletcher
arranged for several members to meet Tanner who encouraged the survey
and produced “a print-out with map locations of 58 place names, 321 land
features, 123 water features and 44 churches as a start towards the esti-
mated comprehensive listing of 1600 or more.” Following a workshop on
the subject, Dr. Lloyd Davidson agreed to undertake the task with James
McAleer as assistant. Unfortunately, this promising project ended four
years later when Davidson reported that the State Place Names Society
had been disbanded following the departure of its director.!5’

Richard Fletcher brought to the presidency the same enthusiasm and
imagination he had displayed as chairman of the House and Property
Committee. At his first meeting with the Board he explained the composi-
tion and responsibilities of the different committees and sketched his plans.
He proposed a program theme for 1979, “A Sense of Place,” and a series of
workshops for small groups led by Tony Crawford on the subject of the
preservation of family documents. He expressed the intention of appoint-
ing a Publication Committee “to oversee the production of the Proceed-
ings,” and he managed to persuade Larry Bland, the editor of the Marshall
Papers, and his wife to accept this responsibility. He wanted to assure that
the talks given to the Society be “kept in one place” and that the speakers
agree to furnish a written text or permit that a tape recording be made.!58

Stimulated by a seminar he had attended in Orange on the subject of
local historical societies, Fletcher stressed the importance of incorporating
the Society. He felt it necessary in order “to provide for a continual succes-
sion with a legal name, to facilitate holding and disposition of property,

155. Minutes, June 26, 1978, April 2, September 23, 1979; News-Notes, August
1978.

156. Mintues, November 6, 1978.

157. Fletcher to Tanner, December 4, 1978, RHS Archives; Minutes, January 22,
February 15, April 2, 1979, September 28, 1982; News-Notes, April 1979.
158. Minutes, December 18, 1978.
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and to protect members of the executive committee from personal respon-
sibility for damages in the event of lawsuits.” A formal statement of pur-
pose was required for incorporation, and Fletcher emphasized that the
Society was becoming “much more than simply a club that meets every
three months to listen to a paper.”

To incorporate it would be necessary to revise the by-laws. Fletcher was
empowered to appoint a committee to perform this task. He formed a
committee of three attorneys, Kenneth L. Harris, Robert S. Culpepper,
and Louise Moore, and “a senior member or two” of the Society “to draw
up a plan of action.”!%9

Also, Fletcher was authorized by the Board to explore the possibility of
cooperating with the Association for the Preservation of Virginia Antiqui-
ties and the Historic Lexington Foundation in arranging joint programs.
Such an initiative had been taken by APVA a few years earlier without
result. 160

Taking an interest in the Society’s library, Fletcher conferred with Dr.
Turner, librarian and genealogist. He learned that the Society had fifteen
hundred volumes, chiefly from Dr. Campbell’s library. Some books were
old, some rare, some scientific, and some germane to the interests of the
Society. There was no budget for the library and no written acquisitions
policy. The books had been catalogued by Miss Gadsden and others.

As a result of the conference, Tony Crawford was designated curator of
maps and photos and it was agreed that there should be an acquisitions
committee for books, documents, manuscripts, and artifacts. Six months
later Fletcher informed the Board that Crawford was “progressing in the
work of preservation and cataloguing our collection of maps and photo-
graphs.” Unfortunately, Crawford soon moved away.!6!

As the editor of the Proceedings, Larry Bland adopted a more profes-
sional policy than had existed in the past. When someone asked permission
“to reprint an article somewhere,” his policy was to relay the request to the
author. The last Proceedings had been published in 1970, and Bland
learned nine years later when preparing volume VIII that “printing costs
have more than doubled.” Volume VIII went on sale in December 1979 at
$6.00 per copy, with twenty-five percent off for pre-publication purchase.!62

159. Fletcher to Kenneth L. Harris, January 18, 1979; Fletcher to Dr. Jackson
Darst, January 19, 1979, RHS Archives; Minutes, January 22, 1979.

160. News-Notes, April 1979.

161. Memorandum of Fletcher’s Conference with Turner, February 15, 1979,
RHS Archives; Minutes, September 25, 1979.

162. Bland to Fletcher, November 28, 1979, RHS Archives; Minutes, December
5, 1979.
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In earlier years, it will be recalled, the Society had usually held its
summer meetings at a church in the county with the church ladies prepar-
ing the meal. Fletcher hoped to introduce a somewhat similar series of
programs. In February 1980 he wrote to Mrs. W. W. Heffelfinger in
Brownsburg about such a meeting:

For some time a few of us have felt that the communities of Rockbridge, like
Brownsburg, have been comparatively neglected. The Program Committee
wants to have a series of these communities, one per year, as summer picnic
meetings. Brownsburg could be followed by Goshen, Glasgow, Collierstown,
etc.

At the Board meeting in June it was announced that the summer meet-
ing would be at the Brownsburg Middle School. The picnic supper with
fried chicken, arranged by Mrs. Alexander and catered by Bessie Nicholas,
would cost $5.00. Because of “a torrent of rain” the meeting was held in the
school building “which was pleasantly and comfortably adequate for a
large group.” Four short papers on various aspects of Brownsburg history
were read.!63

A matter that involved the Society in 1980 was a plan by the Board of
Supervisors to landscape the grounds of the courthouse square in memory
of Mr. Harry Wright, recently deceased county clerk. The plan was designed
by the landscape architect, James Loesel, and the Council of Garden Clubs
gave $500 for it. The plan called for a fountain in the courtyard to be the
focal point and the county administrator asked the Society “to relocate the
fountain, which is presently behind the Campbell House, to the courtyard.”

As Mrs. Jan Jarrard, president of the Council of Garden Clubs, ex-
plained it: “A brick courtyard will be created behind the courthouse and
here a quiet garden featuring an old fountain is planned.” The cast iron
drinking fountain, originally located in courthouse square, had been given
to the Society by Mrs. Burton Deaver. According to Fletcher, the Board
approved the relocation “enthusiastically” and by a unanimous vote donated
the fountain. The Board felt the project was “an important public under-
taking.”164

At the time volume VIII of the Proceedings appeared, the Society had a
surplus of volumes VI and VII that it was eager to dispose of. Insisting that
the Proceedings were “a very important function of the Society,” the Board

163. Fletcher to Heffelfinger, February 2, 1980, RHS Archives; Minutes, June 3,
July 28, 1980.

164. Don Austin to Fletcher, March 5, 1980, Fletcher to Don Austin, April 7,
1980, RHS Archives; News-Gazette, March 19, 1980; Minutes, April 5, 1980; News-
Notes, April 1980.
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decided to sell a package of the last three volumes for the “bargain price” of
$10.00 plus postage.!65

Collection of dues was becoming a perennial problem by 1980. The
treasurer informed the Board in the spring “that many members had not
paid their dues, and he asked Mr. Keefe to urge them to do so in the next
News-Notes. Keefe put it on the line:

Dues. Our constant headache. It is difficult—it is impossible in practical
terms—for the Society repeatedly to badger people for dues. . . . An organi-
zation whose membership cost is just $3.50 a year and which has no staff, only
volunteer help, cannot, for reasons of time and money alike, undertake a
sophisticated invoicing plan.

As of the beginning of June, 156 people—more than a quarter of our
membership—hadn’t paid dues, despite the electric orange reminder enclosed
with the last newsletter. Technically we are supposed to take off our member-
ship roster anyone who is delinquent as of July 1.

Even this appeal did not solve the problem. A year later, the treasurer
said: “We have 500 members on the rolls! That’s great news. The bad part is
that 313 are delinquent in their 1981 dues.” In another three months nearly
half had still not paid. Another year went by and President Fletcher asked
the Board what should be done with 154 delinquent members. The Board
voted to drop those who had not paid for the previous year (1981).166

President Fletcher deemed it important that the Society determine its
“proper purposes and practices.” To get this information, he arranged two
informal planning sessions in October. At the first meeting, attended by
fourteen people, a number of goals were suggested: that the museum in the
Campbell House have two exhibit rooms—one on the history of the com-
munity and the other for special exhibits; that the librarians at the colleges
be asked to review the library collection and that the Society have the
valuable books appraised; that a collector be secured for the archives who
could stimulate the collection of papers and documents; that steps be taken
to preserve the records in the courthouse basement; that an inventory be
made of the Society’s buildings; that in genealogy photocopies be made of
the list of Revolutionary War participants; and that a list of markers in
place be compiled.

At a second meeting three days later it was suggested that the museum
limit the scope of its exhibits to the early days of county history, and that
the library keep the books that were useful and barter the duplicates. Also,
it was suggested that the Society sell reprints of individual papers. Fletcher

165. Minutes, April 5, 1980; News-Notes, April 1980.

166. Minutes, April 5, 1980, June 29, 1981, July 1, 1982, News-Notes, July 1980,
April 1981.
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reported to the Board what had been proposed and said the information
would be printed in the News- Notes.6

The Society rewarded Richard Fletcher for all his hard work by reelect-
ing him for another two-year term as president. The only significant change
among officers was the election of Mrs. Edwin (Louise) Dooley as record-
ing secretary. Fletcher notified all living past presidents that they were
members of the Executive Committee. “All of you are both wanted and
needed,” he wrote. “You will receive notices of Executive Committee meet-
ings. Please attend and participate.” He told the Board that past presidents
were “automatically ex-officio members” and that at that time seven past
presidents were “effectively active.” Succeeding presidents continued this
practice of inviting former presidents.

In his appointments Fletcher chose Pamela Simpson to be editor of
News-Notes to replace Robert Keefe who was moving to Cleveland, Ohio.
She edited and published this quarterly newsletter through the January
1983 edition (after which Larry Bland took over). Mrs. P. L. Paxton, who
had worked so diligently in recruiting members over many years, was given
emeritus status. The new membership committee had representatives from
Lexington, Buena Vista, and Brownsburg,.!68

Some of the projects planned in 1980 bore fruit the next year. The
Society, cooperating with APVA, sponsored a talk by Edwin L. Dooley, Jr.,
on “Identification and Preservation of Historical Photographs.” Also, it
was announced that Robert Weaver had agreed to serve as chairman of a
committee “to assist the county clerk in the preservation and appropriate
filing of old county records.”

The plan of having the summer meeting in a rural community was
continued in 1981. Some 125 members and guests attended the meeting at
the Collierstown Presbyterian Church where they feasted on “a truly out-
standing family style chicken and country ham dinner.” Five residents “told
the Collierstown story.”

In the fall the Town and Country Garden Club made a generous contri-
bution to the Society of $2,000 from its Antique Show for landscaping the
front of the Sloan House.

After Mrs. Alexander told the board that she had hired a man to clean
up the McDowell Cemetery, which had graves dating as far back as the
1740s, the Board voted “that the RHS approve in principle the mainte-
nance of the cemetery.”

167. News-Notes, October, 1980, Planning Session Ideas, October 21, 24, 1980,
RHS Archives; Minutes, October 27, 1980.

168. Minutes, October 27, November 25, 1980; Fletcher to past presidents,
November 18, 1980.
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As the year drew to a close the new Alcoholic Beverage Commission
store attracted the Society’s attention. Some members felt it was “inap-
propriate” to have portraits of non-drinkers Generals Lee and Jackson in
the store. President Fletcher said that he would investigate the matter and
later he reported progress was being made.!69

The question of incorporation remained unresolved, although in June
1980 Mr. Chapman told the Board “that he felt the Society should be
incorporated.” Nine months later the Board passed a motion “that Presi-
dent Fletcher be authorized and directed to write articles of incorporation”
and mail copies of the articles to Board members for comment. But the
process was not completed at that time.!7

Over the years there had been much discussion about the Proceedings
with reference to delays in publishing, costs, the number of copies to be
printed, and the number of years to be embraced in each issue. The number
of copies printed had risen sharply over the years, as had the cost per copy.
As publication fell further behind, it became harder and harder to catch up.

As soon as volume VIII (1970-74) was published, Larry Bland and
Sharon Ritenour, his co-editor, began work on volume IX (1975-79). As
time passed, it became increasingly difficult to locate old papers for the
Proceedings and Bland believed, as had the editors in the early days, that
the Proceedings should be published every two years. As President Fletcher
said, the publication of volume IX would end an embarrassing “ten-year
hiatus in the publication schedule.”

To overcome the problem of oversupply and storage, only eight hundred
copies were to be printed. To facilitate the Society’s publishing efforts,
Fletcher appointed a Publications Committee, including all former and
present editors, with Bland as chairman. The committee had a two-fold
function: to consider all proposals for Society publications, and to provide
assistance to the editors when needed. Flyers on volume IX, published in
1982, were mailed to potential buyers.!”!

As Richard Fletcher completed his four years in office, a number of
things were happening. Charles Turner said “he was starting an oral history
project” of interviewing some old residents of the community. Further-
more, the newspapers in the Society’s possession were moved to the W&L
library. Fletcher reminded members that the Virginia State Library was
microfilming the Rockbridge County News. It was fitting that the last

169. Minutes, March 26, July 27, September 30, December 17, 1981; News-Notes,
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meeting of the Fletcher regime should be in the capacious new W&L
library and that the program should consist of papers by Edwin Dooley
and Barbara Crawford on work they were doing with nineteenth-century
business ledgers.

The slate of the nominating committee was accepted with Pamela Simp-
son named president; Mrs. Willard (Peggy) Hays, secretary; and Mrs.
Maurice (Virginia) Leach, treasurer. Dr. Simpson was the first woman to
be president in twenty years.!’2 Mrs. Fred (Winifred) Hadsel, who had
been president of the APVA, was appointed program chairman.

During Simpson’s first year as president, a number of things happened
but there was no compelling issue. An interesting event was the transplant-
ing of the Great Grandfather Tree at the Campbell House by Jay Gilliam.
It was Robert Weaver’s dream come true. As Richard Fletcher wrote to
Weaver: “Had it not been for your foresight and skill in nurturing a succes-
sor from nut to seedling to small tree over a period of six or eight years,
and for your persistence in seeing the project through to completion with
the planting on the Campbell House grounds, a valued tradition and an
interesting reminder of the past would have been lost.” Earlier it was
reported that Weaver had been raising seedlings from horse chestnuts,
descendants of the “spreading chestnut” made famous by Longfellow.

Late in March the Society learned that the attractive sign at the Camp-
bell House, of which the Society was so proud, had been vandalized. Also,
the Board, hearing that Thurman Dale, who had taken care of the Socie-
ty’s property for several years, was moving away, passed a resolution of
appreciation.!73

Winifred Hadsel proved to be a dynamo as program chairman, announc-
ing a series of programs on county history. Also, she volunteered to head a
committee that would examine the origin of the street names in Lexington.
The project was approved but no committee was appointed. As she recalled
later, the purpose was to “research the historical background of the street
names of Lexington with a view to publishing a field guide on the
subject.”174

Among other activities was the sponsoring of a meeting with the Vir-
ginia Canals and Navigation Society on May 21-22. The very next day the
Society sponsored the showing of a television film, “A Bond of Iron,”
portraying the relationship of a slave and his master. The significance to
the Society was that it was filmed at Pat Brady’s home at Buffalo Forge.

172. Minutes, October 25, 1982.

173. Minutes, December 21, 1982, March 31, 1983; Fletcher to Gilliam, January
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The Society also began to show interest in environmental problems and
at Jim Loesel’s request, the Board passed a resolution backing “the Wil-
derness area designations for Rich Hole and Thunder Ridge.” This new
interest was expressed by President Simpson when she wrote to the Senate
Agriculture Committee in support of the Rich Hole bill: ”We enthusiasti-
cally support the designation. While our normal concerns are with ‘man-
made’ history, we are nonetheless, deeply aware of our ‘natural history’ and
applaud your efforts.”

Still another activity was cooperation with the University of Virginia on
a project that included locating small community and family cemeteries in
Rockbridge County. Carmen Clark, who was the Society’s representative,
appealed for help in this at the summer meeting. Three months later she
said that sixteen cemeteries had been reported to the University of Virginia
for the survey and that “the Society would like a survey of all Rockbridge
cemeteries with their size and names for our files.”

Of course, a primary aim of the Society was the preserving of docu-
ments. Therefore, it was satisfying to hear from Richard W. Oram, refer-
ence and special collections librarian at W&L, that the recataloguing of the
Society’s manuscripts recently moved to the library was complete. Oram
paid tribute to others, noting that “the rapid completion of this project was
in no small part due to the exertion of Dr. W. W. Pusey.” Moreover, he
wrote, “the collections would not be here in the first place were it not for
Dr. Turner’s diligent collection of local historical materials.”

The Board decided to move the “documents and pictures remaining at
the Campbell House” to the W&L Archives “for professional storage and
cataloguing.” Framed items were to be removed from their frames and all
materials were to be placed in acid-free folders. Further progress was
apparent when Dr. Turner announced that Rockbridge County “deeds,
wills, and other records” had been microfilmed and would soon be stored
in the Special Collections Room at the college for public use. Dr. Turner
was still pursuing oral history and in October 1983 he said he had about
fifty tapes.!’s

The summer picnic at “Mulberry Hill” on July 23, 1984, was mem-
orable. A record turnout of 170 members and guests ate “fried chicken and
a variety of salads catered by Bessie Nicholas” before hearing Fitzhugh
Brundage speak on “A Social Vision of Slavery in Antebellum Rockbridge
County.” People had a chance to tour the historic house and departed “as
the first hints of a July summer shower were felt.” The chiggers were

175. Minutes, March 31, June 27, July 25, September 28, October 24, 1983;
News-Notes, April 1983; Oram to Simpson, August 24, 1983; Simpson to Senate
Agriculture Committee, July 10, 1984, RHS Archives.
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especially active that night as many members discovered when they started
scratching a little later.!76

The strong interest the Society had in preservation and restoration was
shown in a letter President Simpson wrote supporting Lexington’s applica-
tion for designation as one of five “Main Street Cities” in Virginia; “the
preservation of historic downtown Lexington is of vital interest to us,” she
wrote. “The integrity, quality, and sheer number of significant 19th century
buildings surviving in the community make us unique. Like no other Valley
town, Lexington preserves a character of the 19th century.”!7?

A milestone was reached in September 1984 when Richard Fletcher
resigned as chairman of the House and Property Committee. All properties
were rented by “good tenants” and “The Castle” had undergone “extensive
renovation.” Bill Stearns, a Lexington realtor who had recently come on
the Board, agreed to take over the chairmanship of the committee, but
Fletcher agreed to remain a member of it.!78

At his first Board meeting after he became chairman of the House and
Property Committee, Stearns explained why the Society’s tax bill had
increased nearly $700 over the previous year. It was because the three
houses had been appraised and their value increased substantially, as
follows:

Campbell House $32,800 to $62,400
The Castle 35,000 to 56,000
Sloan House 35,000 to 52,500

The Board passed a motion “to study the rental properties” with a view
to “expansion of rental space in the Campbell House and the revision of
rental rates.” The point was made “that the Society had been given these
properties in order that rents received from them might support the Socie-
ty’s programs and not vice versa.”!7

Early in 1985 Larry Bland announced that Winifred Hadsel’s The
Streets of Lexington would cost approximately $6,000 to publish and
would sell for $9.95 per copy. He recommended that seven hundred copies
be printed. Mrs. Hadsel gave much credit to Larry Bland for typesetting,
map-making, editorial assistance, and compilation of an index. Further-
more, she praised Jeanne Pedersen of the Marshall Foundation for design-
ing the attractive cover and arranging the lay-out.

The book was launched in DuPont Hall at Washington and Lee at the
April 1985 meeting with a talk by the author. As background there was a

176. Minutes, July 23, 1984.
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display which consisted “of the more than seventy portraits Hadsel had
located and collected.” The poster advertising the display “was a collage of
photographs Hadsel had taken of the portraits in her book and arranged in
the same fashion that Lexington photographer Michael Miley had used a
century before to display his studio’s portraits.” The book became a best
seller and in six months the Society voted to print an additional five
hundred copies for $3,400.!80

Winifred Hadsel, who, in her words, was eager to “consolidate” the
membership of the Society at about five hundred, was made chairman for
such a campaign in the fall of 1985.

At the same meeting this action was taken, the Board decided to take a
booth at the annual Rockbridge Festival with Peggy Hays in charge.!8! As
the Rockbridge Festival became a popular community activity arousing
ever wider participation, RHS played a vital role. News-Notes of October
1985 noted that the Society had its own “very successful booth.” Pamela
Simpson and Winifred Hadsel saw the festival as a way of “increasing
public awareness of the Society.” Statistically the participation was a suc-
cess, for twenty-two people became members and $280 was earned from
selling publications. According to the report, Peggy Hays “coordinated the
dedicated crew of volunteers, all of whom appeared as scheduled in defiance
of ever-threatening rainclouds.”

Charles Turner continued to report important acquisitions, including
the papers of Miss Lucy Ackerly and those of the Lexington chapter of the
United Daughters of the Confederacy. By this time he had collected more
than three hundred tapes for his oral history project, and as genealogist he
had answered more than forty letters since returning from summer
vacation.!82

The months slipped by too fast and in the fall of 1984 no nominating
committee was appointed. To correct this oversight, the Society in October
1985 reelected all officers for a one-year term.!83

As in recent years, the January meeting in 1986 was held at Southern
Seminary, where for nine dollars members got a splendid dinner. Getting
away from the usual paper on an historical subject, the program was the
presentation of “Two Centuries of Dance in Rockbridge County.” James
E. Morrison spoke while four couples demonstrated different dance steps
to his fiddle accompaniment.

180. Minutes, December 11, 1984, February 2, April 4, October 1, 1985; News-
Notes, April 1985; written memorandum from Winifred Hadsel to the writer.
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Winifred Hadsel arranged in 1986 for a series of open houses at the
Campbell House at which the Society’s artifacts were displayed. She has
described the building as “a remarkably intact mid-nineteenth century
house.” The first open house was in April and the second in July. Guides
were present “to explain the exhibits, answer questions, and sell Society
publications.” These open houses were the first at the Campbell House in
eight years and proved so successful that Hadsel opened the Campbell
House again in December as a part of the Virginia House Tour sponsored
by the Lexington Garden Club.!84

In March 1986 the membership totalled 497, including 62 Life Members.
In News-Notes readers were reminded that they could become Life
Members at the “incredibly cheap rate of $100.”

184. News-Notes, April, October 1986.

The Society’s immediate past president Pamela Simpson (left) and new pres-
ident Winifred Hadsel (right) examine one of Kurt Russ’s exhibits following
his discussion of pottery manufacturers in Rockbridge and Botetourt counties
at the winter dinner meeting at Southern Seminary, January 26, 1987.
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An old tradition: one of the Society’s summer picnic meetings. Members are
shown at the home of B. McCluer and Mary Stuart Gilliam in Rockbridge
Baths, July 25, 1988.

The Rockbridge Bicentennial Quilt, that had been turned over to the
Society at the conclusion of the Bicentennial, continued to be popular. In
1986 it was lent to the Natural Bridge Baptist Church in July and to the
Rockbridge Mountain Music and Dance Convention in September.

Looking to the future, the Board decided that for its fiftieth anniversary
or semi-centennial in 1989 the Society should publish volume X of the
Proceedings, to include papers for the nine years preceding and a cumula-
tive index of the volumes.!85

As the Society increasingly shifted its main interest from the collection
and preservation of documents to the preservation of buildings, some
members of the Board became alarmed when they heard that VMI intended
to move the historic Pendleton-Coles House and raze two other buildings
on Letcher Avenue in order to build a new science hall. Consequently,
President Simpson wrote to General Sam Walker, the VMI superintend-
ent, saying that the Society was “very concerned about the preservation of
these structures.” The Society was, she wrote, “opposed to the idea of

185. News-Notes, July 1986.

Proceedings X (1980-89) 71



George M. Brooke, Jr.

destroying these houses and moving the Pendleton-Coles house.” She
added that the Society “would very much like to be kept informed of
VMI’s plans if at all possible.”

The new building was desperately needed at the Institute and physical
constraints severely limited its options. The Society was kept informed and
a number of high-level meetings were held, but VMI carried out its plan
while preserving the Pendleton-Coles House.!86

When Pamela Simpson and the other officers had completed four years
in office, the nominating committee brought in a new slate. Winifred Had-
sel was elected president; John R. Kateley, treasurer, and Alta Fowler,
secretary. Virginia Leach was appointed membership chairman and Pam-
ela Simpson, program chairman.

Mrs. Hadsel began her regime with tremendous enthusiasm. She was
eager finally to secure federal tax-exempt status for the Society as a private
foundation, a goal often discussed but not yet achieved. Among other
things this involved, as noted earlier, the revision of the constitution and
by-laws. Also, she worked to put the Campbell House in its best condition
ever so when 1989 arrived, the Society could celebrate its semicentennial
properly. To prepare for the semicentennial, elaborate plans were made.

To revise the constitution and by-laws, a committee of three past presi-
dents was appointed; Colonel George M. Brooke, Jr., Colonel B. McCluer
Gilliam, and General John S. Letcher. The revision was worded so that the
Society would conform to the requirements of the Internal Revenue Code
and be incorporated as a private organization.

While the committee was at work, it decided to simplify the by-laws by
reducing the number of vice presidents from seven to one and abolishing a
number of committees that had long been inactive. At the same time some
changes in practice that had evolved over the years were included in the
revised document.

The strenuous efforts to be incorporated in compliance with 501-c-3 of
the IRS Code finally achieved success in 1988. The significance of this,
according to President Hadsel, was that now “the Society may assure
donors that their contributions may be listed among their tax-deductible
contributions” and that the Society’s officers and trustees are given
“immunity from civil liability for damages resulting from actions taken by
them on behalf of the organization in which they serve.”

The Society properties were put in good condition. As was recorded in
News-Notes, President Hadsel led “a drive to modernize the Campbell

186. Pamela Simpson to General Walker, January 13, 1986, RHS Archives.
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House’s heating and electrical systems and to eliminate certain safety prob-
lems there in order to preserve the historic structure for the Society’s future
benefit.” The treasurer, John Kateley, in April 1987 “took over manage-
ment of the Society’s properties” as property manager, while Bill Stearns
agreed to continue to serve as the Society’s rent negotiator.

As early as April 1987 plans were being made for the semicentennial.
According to President Hadsel this was to be “a means of reaffirming the
Society’s purposes and improving its performance as an organization dedi-
cated to the increase and dissemination of knowledge of Rockbridge
County history.” George Brooke agreed to write the history of the Society
and Charles Turner to prepare an article “on the Society’s role in genealog-
ical research.” These articles were scheduled to appear in the special anni-
versary edition of the Proceedings.

Also, George Brooke was asked to form a steering committee to make
plans for the big year. He picked some fifteen people who represented a
cross-section of community leaders. This group, plus the president as an
ex-officio member, held three meetings in 1988 at which a number of
projects were discussed and adopted. Included were the preparation of a
special anniversary calendar by Mrs. John Lee (Margery) Couper, a drive
to collect documents in the community to be led by Pat Brady, special
exhibits on Rockbridge history to be organized by Mrs. Peggy Hays for
display in local banks, the preparation of a guide to the Society’s historical
documents by Mrs. Betty Kondayan, a policy statement for the acquisition
of documents by Royster Lyle, a policy statement on the acquisition of
artifacts by Kurt Russ, and a display of the work of local artists under the
direction of Mrs. Georgiana Brush. These events and others mark a fitting
climax to the Society’s first fifty years of serving the Rockbridge com-
munity. :

Also, in a detailed written memorandum to the author, President Had-
sel reminded him for the record that under her leadership the planning for
1989 did not, in her words, prevent 1988

from being a fruitful year for the Society. Programs of outstanding interest
were provided by the well-known folk singer Mike Seeger, on the traditional
music of the Valley; by Pat Brady on “lost” communities in the County; a
panel of speakers on “Old Times at Rockbridge Baths”; and a lecture on “The
Rewards and Pleasures of Local History,” by David Vaisey, Bodley’s Librar-
ian at Oxford University.

The annual summer festival display, manned by a number of volunteers on
a day of record-breaking heat, was unusually successful in that it sold $1,300
worth of Society publications (including a large number of the 1989 Anniver-
sary calendars).
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Above all, the Society made good use of its headquarters in the Campbell
House by keeping Open House there during morning hours each week-day
from April 1 to October 1, with Charles Turner acting as host. During the six
months the Campbell House was open, it attracted more than a thousand
visitors from all over the country and a few from abroad. In order to make the
summer opening possible, the exterior of the Campbell House had been
freshly painted and repaired during the spring, and its grounds and parking
area had been put into good order. Throughout the unusually warm summer
months many office workers and visitors enjoyed the pleasant shady garden
behind the Campbell House. In all respects, therefore, it appeared that Leslie
Lyle Campbell’s generous bequest of a quarter of a century before had given
the Society the “home” he had intended to bestow on it in order to help it
carry out its purpose of generating interest in and enjoyment of Rockbridge
County history.

At the end of 1988 the Society had 537 members (471 Annual and 66 Life).
Moreover, the organization had, thanks to the improved management of its
properties and the board’s supervision of expenditures, sufficient assets ear-
marked for its anticipated Fiftieth Anniversary activities.

Winifred Hadsel’s zealous efforts guaranteed that the nominating com-
mittee would name her for a second term as president and that she would
be reelected. Colonel Robert F. Hunter, professor of history emeritus at
VMI, was elected to serve as the single vice president provided for under
the revised by-laws. With this team the Society entered its second half-

century.
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The Architecture of Rockbridge County,
Chapter 1; Or,
How Does a House Mean?

Pamela H. Simpson

k)HEN Royster Lyle and 1 wrote The Architecture of Historic

Lexington, we tried to tell not only the history of the town and

the two colleges but also to fit their architectural forms into the
larger context of American building. We showed how local buildings dis-
played a chronological development through various revival styles and
tried to demonstrate what those styles meant to the people who used them.
For example, the Colonnade at Washington and Lee clearly was Classical
and Greek Revival in style and reflected the nineteenth century ideal of
association—where one style was appropriate for a building because of the
ideas it suggested. Here Classical Greece, its achievement in culture, learn-
ing, philosophy, and pedagogy, was appropriate for a modern school dedi-
cated to the classical system of learning. Or, the Gothic style was appropriate
for VMI because of associations with Gothic military fortifications as well

Pamela H. Simpson, a member of the Washington and Lee University fine arts faculty
since 1973, was associate professor of art history at the time her paper was given. She is
co-author of The Architecture of Historic Lexington (with Royster Lyle, Jr.), and prior
to her presentation, she was awarded an Award of Merit for the book by the American
Association for State and Local History. She spoke to the Society in Evans Dining Hall
at W&L on January 18, 1980.
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as the great English colleges of Oxford and Cambridge. Both associations
are combined for a modern military school. We showed how one style
succeeded another as the century went on and talked about the Roman-
esque, the Italianate and other Revival forms.

This approach seemed appropriate for Lexington and it was consistent
with the way I was trained as an art historian. But when we moved our
attention to volume II and considered the architecture of Rockbridge
County, we had a problem. Certainly, many buildings in the county still fit
into these stylistic pigeonholes and reflected the same chronological devel-
opment as those in the town. But the majority of buildings we encountered
did not. In fact we did not know what to do when confronted by buildings
such as the log cabin at Beans Bottom or a frame house near Raps Mill.
Standard American architectural books proved of little value. Although
the seventeenth century was treated in these books in its vernacular mani-
festations (when nothing else existed to treat), once the high-style band-
wagon got underway in the eighteenth century, vernacular forms were
ignored.

To study vernacular forms, we found it necessary to turn to non-art-
historical fields—to anthropology, folklore, and cultural geography. Since
the 1960s a number of people in these fields have done what the art
historian was not interested in doing—they studied common buildings.
Probably the most valuable work of all was done by Fred Kniffen, a
cultural geographer, and Henry Glassie, folklorist and head of the Depart-
ment of Folklore and Folklife at the University of Pennsylvania. Although
their work, and the work of their followers, is often burdened with scien-
tific language, they do present a methodology for the study of vernacular
buildings.

When Royster and 1 had considered the architecture of Lexington we
had focused on decorative features: columns, moldings, porches, roof lines.
When we began to study the county and found those decorative elements
minimal, we focused on material construction—grouping buildings as to
log, stone, or frame. But our reading in the new field of vernacular architec-
ture suggested that we should have been looking at the floor plans. For the
anthropologist the primary consideration was plan type, the general nature
of the structure—its shape, room arrangement, and balance. This was the
most fundamental feature of the house and reflected most clearly how
people ordered their lives and thought about themselves in relation to their
society. A secondary consideration was construction material, exact size,
fenestration, and building techniques. Only at a third level were decorative
features considered. This separation of plan type from decorative details
was the first and most important lesson for us as we began our investiga-
tion of Rockbridge County’s houses.
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Figure 1. German three-room Kuchenhaus.

Figure 2. Hall- Parlor.

The area that is today Rockbridge County was settled in the late 1730s
and 40s largely by Scotch-Irish immigrants who moved through Pennsyl-
vania and into the Valley. They bypassed the large German settlements to
the north and settled so thickly here, that on eighteenth-century maps the
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Figure 3. Rectangular two-room
with one chimney.

Figure 4. Three-room “Quaker Plan.”

area is referred to as the “Irish Tract.” There was also a minority of English
settlers throughout the Valley and by the late eighteenth century they were
coming to this area from eastern Virginia across the Blue Ridge. While the
English were a minority, they were always so convinced of their own
cultural superiority that their influence was greater than their numbers
would indicate.
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Plan types of eighteenth-century houses still extant in the Valley clearly
reflect these three ethnic groups. In the northern part of the Valley, where
German settlement was strong, a house type called the Flurkuchenhaus
dominated. It is a three-room house form with a central chimney. It has an
axial Kuchen, a wide Stube, and a narrow Kammer. It was usually two
stories high, two bays wide, and often had a vaulted cellar and was built
into the side of a hill.

A second house type is represented by the English hall-parlor plan. It is
found all over the colonies and in eastern Virginia as well as the Valley. It is
two rooms with two end chimneys, usually three bays wide and either a
story and a half or two in height.

A third type of house, usually associated with the Scotch-Irish, was a
rectangular form with one exterior chimney heating a large room and a
partition sectioning off a smaller room. It usually had opposing front and
back doors, had three bays and was a story and a half tall.

There is also a fourth type, a three-room plan common in the eighteenth
century and one that was frequently used by the Scotch-Irish, but it was
also well known to the English. In fact, a description of the three-room
house type was suggested by William Penn for his settlers in Philadelphia.
Because of this it is sometimes called the Quaker Plan, but it seems to have
been known to other groups as well. The three-room plan is similar to the
German Flurkuchenhaus but the chimneys are on the end walls and the
one serving the two smaller rooms frequently had diagonally placed fire-
places feeding into one stack.

Of these four eighteenth century house types, only the last three are
represented in Rockbridge County. The English hall-parlor plan is abund-
ant and can be found in stone, brick, frame, and even log. The plan type is
primary, the material used to build it is secondary. I do not mean to
indicate that when you see this two-room plan you are automatically look-
ing at an eighteenth-century house, however. The plan is an eighteenth-
century form but development of domestic architecture is a process of
accumulation, not replacement. The house type survived well into the
nineteenth century, though after 1800 it was usually found in smaller or
more conservative structures.

The Scotch-Irish rectangular form is also well represented in the county,
but it is usually found in log buildings. This is an interesting fact, for while
the plan type is Scotch-Irish, the building material and techniques are not.
The Scotch-Irish did not know log building in Northern Ireland; there they
built in stone. But in the New World they settled first in Pennsylvania with
German neighbors. The squared log, corner notched form was a Continen-
tal tradition brought to this country by the Germans. The Scotch-Irish
were always quick to pick up on a good thing when they saw it, so they
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borrowed the building technique and adapted it to their own purposes. But
they kept the plan type they knew. Again, it was a plan that was fundamen-
tal to their thinking of what a house should be; material construction was
secondary, so it could be borrowed when it proved its superiority. This is a
process that anthropologists call acculturation. The Scotch-Irish, moreover,
not only kept the room arrangement and the shape and balance of their
ethnic traditions when using the new material, they also frequently white-
washed the whole structure inside and out. The effect of this was to reduce
the visual awareness of the log construction and make the house look more
like the whitewashed, stucco covered stone buildings they knew in North-
ern Ireland.

The Scotch-Irish rectangular form was probably the dominant house
type in Rockbridge County in the eighteenth century and it continued to
survive through the nineteenth century as well, though in smaller, humbler
structures, especially in those built by people of limited economic means.

The German Flurkuchenhaus does not appear in the county—or at least
I have not found it yet. The major reason is undoubtedly the lack of
German settlers in the eighteenth century in the Upper Valley.

The use of the three-room plan is complicated by the fact that while it
was known to both the English and the Scotch-Irish in the eighteenth
century, there is evidence in Augusta County of the German Flurkuchen-
hauses moving their chimneys to the outside walls and thus, by accultura-
tion, taking on much the same appearance as the Anglo form. The cross-
cultural and the ambiguous precedents of the three-room plan type warn us
that the search for ethnic origins for these eighteenth-century house types
has to be conducted with caution, for by the end of the eighteen century
house plans had been cut loose from their ethnic base and become Ameri-
can house types that would be used by the Scotch-Irish, English, German,
or whatever ethnic mixture the builder and building represented.

In the late eighteenth and early nineteenth centuries a profound change
occurred in house-plan types with the introduction of Georgian models.
The four house types I have just discussed (the hall-parlor, the Scotch-Irish
rectangle, the German Flurkuchenhaus, the three-room plan) were late-
medieval forms that allowed entry directly into the heart of the house. But
the new Georgian plans were Renaissance forms—forms that intellectual-
ized the house and called for reasoned symmetry. The most dramatic
change was the introduction of the hall. No longer was entry directly into
the house; now there was a way-station, a separation from visitor and
visited, a new privacy.

Traditional art historians recording this change have characterized the
earlier forms as pioneer hovels thrown up for protection against the wil-
derness and replaced by more dignified buildings as soon as economic
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control and contact with style-setting urban centers permitted it. The
anthropologist’s view of the change is that changes in plan type reflect
social distinction, not physical need. When society reached a point where
most of the members of a community no longer intimately knew each
other, there was a reason to adapt a new house form. The house now
became a means of establishing identity and the identity in the late eigh-
teenth and early nineteenth centuries in America was no longer an ethnic
one; it was a national one. The need to see themselves as Americans, not as
Scotch-Irish or German, led the people to accept the dominant English
cultural types. Thus late in the eighteenth century and early nineteenth
century, the introduction of Georgian-plan types revolutionized domestic
architecture in the Valley by increasing the options.

The new forms were English: regular, symmetrical, with a central pas-
sage. The double pile 4-over-4 was most ambitious, but it had its variation
in a two-thirds 4-over-4 and in the I-House—a single-pile version. While
there is an obvious geometric relationship between these types, it would be
a mistake to assume that the two-thirds 4-over-4 or the I-House were
simply poorer versions of the double-pile ideal. That does not seem to be
the case. Instead, families of financial status capable of building the 4-over-
4 version repeatedly chose the smaller forms. The reason was not limitation
of means but conscious choice. Why? Because the two-thirds 4-over-4 and
the I-forms kept the room arrangement essentially as it always had been.
The only thing new was the central passage—the element that gave more
privacy to the house and reflected the new complicated society. None of
the eighteenth-century plan types had had four rooms and people in the
late eighteenth and early nineteenth centuries had no place in their intellec-
tual construct of a house for that fourth room. A colleague of mine,
working in eastern Virginia, has found that in probate inventories there
were definite names for the first two rooms, and later for a third room, but
they had no name for the fourth room when the 4-over-4 plan appeared.

All of these Renaissance-plan types are represented in Rockbridge
County. The 4-over-4 does appear, but out of the nearly three hundred
houses I have surveyed, I have found only thirty-two, and none of the ones
before 1840 has the clear equal divisions you see in Figure 5. The two-
thirds 4-over-4 seems to have been particularly popular in town houses and
is found abundantly in Fairfield and Brownsburg. The I-house was by far
the most popular, however. It can be found in frame, brick, stone, and log,
but the majority of surviving examples are brick. The reason for this is not
that the majority of I-houses originally built were in brick, but rather that
the brick tended to survive. Moreover, they survived because the brick
I-house represented the mansion of the Valley. The use of brick was part of
the distinctiveness of the new house. It represented economic achievement
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Figure 5. Figure 6.
Double pile 4 over 4. Two-thirds 4 over 4.
Figure 7. Figure 8.

“I” house. Two-thirds “I”’ house.

Georgian Plan Types

and prestige. The further one got from natural materials—the more man-
made they were—the more they represented mastery over nature, distance
from the frontier, and achievement of control. Stone and log became, in
turn, old-fashioned and survived in poorer, smaller structures.

So far I have shown how the eighteenth century two-room English and
Scotch-Irish plans were transformed by new Georgian ideals in the late
eighteenth and early nineteenth centuries. But what about the three-room
plan? The same thing happened to it—a central passage was introduced.
Houses such as Halfway House have the same arrangement as the so-called
Quaker Plan, but now there is a hallway. This is further evidence of the
rejection of the 4-over-4 double pile as well. There was only room for three
rooms in the traditional image of the house. Even the use of the diagonal
fireplaces makes the house look like a single pile on the exterior. Another

84 Rockbridge Historical Society



Architecture of Rockbridge County

Halfway House.

variation on the inclusion of three rooms was the popularity of the I-form
with a one-room ell. Again you have three rooms, but now with the central
hall.

Now that we have considered plan type and construction materials, we
can turn our attention to decorative details, and here we have further
evidence of the acceptance of a popular standard with acculturated modifi-
cations. The chief decorative areas are the fireplace mantels and the stair-
ways. Forms such as these were copied out of pattern books but rarely does
one find an exact counterpart. Particularly in the early nineteenth century
these fashionable motifs were assimilated without full acceptance of the
aesthetic that underlies them. It is a mistake though to see these as the
products of naive or untutored craftsmen. Instead, we have here another
example of acculturation. The craftsman imposed his own aesthetic on the
popular form. This is probably what Owen Biddle was complaining about
in his Young Carpenters Assistant, published in 1818. In his commentary
accompanying an Adamesque mantel, he advised the carpenter not to
“cover his work with unmeaning holes and cutting of the gouge,” not to
“overload the work.” But this overloading, the provincial manifestation of
high-style forms, represents a meaninful cultural adaptation of those forms.
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Pattern books were the primary means by which high-style architecture
found its presentation in rural areas in the nineteenth century. These influ-
ences continued throughout the nineteenth century and by mid-century,
with Downing’s publications, they became dominant. But if one looks
underneath the picturesque facades and Gothic details, one still finds the
familiar plan types. An indication of the persistence of tradition is that
Downing’s most popular house plan was an I-house; it fit most closely with
what the people knew.

The house-plan type then is the most enduring and fundamental feature
of vernacular and provincial buildings. Decorative forms such as Greek or
Gothic mantels could come or go, but the plan types, once established,
remained the same. Thus we can see the I-house plan used in examples that
are Neoclassical, Italianate, Gothic, and finally vernacular. In contrast to
the traditional art-historical approach of successive styles, the picture that
emerges from a study of vernacular building is one of conservatism. Just as
the Scotch-Irish builder might use stone or log for his building material but
clung to the essential feature of room arrangement, the typical nineteenth
century builder might ornament his house with the superficial aspects of
current style, but kept the same what was fundamental to his way of
life—his house plan type. Art historians will probably continue to study
architecture in terms of its high-style manifestations and perhaps rightly,
for a period deserves to be known by its most sophisticated productions.
But to ignore the common building is to ignore the majority of buildings
and the result is a topsided view of history. The important story of what
happened in Rockbridge County is not the story of successive styles; it is
the story of conservatism and tradition told by ordinary buildings. And in
understanding that story of our past we may even find help in understand-
ing our present.
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George M. Brooke, Jr.

HE end of the Civil War brought about a considerable population
% “shift as the veterans sought employment. That John Mercer

AL Brooke, the late chief of ordnance and hydrography of the Con-
federate Navy, should move to Lexington in 1865 was not as surprising as
that he should remain there the rest of his life. Though only thirty-eight at
the end of the war, the most significant part of his life lay behind him. In
studying his career, one usually emphasizes the period that ended at
Appomattox; of necessity, the later years are brushed over quickly. But
Brooke’s forty-one years in Lexington would qualify him as a native—at
least by adoption—and that is what I shall emphasize here.

Born in 1826 at an army post on the site of present-day Tampa, Florida,
John Brooke was the son of George Mercer Brooke, a Virginian, and Lucy
Thomas of Duxbury, Massachusetts. The older Brooke, a professional
army officer, was brevetted twice for gallantry in the War of 1812. Rising to
the rank of brevet major general, he died in 1851 as commander of the
Department of Texas. Young John Brooke, after life at a succession of
army camps, was in 1841 appointed a midshipman in the United States
Navy; he was fourteen years old. There followed a series of routine cruises,

George M. Brooke, Jr., had been a member of the History Department at the Virginia
Military Institute since 1948 at the time of his presentation, which coincided with the
publication by the University Press of Virginia of his biography of his grandfather,
John M. Brooke: Naval Scientist and Educator. He spoke in the auditorium of Brooke
Hall at VMI on April 28, 1980.
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and in 1846 he was sent to the new Naval Academy at Annapolis for the
nine-months course. Following graduation there were more cruises, includ-
ing an exciting one to the Mediterranean during the revolutions of 1848
and a depressing one to the African coast for the suppression of the slave
trade. In 1849 the young officer married in Norfolk his first cousin, Mary
Elizabeth Selden Garnett, called Lizzie.

It was soon evident to Brooke that his interests were directed more
toward scientific experiment than to routine duty as a line officer. In 1852,
while serving at the Naval Observatory under Lieutenant Matthew Fon-
taine Maury, Brooke had an opportunity to show his scientific bent. He
designed a deep-sea sounding lead that enabled man for the first time to
bring up samples from the ocean floor at great depths. The invention made
feasible the laying of the Atlantic cable. In recognition of his peculiar
talents, Brooke was selected for the proposed exploring and surveying
expedition to the north Pacific Ocean and Bering Strait. Such expeditions
usually carried a complement of civilian scientists. But on this expedition,
in addition to the civilians, Brooke, then a passed midshipman in the navy,
was given essentially scientific duties. He was specifically charged with the
responsibility for deep-sea soundings, astronomical observations, and the
care of the chronometers. A spectacular accomplishment was Brooke’s
survey of the east coast of Japan in an open boat from Shimoda to Hako-
date, ports recently opened by Commodore Matthew Calbraith Perry.

Later, while he was preparing charts of the North Pacific Expedition,
Brooke was directed to determine, in the ninety-five ton schooner Feni-
more Cooper, the best steamship route from San Francisco to Hong Kong.
Proceeding by way of the Hawaiian Islands, Johnston Island, and Guam,
he was able through observations and soundings to erase many reported
dangers from the charts. In 1859 the Fenimore Cooper was wrecked on the
coast of Japan. While stranded over the next six months, Brooke devel-
oped a warm relationship with the Japanese, who were hesitantly emerging
from over two centuries of seclusion. Being on the scene, Brooke was asked
by the Shogun’s government to sail in the Kanrin Maru, a Japanese war-
ship to be dispatched to America at the same time as the first Japanese
mission departed on the U.S.S. Powhatan. Because of the very heavy
weather and the almost complete lack of experience of the Japanese offic-
ers and crew, Brooke, and those members of the Fenimore Cooper’s crew
who accompanied him, were able to perform a signal service in taking the
Kanrin Maru across the Pacific.

When Virginia seceded from the Union in April 1861, Brooke resigned
his commission in the United States Navy and offered his services to
Virginia. Commissioned a lieutenant in the Virginia Navy, he was appointed
to General Robert E. Lee’s staff as naval aide. At the time the Confederate

88 Rockbridge Historical Society



John M. Brooke: The Lexington Years

government moved to Richmond, Brooke transferred to the Confederate
navy. During this period Brooke developed the plan of extended, sub-
merged ends for ironclads, and when the wooden frigate Merrimac, which
had been scuttled by the Federals evacuating Norfolk, was raised by the
Confederates, Brooke’s plan was applied to it and it became the Virginia.
In the field of ordnance, Brooke designed a powerful rifled gun which
bears his name. In 1863 Brooke was appointed chief of ordnance and
hydrography of the Confederate States Navy. The war brought Brooke
personal tragedy. In 1864 his wife Lizzie, to whom he was deeply attached,
died of tuberculosis. But in the years to come Brooke would remember
Lizzie through Anna, the only one of their four children to survive infancy.

With the conclusion of hostilities, Brooke was guided by two primary
considerations. First, he intended to rear Anna, who was nine when the
war ended, personally. For this reason he ruled out for the time being
employment overseas, which course was attractive to many of his comrades-
in-arms. Second, he was willing to let the past become history. He had
fought with all he had and lost, but life must go on. Adjusting to a new
situation, Brooke took the required oath of allegiance and applied to
President Andrew Johnson for pardon. It was, he felt, his “duty to take the
oath of allegiance to the present government and do all that I can for the
* welfare of the whole country.”! Such an attitude was made easier by the
resumption of friendship with old comrades who had chosen the Union
side. To his friend Commodore John Rodgers, who had fought with dis-
tinction for the Union, Brooke wrote: “As the war is over and we are no
longer political enemies I write to assure you that my personal regard for
you has not changed.” In his prompt and cordial response, Rodgers
offered to help Brooke obtain his pardon, and in a spontaneous display of
good will tendered Brooke two hundred dollars which the latter could
repay “when you like—or never.”3 But Brooke had sold most of his gifts
from the Japanese to meet expenses and declined the kind offer.4 In the end
it was Admiral Samuel Phillips Lee who, after persistent effort, obtained
the pardon in August 1866. It was an important step, for without a pardon
a person could not buy or sell property, apply for a patent or copyright, or
recover property that had been confiscated.

1. Brooke to Commodore John Rodgers, 1-2 1865, Rodgers Family Papers, Naval
Historical Foundation, Manuscripts Division, Library of Congress (hereafter cited as
LC).

2. Brooke to Rodgers, 9 May 1865, ibid.

3. Rodgers to Brooke, 4 June 1865, Brooke Papers, in the possession of the author
(hereafter cited as BP).

4. Brooke to Rodgers, 23 June 1865, Rodgers Family Papers, LC.
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After searching desperately for a job, Brooke must have felt vast relief
when in October 1865 he was notified by General Francis Henney Smith,
superintendent of the Virginia Military Institute, that he had been appointed
to a newly created chair to teach practical astronomy, geodesy, meteorol-
ogy, and physical geography at that state college. Brooke was commis-
sioned a colonel in the Virginia Militia, though he preferred the title of
captain which reflected his naval background. It is of interest to note his
physical appearance at this time. Of medium height, he had a rather large
head which was rapidly becoming bald. Paradoxically, as his hair became
scarcer on the top of his head, his beard seemed to become fuller and
eventually almost bushy. His penetrating blue eyes and prominent nose
marked a stern visage that reflected years of hard service at sea and the
strain of concentrated mental effort. Excess weight never seems to have
been a problem. With a keen mind, an assurance borne of carrying a load
of heavy responsibility, and a highly developed sense of honor, he was a
man of firm convictions that he defended tenaciously.

Captain Brooke was no stranger to Lexington. Lizzie and her parents
had moved to the small college town from Norfolk in 1853 when Brooke
was on the North Pacific Expedition. At that time Lizzie’s sister Louisa
was married to Colonel Thomas Hoomes Williamson, who had taught at
VMI since 1841. Lizzie was deeply religious and had joined Grace Episco-
pal (now Robert E. Lee Memorial) Church. When stationed in Washing-
ton and later in Richmond, the Confederate capital, Brooke had frequently
taken his wife to Lexington to escape the heat, humidity, and turmoil of
those cities. With these connections it is not surprising that Brooke should
be appointed to the VMI faculty. When accepting the position, however, he
did not realize his employment would become permanent.

In Lexington the old sailor found that having Anna with him was “the
great consolation.” She helped him raise chickens, and occasionally the
two went walking and looked for wildflowers. Politically, the situation was
quiet and Brooke was convinced that the only bar to restoration of the
Union was the persistence of a few fanatics and demagogues. He had a
high opinion of President Andrew Johnson and thought him a statesman.5
After a few months Brooke wrote that his new occupation was “pleasant
enough,” but as the only naval officer in the community he felt like “a fish
out of water.”® Commenting on the local people, Brooke remarked that
they were “kind and good Scotch Irish Presbyterians, a people who never
carry too much sail for their ballast.” But, he observed, VMI was “Episco-

5. Brooke to Rodgers, 6 May 1866, ibid.
6. Brooke to Stephen R. Mallory, 15 December 1866 (copy), BP.
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palian in tone” and the church records bear him out. From the founding of
the local church in the forties, the vestry was dominated by VMI profes-
sors, and almost all of the senior professors were Episcopalians. General
Smith was a leader in the church and a large percentage of cadets were of
the Episcopal faith. Brooke found the professors to be “excellent men and
without exception the best group I have ever been associated with.”

The new professor believed strongly in the South’s future and in educat-
ing the young men in such a way as to develop the region economically.
This was, he wrote, the position of “all sensible people in the South.”” The
former Confederate officer asserted it was equally important that the
North demonstrate a “kindly nature,” so that Southerners could believe
there was a willingness above the Potomac for the defeated section to share
in the country’s prosperity. And VMI, in Brooke’s view, had a special
responsibility, for, as he wrote Commodore Rodgers, it would be of “vast
importance” as a school of applied science in furthering the state’s “mate-
rial progress.”’

After the war the future of the Institute was in some doubt, for in June
1864 General David Hunter had wantonly burned the school. Brooke was
assured by his Yankee friend, General Robert Patterson of Philadelphia,
that “the conduct of General Hunter in his raids in Virginia was denounced
at the time by every cadet soldier in our Army and by every decent man out
of it. He is now despised.”® But the destruction was a fact, and only an act
of great faith could rebuild the school. General Smith had that faith and
was eager to move the Institute into the forefront of Southern education.
Though some of the faculty would have preferred to move cautiously into
the uncertain future, Smith resolved to begin the physical rehabilitation at
once and asked for sacrifice. The determined superintendent was sure that
a rebuilt physical plant would attract enough cadets to underwrite some
capital expenditures and most operating costs. He could not depend on the
state, for Virginia had not yet been readmitted to the Union and prior to
the war, except for subsidies to selected state cadets, had contributed only
$1500 annually.!0

The Institute would have to rely on its own efforts. Smith proposed
borrowing the money for capital expenditures through the sale of bonds,
and to facilitate operations he asked the faculty to forego one-third of their
salaries. Such a gesture, he felt, would make it easier to sell the bonds. The

7. Brooke to General Robert Patterson, 9 February 1866 (copy), BP.

8. Brooke to Rodgers, 11 October 1865, Rodgers Family Papers, LC.

9. Patterson to Brooke, 14 February 1866, BP.

10. William Couper, One Hundred Years at V.M.I., 4 vols. (Richmond, 1939), 1:
342,
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faculty supported Smith’s request and the action was approved by the
Board of Visitors.

With high hopes the Institute resumed its academic work on October 16,
1865, with eighteen cadets reporting for duty the first day.!! By the end of
the academic year fifty-one cadets had been enrolled.!? In addition to
retaining those faculty officers who had survived the war, Smith hired two
other officers besides Brooke. They were General George Washington Cus-
tis Lee, a son of General Robert E. Lee, as professor of civil and military
engineering, and Colonel William Blair, as professor of natural and exper-
imental philosophy. Despite the big plans it was a year of hardship, the
salary for a full professor being only $900. One of the most serious prob-
lems was the lack of books and scientific equipment. By June 1866 the
superintendent had collected “about 1000 volumes” for the library.!3 He
estimated the needed laboratory equipment would cost $15,000. At the
time of his appointment Brooke was urged to acquire on his own the
necessary books, apparatus, and equipment for his courses.

Given the dreary economic conditions in Virginia during reconstruction,
General Smith’s plans were bold and the results remarkable. By 1870 the
corps numbered 360, drawn from every Southern state and some in the
North as well.14 Former Governor John Letcher, who was president of the
Board of Visitors, stated that the restored institution was “second to no
military and scientific school in the United States” and in a more prosper-
ous condition than it had been before the war.!5 The apparent prosperity
was reflected in rising faculty salaries, Brooke’s pay for the school year
1871-72 being eighteen hundred dollars. As early as 1867 the prewar plan
for applied schools in engineering and agriculture had been revived. The
purpose was to give graduates additional practical training in their areas of
specialization. Brooke assisted in this effort and was directed to cooperate
in the preparation of a physical history, and a geographical and geological
map of Virginia, under General Custis Lee’s supervision. Brooke was
responsible for the work in physical geography and meteorology.

During Brooke’s years at the Institute, academic policy was determined
by the Academic Board, composed of department heads. Brooke was a
member of the board and sat on a number of committees appointed by it.
The minutes show that he attended to his duties faithfully, but he missed a
surprisingly large number of meetings and was often late. He made few

11. Annual Report of the Superintendent, VMI, 27 June 1866.
12. Ibid., 4 July 1867.

13. Ibid., 27 June 1866.

14. Annual Report of Board of Visitors, VMI, 5 January 1871.
15. Ibid.
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John M. Brooke as a VMI professor.

motions and seems not to have talked unless he had something to say. But
he did have definite views on education and he expressed them forcefully.

In the post-Civil War period colleges began to experiment with the
elective system. General Smith, who conceived it the Institute’s function to
offer a practical education, thought the trend “an advertisement to catch
students, without any attendant advantages in the long run.” He wrote that
“youths of sixteen and eighteen years of age are incapable of that judge-
ment which is essential to a proper selection of the course of study to be
pursued by them.”!6 He insisted on daily recitations and the weekly sub-
mission of grades, with an emphasis on thoroughness of instruction. Duty
and discipline were ever in the superintendent’s thoughts, but for the
faculty the constant collecting of grades was a burdensome and dull task.

16. Annual Report of the Superintendent, VMI, 23 June 1871.
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Such a system tended to stifle creativity, and it is not surprising that John
Brooke, with his inquiring mind, should become restless. His approach was
more liberal than Smith’s. In his courses he emphasized practical applica-
tion, but for a man of his broad experience, the repetition of experiments
with limited equipment cannot have been stimulating. Brooke’s formal
education was spotty and had been capped with his year at the Naval
Academy. Really, he was self-taught, and his knowledge was specialized in
the fields of practical astronomy, hydrography, surveying, navigation, and
ordnance. He made every effort to stay abreast in those fields, writing
scientific articles and corresponding with many people. As a teacher, there
can be no doubt that Brooke knew his subject. But he was not a teacher by
choice and probably lacked the magnetism of a gifted teacher. It was his
nature to be reserved, and his arduous life had accentuated that quality.
Though the cadets called him “Old Mike,” they must have found him a
dangerous man to trifle with. The stories handed down in the family
indicate that he was firm and rather humorless.

In 1863 Brooke was pleased when the Academic Board by unanimous
resolution appointed Matthew Fontaine Maury professor of meteorology
and placed him in charge of the proposed physical survey of the state.!? As
had been his custom since he served under Maury at the Naval Observa-
tory in the fifties, Brooke, after the Civil war, had corresponded with the
older man. Thus, in September 1866, when Maury was in England, Brooke
had written that he had built a small laboratory and mounted a transit like
the one he had used on the North Pacific Expedition, and he wished
Maury were nearby so they could compare notes. “I do wish you were once
more in Virginia on your native soil,” Brooke wrote, “We are not so badly
off here as might be imagined and no matter how many of us go abroad old
Virginia would have enough of the old stock to be old Virginia still.” He
assured his mentor that former Confederates lived “quietly” in Lexington
which was a “charming” place. Brooke concluded his letter “with the heart-
felt wish that you will come Home.”!8 At the time the idea had not
appealed to Maury and he replied: “I wish I could view things at home as
cheerfully as you and other friends on the spot do but I cannot.”!? With
Maury’s acceptance of the position at VMI eighteen months later, Brooke
congratulated him, exclaiming that it had “excited very lively emotions of
pleasure.”20

17. Academic Board Minutes, VMI, 18 February 1868.
18. Brooke to Maury, 28 September 1866 (copy), BP.
19. Maury to Brooke, 20 October 1866, BP.

20. Brooke to Maury, 10 May 1868 (copy), BP.

94 ' Rockbridge Historical Society



John M. Brooke: The Lexington Years

Maury would remain at VMI until his death in 1873. During that time
Maury and Brooke worked closely together. Brooke would continue to
work on the physical survey of Virginia under Maury as he had under
Custis Lee. If anything, the scope of the plan was expanded, and Brooke
was given responsibility for making primary triangulations. Maury’s arri-
val also prompted the establishment of a department of physics with
Maury and Brooke as the two professors. The specific duties of each
officer were delineated, with Brooke having responsibility for classroom
instruction in the new physics course that embraced heat, light, sound, and
electricity. For his part, Maury pushed the physical survey and the prelimi-
nary report was completed in December 1868. General Smith had twenty
thousand copies printed at Institute expense, and some were sent to gover-
nors and mayors in the Southern states. Smith’s purpose was to encourage
the shipment of minerals and agricultural goods produced in the states of
the interior through Virginia to the Atlantic seaboard.2! The initial report
was followed by a second one completed in May 1871. This supplementary
report, financed in part by the railroads, emphasized “the climate, soils,
and productions of Virginia.”22 The great oceanographer died after he had
been at the Institute four years, and there are notes in the Brooke Papers
that indicate Brooke wrote the memorial sketch published at that time.

At the Institute Brooke’s activity centered around his teaching duties.
But for a number of years, in the hope of augmenting his meager income
and utilizing the highly developed skills he had demonstrated in the navy,
Brooke engaged in certain peripheral activities. During the years 1866-69,
he cooperated in an informal partnership with two Confederate comrades,
Catesby ap R. Jones and Robert D. Minor. Jones had been executive
officer of the Virginia, and when Admiral Franklin Buchanan was wounded
in the first day’s fight in Hampton Roads, Jones had commanded the
ironclad in the battle with the Monitor. Later he was in charge of the vital
ordnance establishment in Selma, Alabama. Minor had been first lieuten-
ant on the Virginia and later had directed the important Richmond ord-
nance works. The three officers had worked closely together during the
war and probably knew more about naval ordnance than any other Con-
federates. The purpose of the partnership was to sell to foreign govern-
ments ordnance available in the United States. Beyond that they hoped to
sell under contract materiel designed according to their own specifications.
Though the three men corresponded exhaustively and met when they
could, the project really never got off the ground and sales were few. The

21. Semi-annual report of the Superintendent, VMI, 12 January 1878.
22. Frances Leigh Williams, Matthew Fontaine Maury, Scientist of the Sea (New
Brunswick, N.J., 1963), pp. 462-63.
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problem was that they had no capital and all were reluctant to give up their
regular jobs in order to nurse the company through its early stages.

Another activity of Brooke was in the field of invention. He had a talent
for invention and for some ten years after the war he squeezed what time he
could from his time-consuming teaching duties to conduct experiments.
But his facilities were limited. Nonetheless, he did develop some inventions
and in a few instances obtained patents. His inventions fall into two cate-
gories: those of a nature applicable to general use and those relating to
naval matters, particularly naval warfare. Among the civilian inventions
were a boat hook used in lowering boats, a pneumatic and hydraulic pump
for raising water, an oscillating seat for rowboats, a meteorama to aid
meteorologists in forecasting weather, and an improved method of venti-
lating mines that suffered from high temperatures. Although Brooke
obtained patents on his boat hook and pump, he made very little money
from either. What continued to fascinate Brooke was naval ordnance. He
offered some of his inventions to the United States Navy, but as the navy
was in the doldrums, he encountered apathy and red tape. On occasion he
made his inventions available to foreign governments, such as the Germans
in the Franco-Prussian War, but he did not enjoy much success there
either. Among his inventions in the naval field were a constant depth sea
mine, a torpedo boat system, an improved gun sight which used mirrors,
an electric pointer which could plot an enemy vessel’s course, and a gun
which could be fired under water.

While at VMI Brooke got exercise and pleasure rowing a boat on the
North River, now the Maury. The boat, seventeen feet long and four wide,
was made to his order by W. H. Darling of New York in 1868 for $182.35.
Equipped with an awning and canvas fenders, the craft was so constructed
that Brooke could sail as well as row it. To protect it he built a boat house
on the river bank. When the opportunity arose Brooke took ladies for a
ride. Referring to Agnes Lee, the daughter of General Robert E. Lee,
Brooke wrote, she “does me the honor to take a row now and then and has
made a flag and pennant for me.”2? Brooke took his exercise on the river
seriously, Robert Minor relating that a kinsman of his in the cadet corps
had had a race with Brooke, but that the latter’s “man-of-war stroke was
too much for him.”

Owning rowboats on the river was quite the fashion in the late 1860s
and 1870s. At least one other VMI professor owned a boat and a number
were the property of Washington College student organizations. Consider-

23. Brooke to Robert D. Minor, 22 November 1869, Minor Papers, Virginia
Historical Society (hereafter cited as VHS).
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able interest was generated by the annual race between the Harry Lees and
the Albert Sydneys. Brooke’s craft, however, was acknowledged to be the
finest and the local newspaper grew ecstatic describing it: “Above us was a
party coming down, gliding what seemed a seashell—its crest—a keel—so
cunning the construction, so beautiful the proportions, so graceful it sat
upon the waters—the boat of Capt. Brooke.”

When the river froze in the winter, curtailing Brooke’s aquatic activities,
he chafed. Floods also were a problem. The great flood in the fall of 1870
washed away Brooke’s boat house, as well as that for the college boats. For
twenty years Brooke’s boat was a source of enjoyment, but in 1886 the
establishment of a factory on the river lowered the water to such a level
that the boat was “useless.”2’

Turning to matters of the heart, Brooke had loved Lizzie dearly and
when she died he was overcome with grief and buried himself in a moun-
tain of work. But after the war, with the passage of time, he came to feel the
need of someone to share his victories and defeats. Only forty in 1867, his
passionate nature demanded companionship and he began to show interest
in the fair sex once more.

At one time Brooke’s name was linked with Agnes Lee. Certainly they
took walks and went boating together on the North River. But it is hard to
say whether it was a serious romance. Nonetheless, some people seemed to
think that it was. In April 1867, Catesby Jones, in the midst of discussing
business affairs with Robert Minor, wrote: “If Brooke has been so fortu-
nate as to win Agnes Lee, he is indeed to be congratulated. She was one of
my favorites.”26

During this trying time for Brooke, no friend stood firmer than Bob
Minor. While residing in Richmond the warm-hearted Minor acted as a
willing middleman, transmitting brief messages back and forth between his
friend and Margaretta Wise, the witty and vivacious daughter of former
Governor Henry A. Wise. One of the belles of the sixties, Margaretta,
called Néné, had been born in Portugal when her father was United States
minister there. The references to Néné were usually at the end of business
letters and in a light vein. Brooke’s messages were cloaked in nautical
terminology and Néne responded in kind. There is no doubt that Brooke
liked Néné very much and found her to be highly amusing, but it is not
clear how much substance there was to the romance. Once she sent him a
cake. If Brooke had been able to see more of the “Humbird,” as he dubbed
her, events might have taken a different turn. As it was, after a year and a

24. The Virginia Gazette (Lexington), 14 April 1869.
25. Brooke to Admiral David Ammen, 24 July 1888 (copy), BP.
26. Jones to Minor, 9 April 1867, Minor Papers, VHS.
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half of bantering, Brooke noted in a letter to Minor: “I hear that Miss
N—is engaged to be married, so our friends leave us.”?’

By early 1867 Brooke had focused his attention on Mrs. Kate Corbin
Pendleton, twelve years younger than himself. She was the widow of Lt.
Colonel Alexander Swift Pendleton who had served in turn as adjutant
general for Generals “Stonewall” Jackson, Richard Ewell, and Jubal Early.
“Sandy,” as he was called, had made a brilliant academic record at Wash-
ington College and the University of Virginia. At the latter institution at
the outbreak of hostilities, he promptly offered his services to the Old
Dominion. Rising rapidly, he had participated in Jackson’s Valley Cam-
paign and every important battle of the Army of Northern Virginia until he
was mortally wounded at the Battle of Fisher’s Hill in September 1864.
Professor William Gleason Bean, for many years the head of the history
department at Washington and Lee, published in 1959 an excellent biog-
raphy of this promising young man.28 Sandy was the only son of the
Episcopal clergyman, William Nelson Pendleton, rector of Grace Episco-
pal Church in Lexington. When Virginia seceded the older Pendleton, a
West Point graduate, took a ieave of absence from his church and drew his
sword. In Lee’s Army of Northern Virginia the parson became a brigadier
general and Lee’s chief of artillery. At the war’s end he returned to his
parish in Lexington, of which General Lee, as president of Washington
College, became a communicant.

John Brooke’s courtship was long and stormy, for Kate’s heart was not
easily won. If anything, the war brought back sadder memories to her than
to him. Kate, the daughter of James Parke Corbin and Jane Wellford
(Corbin), whose families had long been prominent in the affairs of colony
and state, had met Sandy in romantic circumstances. During the winter of
1862-63 Jackson and his staff were quartered at “Moss Neck,” a family
home of the Corbins near Fredericksburg. At that time of high hopes for
the Confederacy, Sandy had courted and married Kate. Not long thereafter
he returned to battle and their reunions were fleeting. Consequently, when
her husband was cut down in battle at the prime of life, Kate suffered a
staggering blow. But to a degree the blow was softened by the knowledge
that she was to have a baby. “Little Sandy,” who arrived two months after
his father’s death, was a constant reminder to Kate of her brief wartime
marriage. Therefore, when the infant died in September 1865, after an
agonizing illness of six weeks, Kate was utterly desolate.

27. Brooke to Minor, 31 March 1868, ibid. Néné married William Carrington
Mayo.

28. William Gleason Bean, Stonewall’s Man, Sandie Pendleton (Chapel Hill,
N.C,, 1959).
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After the war, in order to be near Sandy’s family and in response to their
urgent invitation, Kate moved in with the Pendletons at the rectory in
Lexington. Later, after the little boy died, Kate, who had lost substantial
investments during the war, felt she should make her own way. She
obtained a position as governess at “Clifton” on the North River, the home
of Colonel William Preston Johnston, a Washington College professor
who had been Jefferson Davis’s aide during the Civil War.

Captain Brooke had known Kate when she lived at the Pendletons, but
from the beginning she was cautious. Her marriage to Sandy that had
promised so much had brought tragedy, and for a long time she hesitated
to remarry. Also, Sandy had been a devout Christian and Kate in her grief
had found solace in the church; but Brooke, despite Lizzie’s persistent
efforts and his own good intentions, had remained a skeptic. It was no easy
matter to wear down Kate’s resistance, and not until 1870 did the deter-
mined suitor win her consent.

With marriage in the offing it was high time Brooke had a house of his
own. In June 1870 General Smith promised to build one for him, expecting
the carpenter to complete the structure within ninety days. Confirming the
superintendent’s arrangements, the Board of Visitors authorized construc-
tion of “a cottage on the land belonging to General F. H. Smith for the
accomodations of Capt. J. M. Brooke at a cost not exceeding $2800.” It
was stipulated that Brooke could at any time buy the house and lot at
cost.?® Like any person building his home, Brooke was interested in what it
would be like. But because of his artistic and mechanical talents, he gave
more thought to the design than most people would, and his papers include
a number of rough sketches and floor plans which he drew. The finished
house, which was certainly more than a cottage, was built according to one
such plan. Later, exercising his option, Brooke bought the house and lot,
now located at 503 Brooke Lane, and they remained in possesion of the
Brooke family until sold to VMI in 1950.

John Brooke and Kate Corbin Pendleton were married at a church
wedding in Fredericksburg on March 14, 1871, with “no attendants,”
Brooke explained, “except the family and the usual complement of specta-
tors.” Returning to Lexington after the ceremony, Brooke wrote Bob
Minor that he had “come to anchor with a prize under my lee.”30

It is to be noted that Kate and John were married in a church. One
surmises that formal religion had been a point of difference between them
and that Kate had won out. Perhaps it was a condition of the marriage. Be

29. Board of Visitors Minutes, VMI, 5 July 1870.
30. Brooke to Minor, 23 March 1871, Minor Papers, VHS.

Proceedings X (1980-89) 99



George M. Brooke, Jr.

that as it may, the register of Grace Episcopal Church shows that on
Trinity Sunday, June 12, 1870, nine months before the wedding, Bishop
Johns confirmed “Miss Anna M. Brooke and Capt. Jno. M. Brooke.” One
week later Brooke wrote Kate that one of the parish families had consented
to let Brooke have a pew. The list of ninety-one communicants in the
parish register for May 31, 1871, lists Captain and Mrs. Brooke and Anna.
It must have been a source of pride to Kate when years later in 1890 her
husband was unanimously elected to the vestry of the Robert E. Lee
Memorial Church. He would remain on the vestry for the next five years,
but his attendance was irregular. At no time did Brooke assume a position
of leadership in church affairs.

Kate had deliberated long and hard on her second marriage, but once
she made up her mind, she gave herself completely to her husband. In the
days of poverty and adversity that marked the Reconstruction years they
would put their individual tragedies behind them and shape a new life
together. It was particularly comforting to Brooke that the gentle Kate was
a good stepmother to Anna, now in her teens. The close tie would remain
until Anna, still unmarried, died unexpectedly in 1895 at the age of twenty-
eight. On May 17, 1875, George Mercer Brooke was born. As letters from
relatives and friends came in, Brooke, now forty-eight, must have felt a
glow of paternal pride. Admiral S. P. Lee, who had obtained his pardon,
wrote: “Welcome to George Mercer! It is his good fortune to draw the first
breath of life on this side of the Equator, & under the North Star & not the
Southern X.” Mrs. Margaret Junkin Preston, the popular Southern author,
wrote Kate: “I am coming to see your little Admiral as soon as I hear you
are ready for company.” But George followed in the footsteps of his grand-
father rather than his father; he graduated from VMI in 1896 and won a
commission in the United States Army. A second child, Rosa Johnston,
was born on October 29, 1877. She would marry the prominent economist,
Henry Parker Willis, a professor at Washington and Lee who founded the
School of Commerce.

In contrast to her husband, Kate was more interested in people than in
ideas. The letters she wrote to her family and friends in the 1860s suggest
that she was well educated for a young lady of that day and had a mind of
her own. She was noted for her charm, animation, and kindness. When
callers dropped in, the captain, not interested in small talk or gossip,
usually paid his respects and retired to his study while Kate entertained the
guests. She arranged the family routine to suit her husband.

A year or two after he was married, Brooke began to keep a garden.
Located on the slope behind his house the garden, covering an acre, con-
sisted of a number of beds laid out in terraces. The soil was “a strong red
clay” and very fertile. Brooke continued to cultivate the garden for the rest
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of his active life. His meticulously kept notebooks are in the Brooke
papers. The old sailor enjoyed most aspects of gardening and looked
forward to the spring. Not surprisingly, he observed the weather carefully
and dutifully recorded rainfall, temperature, and other climatic information
which helped him to predict the weather. Inclined to experiment, Brooke
grew a large variety of vegetables and noted the results. To increase yield he
applied manure regularly and kept a compost heap. A greenhouse made
possible greater diversification. Finding that “small fruits grow luxuriantly
and yield heavily,” Brooke experimented with different varieties of peaches,
plums, cherries, apples, and sickle pears. Also he raised melons, grapes,
currants, gooseberries, blackberries, and raspberries. The avid horticultur-
alist exchanged plants and ideas with his friends and correspondents and
obtained some plants from the United States Department of Agriculture.
He ordered others from nurseries in Richmond, Rochester, Long Island,
and Louisiana. Like other gardeners, he was bothered by pests, and com-
plained especially about the black flea, cut worm, and May beetle. Some-
times he resorted to novel methods to combat the pests, such as sallying
forth at night with a lantern to catch the May beetles.

To return to the Institute, it will be recalled that General Smith with
vigor and vision had determined to raise VMI from the ashes. For a time
his expectations were amply fulfilled. His confidence that the school’s
success could be attributed “to a rigid system of military discipline, the
effect of which is to impart energy, system, subordination, and self-reliance
to the young” seemed well placed.3! But the apparent prosperity of the
Institute was an illusion. Progress ground to a halt as a combination of
factors pushed VMI to the brink of bankruptcy. For a number of years
after Virginia was restored to the Union in 1870, the state was controlled by
arch conservatives called Bourbons, who insisted upon a full redemption of
the state debt, no matter how incurred. This period in the state’s history has
been thoroughly covered by Dr. Allen Moger in his fine book, Virginia:
Bourbonism to Byrd, 1870-1925. The Bourbon policy required the utmost
stringency in expenditures for education. The state subsidy of fifteen thou-
sand dollars a year did little more than pay for the board and tuition of
scholarship cadets. For running expenses the Institute depended upon
prompt payments by parents of cadets. But because of the hard times of
the seventies, a too generous extension of credit, and other reasons pay-
ments fell behind and by 1874 the Institute had an unfunded floating debt
of sixty-three thousand dollars.Also the revival of other Southern colleges
siphoned off students and the new agricultural and mechanical college in

31. Annual Report of the Superintendent, VMI, 23 September 1874.
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Blacksburg competed with the Institute in offering courses in practical
education. Of course VMI survived, but by the hardest efforts. Enrollment
plummeted, salaries were suspended and then slashed, and the purchase of
books and equipment almost ceased. Meanwhile, the superintendent, after
forty years at the helm, became more fixed in his ways.

Conditions were bad. In June 1876, even though salaries had been
reduced fifteen percent, Brooke wrote he had not been paid in six months.32
In 1883 only thirteen cadets would graduate and but two books were
purchased for the library.33 Not for twenty years would the Institute pull
out of its financial morass. Brooke, who felt financially insecure and intel-
lectually stifled, became increasingly restless. Concerned for his young
family, he made a number of efforts to secure other employment. But in
each case he either failed to get the job or regarded the conditions as
unsatisfactory. Finally, in the mid-80s, he accepted his lot.

For Brooke his last fifteen years at the Institute would be happier than
his first twenty. The school’s financial position began slowly to improve.
And in 1884 his friend General Thomas Taylor Munford, an 1852 graduate
and a Civil War cavalry leader, became president of the Board of Visitors.
Under his tenure substantial equipment funds were made available for the
Physics Department which Brooke headed. Another hopeful sign was the
growth of the library from 8,400 volumes in 1885 to 16,259 in 1893.3¢
Meanwhile, a more generous legislature made more money available for
salaries, and by 1887 Brooke was earning nineteen hundred dollars annually.

Another change came in 1889 when the venerable superintendent of fifty
years took the occasion of the Institute’s semicentennial celebration to
announce his resignation. Smith had made an enormous contribution to
the school, nurturing it in the early days and rebuilding it after the Civil
War. It is fair to say that without him there would probably be no VMI
today. But after his exceedingly long tenure he had become quite inflexible.
Dominating the Academic Board as he did, officers who were more willing
to accept change were frustrated. Towards the end, it appears, Brooke’s
relationship with Smith had become quite strained.

The new superintendent, General Scott Shipp, an 1859 graduate and the
former commandant, was also a conservative, but he was willing to make
changes. Brooke, who about this time because the senior faculty member,
worked well with Scott Shipp. General Shipp upheld Institute traditions

32. Brooke to General Thomas R. Mumford, 30 June 1876 (copy), BP.

33. These figures were obtained from a study of the annual reports and the VM1
Register of Former Cadets, 1957.

34. Annual Report of the Superintendent, VMI, 20 June 1885. The growth of the
library can be traced in the annual reports and the Board of Visitors Minutes.
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and was a disciplinarian, but he gave the Academic Board more control
over academic matters. Enrollment climbed and in 1895 there were 205
cadets in the corps, of whom seventy-five were first-year men.3

In a refinement of the curriculum in 1897 the Academic Board permit-
ted second classmen at the beginning of the second semester to choose civil
engineering or the new course in electrical engineering. The latter course
was under Brooke’s supervision as head of the Physics Department, but the
specific courses in electrical engineering were taught by Major Francis
Mallory, an 1889 graduate who had just finished three years of graduate
work in physics and mathematics at Johns Hopkins.

With the department in such good hands it was time for Brooke to step
down. In 1899, at the age of seventy-two, John Brooke retired from the
VMI faculty and was designated professor emeritus; he had served the
Institute thirty-four years, ten years longer than his combined service in the
United States and Confederate navies. In a day before Social Security, the
Virginia Retirement System, and the VMI Foundation, his last years
would have been bleak indeed had not the Board of Visitors granted him a
pension of twelve hundred dollars per year. Kate thanked the president of
the board personally, writing of her husband: “In thus having a long borne
anxiety laid to rest he feels a profound relief, which is shared in full by
those nearest him.”36

John Brooke lived for six years after his retirement, old age gradually
sapping his strength. He did not keep many letters from the last period of
his life, and one suspects that he did not answer his correspondence. We
may assume that he walked, worked a little in his garden, and read. The
year after Brooke’s retirement the Fortnightly Club was organized and he
was elected an honorary member. When inclined he could attend, being
assured of a good dinner and a stimulating paper. The club still exists, true
to its original format.

On December 14, 1906, four days short of his eightieth birthday, Brooke
died from a stroke. The Corps of Cadets was turned out and accompanied
the casket from the Robert E. Lee Memorial Church to the cemetery,
where the old Confederate was buried in a torrent of rain.

35. Annual Report of the Superintendent, VMI, 18 June 1897. This report gives
detailed statistical information on enrollment for the period 1866-98.

36. Kate Corbin Brooke to Alexander Hamilton, 30 June 1899, John Mercer
Brooke File, VMI Records.

Proceedings X (1980-89) 103






The Village of Brownsburg

N July 28, 1980, the Society held its picnic meeting at the Browns-
*_ burg Middle School. This was another in its series of summer
" picnic meetings in county communities. The three women who
made up the panel of local experts all have long been familiar with the
area. Mary Moore Montgomery Mason is a writer of historical and travel
articles and the present-day historian of the Walker clan in Virginia. The
Walkerlands property, which she owns, has been in the family since 1733
and was authenticated by a Borden Tract grant title in 1743. As Mrs.
Mason was unable to attend the Society’s meeting, her essay was read by
her cousin, Virginia Leach. Jen Wade Heffelfinger was born and grew up
two miles from Brownsburg, in the vicinity of New Providence Church.
When she married she moved to her present home, “Level Loop,” a mile
west of the town. Mollie Sue Whipple was born in Radford, grew up in
Goshen, and moved to Brownsburg in 1936 to teach at the Brownsburg
Academy. Since her marriage a few years later, she has lived in her hus-
band’s boyhood home in Brownsburg.

Early Settlers Near Brownsburg:
John Walker and His Descendants

Mary Moore Montgomery Mason

John Walker of Wigton, Scotland, and a Major Hays of the Tidewater
Virginia area were the first settlers of the Walker-Hays Creek valley in
Rockbridge County, near the present-day village of Brownsburg.
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John Walker established his claim in 1733. Born in Wigton, Scotland,
circa 1670, he first emigrated to Northern Ireland in 1680 because of
religious persecution resultant from the family’s strong Presbyterian beliefs.
In 1702 in Wigton he married Katherine Rutherford, daughter of the
Reverend John Rutherford and a kinswoman of the renowned Scottish
theologian Samuel Rutherford. Back in Ireland, John and Katherine again
encountered religious persecution.

In May 1726 (another account states 1728) John and Katherine Walker,
their seven children, and two Walker nephews sailed from Strangford Bay
on a ship captained by a kinsman, Richard Walker. They arrived in
Maryland on August 2. John Walker, the emigrant, again moved his
family across the Maryland border to Chester County, Pennsylvania,
because of freedom of worship assured by the Quaker colony. Finding
Pennsylvania crowded and land prices high, he next traveled alone over the
mountains to “New Virginia” (land beyond the Blue Ridge) in the autumn
of 1733. The family legend is that John chose the rugged terrain near Jump
Mountain because it looked like Scotland. Unfortunately, the emigrant
died soon after his return to Pennsylvania in 1734. His wife Katherine died
there in 1738.

In the late autumn of 1734 Alexander Walker, sixth son of John, and his
two Walker cousins arrived to take up the emigrant’s claim on both sides of
the Virginia creek which was to bear his name. This claim would later be
verified under the Borden Grant in 1743. Finding the cabin built by John
the emigrant destroyed, these sturdy young men slept outdoors until they
could erect another cabin.

A great wave of settlers trekked over the mountains from Pennsylvania.
Other Walkers, also Moores, Coalters, and Hudsons, followed by Wades,
Wardlows, Rheas, McCroskins, Andersons, Wilsons, Stricklers, Cultons,
Stuarts, Kelsos, and McChesneys. These sturdy pioneers built a fort on
Walkers Creek as protection against the Indians. This strong fort was
made of walnut logs, dovetailed and fastened with wooden pins, one and
one half-stories with high small windows and heavy barred doors. An
underground passage led to a bold spring.

Alexander Walker, with the help of relatives, began in 1738 to build a
two-story log house of eight rooms, with an ell of three rooms joined by a
loom room which separated the main house from the kitchen. The log
kitchen still stands near the antebellum home built by Captain James
Alexander Walker.

Alexander Walker formally purchased the 161 acres which John the
emigrant had claimed, verifying the purchase by two Borden-signed docu-
ments dated April 14 and April 15 of 1743. Alexander paid Benjamin
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Borden five shillings for the document of the first day, then a sum of four
pounds, sixteen shillings and seven pence the second day—a customary
lease-release procedure prior to the American Revolution.

Later, Alexander turned over his Borden Grant land to his oldest son,
John, who remained on the family homestead. John’s five brothers all
removed to Kentucky after 1787; their descendants went further west.

In January 1929 the Rockbridge County News reported that the “Walker-
lands” estate was one of only three farms still held under Borden’s Grant.

John Walker increased his holdings between 1775 and 1797 to almost
fifteen hundred acres. He kept his accounts in a large, leather-bound
ledger, and the final two years of his life he also kept a quaint little diary in
which he detailed the weather, the manifold activities of the plantation, and
the grave progress of the War of 1812.

Despite the comings and goings of his brothers and cousins, John
Walker of the third generation stayed on his family acres. From his diary it
is interesting to read some of his comments—truly a day-by-day-weather
report: Conditions are “cloudy” or “like for rain” or “terrible dry” or “a soft
morning” or “shafts of snow.”

John reports his sons as busy young men and boys. With the help of a
few “hands” and fewer slaves, they cut and thresh hay, plant and husk corn,
raise flax, wheat, rye, and hemp; haul firewood, build fences, make planks
and shingles, build dams and fight floods on Walkers Creek, and subdue
fires on Jump Mountain. They also run a mill which often freezes, drive
colts and cattle to market, help raze the old stone “meeting house” at New
Providence and help build the new church.

For diversion these active young men climb honey-bee trees, shoot wild
turkeys, chase bears, and make gallons of “cyder” and some brandy and
whiskey. In their spare time these hardy swains attend muster or escort the
girls of the family to singing school or to “frolicks” at nearby plantations.

John is also a busy man. He keeps his diary and his boys straight,
attends the Reverend Samuel Brown’s sermons at New Providence “meeting
house” where he is an elder, and also helps collect the Reverend’s salary.
He keeps a weather-eye on the tearing down of the old church and the
building of the new one. Frequently, he visits his old neighbors John
Stuart, Hugh Kelso, or William Crawford who are “poorly.” Also, he
welcomes kinfolk as they come and go to Kentucky or to “old Virginny”
(the Tidewater).

“Brownsburgh” often appears in John’s diary as a source of national
news. He sends his son Tom to “Brownsburgh” every Saturday for the
papers so that he may keep up with the grave news of the War of 1812,
which he scathingly calls “Madison’s War.”
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On Sunday, Septeuber 26, 1813, he writes: “John Walker and John
McClure came there [church] before sermon on their way to camp [both
sick with the fever] and gave an account that when they left Capt. Stuart’s
company there were not more than 13 or 14 fit for duty out of seventy. A
number had died, many sick. Sick indeed—their state is affecting, men
called hundreds of miles from home to a sicklier climate to fight the
British.”

But there are happier notations: on 8 April 1813 he marries off daughter
Betsey to neighbor John Stuart’s son Hugh; then he superintends the
molding of thousands of bricks for the young couple’s new home (the
Maxwelton of today).

John’s final entry of 16 October 1813 concludes: “This day makes two
years since I begun to keep some memorial as to the weather and some
such things. How time doth passeth.”

For the years between 1734 and 1814 the Walker family records provide
glimpses of life important to the history of Brownsburg because the Walkers
and their neighbors helped make Brownsburg the flourishing village it
became in the early nineteenth century.

A Well-Preserved Village
Jen Wade Heffelfinger

Residents of Brownsburg are proud of the state and national recogni-
tion that has been given to their small Rockbridge County town as an
excellent and well-preserved example of a typical early Valley of Virginia
village. The entire town was placed on the state’s Historic Landmark Reg-
ister on February 20, 1973, and on the National Register of Historic Dis-
tricts on July 2 of the same year. According to the Virginia Historical
Landmarks Commission, “The village has changed very little in size and
appearance since the late nineteenth century, and having been established
in the eighteenth century, provides an excellent picture of a typical early
Valley Village in a well-preserved state.”

Legally established in 1793, Brownsburg was laid out on lands that
belonged to Robert Wardlaw and Samuel McChesney and that lay along a
main stage coach line. The town is believed to have been named for the
Reverend John Brown, first pastor (1754-1795) of the nearby New Provi-
dence Presbyterian Church, which had been organized in 1746. The town
never secured a church of its own because the New Providence Meeting
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House, located two and a half miles to the north, was regarded as being in
the vicinity of Brownsburg.

The town’s original plat has been lost, but there are surviving indications
that the new settlement was laid out on a simple grid made up of only a few
streets and alleys. These included several parallel streets running north and
south: Main Street (now Virginia Route 252), Back Street, which ran past
the school site, and another which followed the small creek at the foot of
the hill but which was never fully developed. These streets were intersected
by four alleys, included Schoolhouse Alley and Stillhouse Alley, both
self-explanatory names at the time they came into existence. In addition,
the Fairfield Road (now Route 724) came in from the east and joined Main
Street for a short distance before continuing westward. The fourth alley
followed the line of the black cemetery east to Main Street.

During its early years Brownsburg flourished, and within five years it
became one of the most important trade centers for Rockbridge and
surrounding counties. By 1835, according to Morton’s Gazetteer, the com-
munity “was a hub of activity containing about twenty houses, three stores,
two shoe factories, three wheelwrights, two blacksmith shops, a tavern, a
hatter, a tan yard, a saddlery, a cabinet maker, two tailors, a carpenter, a
gristmill, and a mercantile flour mill.” It then had a population of 120
persons, three of whom were physicians. Continuing to grow, the town had
thirty dwellings by the late 1840s, and by 1851 it acquired the distinction of
having a well-known classical school known as the Brownsburg Academy.
Brownsburg also had a Savings Institute, a local organization chartered in
1854 and active until 1860.

The Diary of Henry B. Jones gives an interesting picture of the life of a
Brownsburg farmer during the period of the village’s greatest prosperity,
but Jones was by no means the only successful farmer in the community.
There were also merchants, teachers, doctors, ministers, and ordinary
citizens who flourished and helped make Brownsburg a pleasant place in
which to live. At the same time, the village was not without the usual
human activities and crises: street fights, murders, political meetings,
temperance society gatherings, fairs, and heated discussions on questions
of the day.

Vital to Brownsburg’s prosperity during the first half of the nineteenth
century was its location on what was then the main stage route between
Staunton and Lexington and points to the north and south of these two
courthouse towns. The stage coach between Staunton and Lexington,
which played so important a role in the transport system of the period,
stopped in Brownsburg and changed horses there.

When the Valley Branch of the Baltimore and Ohio Railroad was built
several miles to the east of Brownsburg in the early 1880s, and when U.S.
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11 also bypassed the town in the 1920s, the prosperity of the village slowly
but steadily faded. The only notable manufacturing enterprise that estab-
lished itself in Brownsburg during the late nineteenth century was the
Wilburn Saddle Company, which made a saddle similar to that used by
cavalry officers. For many years the Wilburn Saddle was made in Browns-
burg and proved widely popular in the Valley of Virginia. But no other new
businesses arrived, and the old services and enterprises continued to wane.
At present Brownsburg has a branch of the Bank of Rockbridge, a post
office, a telephone exchange that is part of Centel, and a middle school.
There are no longer any stores or small service shops. Brownsburg’s
population in the mid-1980s is estimated at 80-85.

In spite of the commercial decline of the town, Brownsburg has kept
most of its old houses which date mostly from the first half of the
nineteenth century and in a few cases from the period 1870-1910. These
houses play an important part in making Brownsburg and its environs the
pleasant residential community it is today. The Virginia Landmarks Com-
mission listed thirteen of Brownsburg’s early houses as being of special
interest and included among them the “blue shingle” house built of log and
weather board, the home of a black wheelwright. Some of the other older
houses have log cores, but most are built of brick and, according to the
Landmarks Commission, are of “the unembellished Valley Federal style.”
Many of these houses still have their original floors and handsome, finely
detailed woodwork. Some exteriors have been changed by the addition of
porches and extra rooms, but interiors have usually been left unchanged.

Among the Brownsburg houses of historic interest are the following (the
first name or names refer to the builder or early owners; the last name
denotes the present owner or occupant):

Dudley-Shoultz—brick and clapboard.

Lavelle-Hyde-Swope—Built in 1820s. This house was bought during the
1920s by a Quaker, Mrs. Mary Morris, who held religious meetings in the
basement where the Lavelles had kept a saloon. Mrs. Morris later opened a
health clinic for the needy with the assistance of the local doctor and
nurses. The small building in her yard was called “William Penn” and was
used as a “hospital.”

Withrow-Wade—c. 1817-brick.

Beard-Patterson-Bosworth—1819-brick.

Shaw-Ward-Heslip—early 1800s-brick. Street floor was originally a
store. Has been partially demolished.

Trotter-Whipple-Driver—small brick building erected as the Trotter’s
guest house. The wood section added much later to serve as a store.
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Lucas-Wade-S. Driver—originally one of the old log houses, but this
portion has been demolished. The more recent weather board section now
serves as an attractive post office heated by a fireplace.

Patterson-Ward—c. 1816-log core.

Withrow-Patterson-Anderson—called “Sleepy Hollow” and built of
stone and brick. Has been renovated. Located on Route 724 East.

Patterson-Nye—1824-brick. Beautiful woodwork.

Trotter-Fixx-Driver—Large brick house that originally had large
columned porches in front and back. Handsome woodwork. Has wide hall
with two large rooms on one side of it. Located on Route 724 West.

A mile-long avenue of maple trees provides an attractive entrance to
Brownsburg from the south. The trees were planted in the 1890s by the
Mitchells who owned the old McChesney farm.

Brownsburg Schools
Mollie Sue Whipple

During the two hundred years of their history, Brownsburg schools
have reflected the changes that have taken place in this Rockbridge County
village. The early settlers in Brownsburg and its environs, filled with
confidence in the rapid expansion of their community, quickly established
a number of high quality private schools and began the process of providing
educational facilities for this area.

The earliest school was organized in 1749, well before Brownsburg itself
was established, by the Reverend John Brown of New Providence Church,
on a site near Spotswood. Toward the end of the 1790s another private
school was organized at “Bellevue” by the Reverend Samuel Brown (no
relation to John Brown). “Bellevue” was a large brick house, now owned
by the Moneymaker family and located about two miles west of Browns-
burg. This school became a classical school and in 1850 evolved mto a
female seminary run by the Morrison family.

In 1823 the citizens of the area recognized the need for a school in
Brownsburg that would provide primary education for the many children
of the area. A school building was accordingly built near the intersection of
Main Street and the Fairfield Road.

By 1849 there was strong public interest in establishing a high school for
boys, and a number of members of the community formed a joint stock
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company to raise the necessary funds. Stocks valued at twenty-five dollars
each were sold to a large number of purchasers (including Timber Ridge
Presbyterian Church, which bought one share, and the Lexington Presby-
tery, which bought twelve shares), and the sum of two thousand dollars
was thus raised. On October 23, 1849, the committee in charge signed a
contract with John and James Withrow to build a brick foundation and
walls for a building at a cost of five hundred dollars. There is no record of
the origin of the bricks, but it is likely that they were made on or near the
intended site by slaves who were skilled brick makers. Abraham Supinger
was to furnish all materials and labor for the carpentry work at a cost of
$470. James F. Russell was to paint the building inside and out, on the
understanding that the committee would furnish all materials, but Russell
would do the work, provide his own board, and receive $30 for the job.
Thus, a two-story brick building, 80 feet long and 30 feet wide, was to be
built at a cost of a thousand dollars.

Land for the school building at the north end of Back Street had been
bought in 1824 from John McBryde by the trustees of Brownsburg School:
William W. Trimble, Henry B. Jones, William Withrow, James W. Gilker-
son, and Andrew Patterson.

The new school, built in 1849-50, was called The Brownsburg Academy
and was opened September 2, 1850, with the Reverend W. W. Trimble as
principal. In 1853 the Reverend James Greer replaced Trimble as principal
and sole teacher. The course of study included Latin, Greek, Mathematics,
and Natural Philosophy, with due attention given to English, Spelling,
Reading, and Composition, and was intended to qualify young men for an
advanced placement in a good college or any of the practical pursuits of
life. Terms were very reasonable. Pupils were boarded in the home of the
principal, with relatives in the neighborhood, or in places approved by the
principal. Board, including laundry, could be obtained in the homes of
good families in the village and vicinity for $6 to $7.50 per month.

The large room on the second floor of the academy was used not only
for classes but as a place to hold religious services, public meetings, and a
“court of justice” for disciplinary matters. In 1851 the grounds of the
Academy were enclosed by a fence and a cupola was added to the building,
giving a finished appearance to the structure. In the cupola was an iron
bell, cast in Richmond by John Taylor in 1800, that was used to call
students to class and also on the occasion of public meetings.

Life at the Academy was vividly described in a letter written by the uncle
of L. C. Lockridge of Raphine:

I am very much pleased with my place of boarding. I couldn’t have bettered myself
within reach of the school. I find Major and Mrs. Brooks to be clever indeed, and
Miss Harriet is a perfect angel. I can scarcely keep from falling in love with her, but
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v

REV. JAMES GREER, A. If., Principal.

HIS institution is situated in Rockbridge County,
Vi, 22 miles from Staunton, and 18 from Lexing.
ton.  Its location iy iu. the midst of a beautitul and
" healthy region of country. and of a moral and in-
telligent commumty.  There is belonging to the Schoul,
in addition to the new Academy Building represented above,
a commedious Dwelling-house in the occupancy of the
Principal, cupuble of accommodating a dozen boarders.
may also be obtained in other respectatle families
in the village und weighborhood. The Sehool is designed
to prepare voung wen tor College or the University, or for
the uctive business of life. The Fall term commences on
the 1st of Septomber, and the Winter term ou the st of
February, and esch continues five mouths, leaving vue
vacation, which cowpriscs the wmouths of July and Au-
Sust.

EXPENSES PER TERM OF FIVE MONTHS.

Boarding. wushing, room furnished, light, and fucl,
‘Tuition—In the Latin, Greek, and Higher Mathematics,
In the advanced classes in Engiish, iucluding Philoso-

F 00
20 00

phy, &e., 15 00
Reading. Writing, Arith and English G , 12 50
Contingent Expense fund,

Board nay be hed a short distance in the country ut 38 or
$84 per month.
Bills payable dch term in advance.

> their Sons or Wards,

D alals ol Cor s
TESTIMOXIALS,
'From the Rev. Wm. K. McGuffie, D. D., L. L. D,, Prof. of
Moral Philosophy in the University of Virginia.
4 Usiversity o¥ Va., JTanuary 9th, 1855.

_ I huve entire confidence in the Rev. J. Gikes as o Disciplina-
rian and lnstructor, and can cordially recommend his Academy
to such us desire a safe, cilicient, and well conducted School for

WM. 1L McGUFFIE.

From B. R. Wellford, M. D., of Fredericksburg, now Pro-
fessor in Richmond Medical College.

T have long been intimately acquainted with the Rev. Jaues
Greer.  Of his character as a man and his abilities os a teacher,
[ canunot speak more highly than they deserve—I have never
known u man to whom | would seongr confido the education of
a pupil. B. R. WELLFORD.
From the Rev. George Junkin, D. D., President of

Washington College, Va.
Having attended the examinations of the Hicu ScuvoL at
Browusbury, I fedl it simply due to the cnergetic, talented. and
‘suceesstul Principal, to testify to the strict accuracy and
thoroughness of the mental drilling to which his pupls are
!suhjuclml,: and feel strongly confident in reeommending this
i School to all purents as a sound and sals placs of deposit for

their most p aud i bl 3
GEORGE JUNKIN.

Village of Brownsburg

you know that would not do, as it would interfere with my studies—but I swear I
cannot help but love her a little anyhow.

He went on to add the following glimpse of a student prank at the Academy:

We had some fun the other morning at the Academy. When we went up there,

Proceedings X (1980-89) 113



Mason, Heffelfinger, and Whipple

behold there was an old ram tied to the bell rope, and another tied to Mr.
Trimble’s chair, and two sheep in the recitation room tied to the stove, and such a
devil of a dirty, stinking house I've never seen; it is useless to add that we got a
powerful lecture for it, but you never saw a more innocent looking set of fellows in
your life.

In 1877, seven years after Virginia adopted the free school system, the
trustees of the Brownsburg Academy sold their building to the trustees of
the public schools of the Walkers Creek District for $500, and the building
was named Brownsburg High School, although all grades were taught
there. As a private institution, therefore, The Brownsburg Academy had
existed twenty-seven years and during this period served as a distinguished
Brownsburg institution.

In 1889 a four-room brick building was erected as another school at
New Providence Church. It had the combined purpose of serving as a
Sunday School and offering secular education during the week to local
children, as well as others who boarded at nearby families. This school,
called New Providence Academy, was torn down in 1923.

In the spring of 1919, when the state of Virginia decided to establish a
vocational agricultural department in one school in Rockbridge County,
there was fierce competition between Brownsburg and Fairfield, with
Brownsburg emerging as the winner. The first class of about twenty boys in
this new department was enrolled in September 1919, with R. P. Wall as
instructor. The first shop was merely a small enclosed porch on the back of
the high school, but Wall set out at once to raise funds for a new building
for his department. By soliciting contributions from members of the com-
munity and lobbying district, county, and state authorities, Wall raised
$10,000, and during the summer and fall of 1921 built a new stuccoed
building behind the high school. Before being put into use, however, the
new building was mysteriously burned down during the Christmas holidays.
Undaunted by this disaster, Wall addressed the task of rebuilding and
found a strong ally in Dr. Thomas D. Eason, state supervisor of Vocational
Agriculture. Eason came from Richmond to Brownsburg to confer with
Wall, and the boys in the Agricultural Department gave him a banquet,
complete with a song sung in his honor. Eason was so taken by surprise
that he responded by announcing a gift of $500 from the state for a new
building. The boys then sang a second song and received another $500.
This went on until Eason had pledged $2500—the sum needed to supple-
ment the insurance payment, and Wall soon oversaw construction of a new
stuccoed building,

Under Wall’s direction the boys in the Agricultural Department or-
ganized and conducted the Brownsburg Community Agricultural Fair.
After three successful years it became known as the Rockbridge County
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Agricultural Fair, and the following year was moved to Lexington, where
it was an annual event for many years. During the depression interest in
agricultural classes declined because of the feeling on the part of many of
the local boys that there was no future in farming. Agricultural classes were
discontinued and the high school took over the stuccoed building for
classrooms.

In 1935 the second floor of the high school (the old Academy) was
declared unsafe and the building was condemned by the state. In 1938 a
large new brick building was erected and dedicated in September 1938. The
eighty-five-year old former Academy was torn down and its bell was hung
on an iron frame erected on Main Street by the Boy Scouts and Brownsburg
Ruritan Club. The stucco building, however, was retained as classroom
space and a lunch room.

Shortly after the new high school building opened, interest in agricultural
classes and shop courses again developed, and this need was met by
moving in a two-room school building from the Bustleburg area. This
wood building still stands near the school and, having been given a brick
facing, is now used as a reading center.

The most recent important changes in Brownsburg’s educational ar-
rangements occurred in 1961, when high school classes were transferred to
Rockbridge High School, and in 1975, when elementary grades were
moved to Fairfield. At present the only school at Brownsburg is the middle
school, housed in the former high school, which succeeded the still vividly
recalled Brownsburg Academy that existed from 1850 to 1877.
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First Years and First Families:
Rockbridge County, 1735-1745

Laura Moore Stearns

A
4

T is easy enough to locate a place, to tell where it is. Describing what
.~ it is, however, is a more subtle endeavor. The latter calls forth not

"~ only strong visual images, such as “heavily forested mountains” or
“cleared farmlands,” it also demands perception and appreciation for the
character of local people and the mystique of their history. The Rockbridge
Historical Society’s 1980 program theme, “A Sense of Place,” encourages
this refined discernment.

The “place,” of course, is Rockbridge County, Virginia, and any “sense”
of it must begin with Scotch-Irish Presbyterians of the eighteenth century.
During the decade from 1735 to 1745 hundreds upon hundreds of these
immigrants homesteaded what is now the Rockbridge area and what was
then an uninhabited Indian hunting ground.! Arriving in such impressive

Laura Moore Stearns, whose father’s family were among the county’s pioneer settlers,
had been instructor of history at Southern Seminary Junior College for ten years at
the time she delivered her paper in the school’s Main Ballroom on October 27, 1980.

1. Indian settlements once existed in the Rockbridge area in earlier times, but all
were gone by the eighteenth century. Although several tribes continued to regard
these Central Valley hunting grounds as their territorial possessions, the immigrant
white homesteaders viewed the land as empty, more ready for the taking even than
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numbers within so short a time, and having no competition or influence
from any permanently entrenched neighbors, these pioneers carved a fron-
tier society singularly stamped with Scotch-Irish manners, morals, and
beliefs. The Rockbridge area remained overwhelmingly Scotch-Irish and
Presbyterian until well into the nineteenth century, and that character has
persisted to such an extent that even in the twentieth century, Rockbridge
has been called the “most distinctively Scotch-Irish county in America.”2

Who were these Scotch-Irish pioneers who flooded the Rockbridge
frontier? The hyphenated term is, in fact, somewhat misleading. To the
uninitiated, it implies the offspring from marriages of distinct Scottish and
Irish families. In actuality, however, “Scotch-Irish” refers only to the more
recent American descendants of Scottish peasants who first migrated to
Ulster, the northern province of Ireland, during the seventeenth century,
and then to the New World in the eighteenth century.

These ancestors originally abandoned lives of poverty and insecurity in
the Lowlands of Scotland when, beginning in 1610, they were lured to
Ulster by attractively advertised land options. James I, the English king,
hoping to subdue the “wild” Irish Catholics in his realm by colonizing
substantial numbers of Protestants in Ireland, had offered land grants in
Ulster to Scottish lords and English merchants. The grantees could lease
parcels of the land for thirty-one years to colonists—a considerable improve-
ment over the traditional Scottish one- two- or three-year feudal leases,
and since at that time increasing numbers of Scottish peasants were falling
from the status of tenant to that of hired labor, those with wit and ambition
were quick to see the economic advantages of migrating to Ulster.3

As Presbyterians in that seventheenth century age of fierce religious
intolerance, they mixed very little with the indigenous Catholic population

were places with established Indian villages that had to be seized more brutally—a
practice in which the whites were not reluctant to engage.

2. Weyland F. Dunaway, The Scotch-Irish of Colonial Pennsylvania (Chapel Hill,
1944), p. 105.

3. James G. Leyburn, The Scotch-Irish: A Social History (Chapel Hill, 1962), p.
101. Historians generally agree the term “peasant,” used in the medieval European
sense of that word, was not necessarily derogatory. The medieval peasant was simply
a tiller of the soil who owed a part of his annual crop as well as other obligations to the
lord or freeholder on whose land he labored. Naturally some of the peasant population,
which comprised the vast majority of people in the Scottish Lowlands, were stupid,
lazy, and coarse. But others were intelligent, hard working, and principled. Those who
migrated must surely have been among the latter, for those were the ones with enough
perception to pursue fresh opportunities.
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in Ireland.# They married almost exclusively among themselves, or with
other colonists of the British Puritan or French Hugenot persuasions,
whose Calvinist backgrounds were compatible with Presbyterian Calvinism.
The Scottish immigrants to Ulster thus maintained their distinctive Scot-
tish Presbyterian faith. Neither by blood nor culture, then, were they truly
Irish.

But after four generations in Ulster, the descendants of those original
colonists were significantly different from their Scottish Lowland ances-
tors. Their Presbyterianism, constantly threatened by the ever-present fer-
vor of the Irish Catholics, had grown more intense, more uncompromising,
more severely disciplined. Most important, the men and women of eigh-
teenth century Ulster were natives of Irish soil. For them Scotland had
become but a faded folk memory. Ireland was where they were born;
Ireland was the only home they knew; Ireland was where their parents and
grandparents and great-grandparents had planted farms and mingled with
English Puritans and French Hugenots to create a stock of people ethni-
cally distinct from Scottish Lowlanders. Just as second- and third-
generation immigrants to the United States think of themselves as Ameri-
cans rather than Poles or Germans or whatever, so the eighteenth century
Ulstermen regarded themselves as Irish rather than Scottish—or specifi-
cally as Irish Presbyterians to keep clear their select position among their
Irish Catholic neighbors. When they removed to the New World, they did
not object to being called Irish by American colonial officials.5 In fact, the
areas of Virginia, now Rockbridge and Augusta Counties, where so many
of them settled in the 1730s and 1740s, were known in those days as the
“Irish Tract.”¢

The term Scotch-Irish was coined in America much later, and it does
not appear to have been used with any frequency until after the middle of
the nineteenth century. It may have been adopted in response to the enor-
mous influx of Irish Catholic immigrants during the 1840s and 1850s.
Great prejudice existed against these proverty stricken newcomers to
nineteenth-century America, largely because they were an unfamiliar
Catholic minority in a predominantly Protestant country. A Colonel
Christian, for example, in an 1859 address on the Scotch-Irish to Washing-
ton College alumni, most carefully emphasized that Scotch-Irish was not

4. Ibid., p. 139. This religious exclusiveness by both Presbyterians in Ulster and
Catholics in the rest of Ireland partly explains why Ireland continues to be racked by
conflict today.

5. Ibid., pp. 141-44.

6. Ibid., p. 205.
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an amalgam of both Scotch and Irish families; that being Scotch-Irish
simply meant one’s Presbyterian family had in the distant past moved from
Scotland to live in northern Ireland before coming to America, and that
Scotch-Irish virtues stood well above the “rude breeding” of Catholic
Irishmen.” ;

The Irish Presbyterians, whose American posterity would call them-
selves Scotch-Irish, began arriving in the New World in huge numbers after
1717. By some estimates, as many as 200,000, or possibly even 250,000, of
them had settled on the American frontier by the time of the Revolution.?
They were driven from northern Ireland to America for much the same
reasons their ancestors had migrated from Scotland to Ulster one hundred
years earlier—the hope for economic improvement. Prosperity had declined
in Ulster due to British restrictions on the linen and woolen trades. Also,
the insidious practice of “rack-renting”—the doubling of a tenant’s rent
when his original lease ended—was on the rise, and many were being
evicted from their farms. These problems were compounded by a series of
droughts, hard winters, livestock diseases, famines, and outbreaks of small-
pox in Ireland during the eighteenth century. Furthermore, being forced to
tithe to the Church of England was a bitter burden, both economic and
religious, and Irish Presbyterians deeply resented this intrusion on the
practice of their faith.® Such conditions in Ulster, combined with wides-
pread propaganda about the wealth of America and the success of earlier
colonists, provided the impetus for migration. As one observer put it, in
America they expected to enjoy “a free conscience and a full stomach.”10

Getting to the New World, however, was no easy matter. The journey
across the Atlantic in small ships was an exercise in misery for most, and it
was expensive. Unless one was a convict or other undesirable whom the
authorities were anxious to deport to the colonies, the emigrant had to
arrange to pay for passage. Some Irish Presbyterians did come as convicts,
though were not necessarily murderers or other “hard-core” criminal types.
In that unenlightened age, they more often were simply unfortunate debt-
ors with no means to discharge their obligations.

A more frequent method of getting to the New World was to indenture
one’s self—that is, find a patron who would pay the passage in return for a

7. Bolivar Christian, “The Scotch-Irish Settlers in the Valley of Virginia,” Washing-
ton and Lee University Historical Papers, No. 3 (Baltimore, 1892), pp. 3-4.

8. Dunaway, Scotch-Irish of Colonial Pennsylvania, pp. 33-40; Leyburn, Scotch-
Irish, p. 157.

9. Leyburn, Scotch-Irish, pp. 163-65.

10. R. J. Dickson, Ulster Emigration to Colonial America, 1718-1775 (London,
1966), p. 1.
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number of years service in America. This ingenious arrangement bore no
stigma and provided a grand opportunity for the less affluent to better
themselves. Thousands upon thousands of Irish Presbyterians came to
America as indentured servants. In fact, according to one source, “only one
in ten could pay his own passage.”!!

Of most interest were those Irish Presbyterians who did pay their own
passage, for importing one’s self to America took considerable resources.
First, there was the cost of transportation on the ship, then enough money
must be left over to buy land, tools, seeds, and the other necessities for
homesteading in the New World. This cost perhaps £10 or more (about $30
to $35 in American currency of the times). Though a small amount by
twentieth-century standards, this represented a whole year’s wages for an
eighteenth-century Ulster laborer.

Yet, despite the economic distress prevailing in Ulster, a respectable
number of Irish Presbyterians were able to afford their own passage to
America.!3 Every early county where they settled kept records of these
more prosperous immigrants. John MoDowell, who came to Rockbridge
(still a part of Orange County at the time) and who rose to prominence in
this area, was one example. The Orange County Court of 1739 recorded
that McDowell gave proof of having imported at his own expense not only
his wife and family, but also a servant (perhaps indentured).4

There are no figures to indicate how many among Rockbridge’s earliest
settlers may also have had servants; probably McDowell was in the minor-
ity, though evidence does exist of others.!S In any case, when the Rock-
bridge area was settled during the 1730s and 1740s, Irish Presbyterians of
more substantial means had begun migrating to America, and undoubtedly
many of Rockbridge’s original homesteaders had imported at least
themselves. 16

11. Quoted in Leyburn, Scotch-Irish, p. 174.

12. Dickson, Ulster Emigration, p. 87.

13. Leyburn, Scotch-Irish, p. 142.

14. Joseph A. Waddell, Annals of Augusta County, Virginia, from 1726 to 1871,
2d ed., revised and enlarged (Staunton, Va., 1902), p. 37.

15. Lyman Chalkley, Chronicles of the Scotch-Irish Settlement in Virginia,
Extracted from the Original Court Records of Augusta County, 1745-1800, 3 vols.
(Rosslyn, Va., 1912), 1: 305.

16. Waddell, Annals of Augusta County, pp. 38-39, 258; W. W. Scott, A4 History of
Orange County, Virginia (Richmond, 1907), pp. 225-29. All records concerning the
inhabitants of what is now Rockbridge County were kept in the Orange County
courthouse until 1745, and then in the Augusta courthouse until 1778, when Rock-
bridge was at last set off as a separate county. In their listings of those who had
proved to have imported themselves, both Waddell and Scott were working from the
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Having paid their own passages to America, notwithstanding, these
Irish Presbyterian families were not “well-born”—at least not in the sense
of having aristocratic ancestry. Indeed, for sound reasons, those born into
securely privileged positions seldom migrate, and certainly not if a change
of location is likely to reduce rather than enhance their status. This was the
case when Scots first left the Lowlands for northern Ireland. Those going
were from the struggling classes who hoped the longer land leases offered
in Ulster would permit them a more stable livelihood. Scottish noblemen
were not among them. It defies logic to think that a great, or even a lesser,
lord would have abandoned his own lands and privileges to assume the
rank of a tenant in Ulster. It is most unlikely, therefore, to find any
noblemen perched among the branches of any Scotch-Irish family tree.!?

If one seeks upper class ancestors, however, it may be possible some
Scotch-Irish are descended from the Scottish gentry. This very small class
of people, though lacking aristocratic titles, did hold their own lands,
sometimes large tracts, which they rented to tenants on much the same
basis as the lords. Conceivably, some of these may have migrated to Ulster,
and later to America, if they could obtain land grants substantially more
than what they already possessed. But again, this was a class sufficiently
secure and privileged that not many were likely to find the risks and rigors
of colonization enticing.

By and large, then, the Irish Presbyterians who migrated to America
were descendants of the tenant classes of the Scottish Lowlands and had
been tenants themselves in Ulster. Though many had become prosperous
in Ireland, they generally were not among the property owning upper
classes of feudal Europe. Surely one of eighteenth-century America’s great-
est attractions, even for the most well-off of Ulster tenants, was the ready
opportunity to acquire land of one’s own.

This is precisely what the frontier region of present day Rockbridge had
to offer in the 1730s. Word was spreading about rich land available for
homesteads, due partly to the advertising efforts of Benjamin Borden, a
land speculator from New Jersey, who had moved into the northern sec-
tion of the Virginia Valley. In 1735 Borden was promised a grant of one
hundred thousand acres, located in what is now Rockbridge County, if he

Orange and Augusta records, and so they made no distinction as to which among
these many early settlers lived in the Rockbridge area specifically. Without further
research, therefore, it is impossible to ascertain any precise number of those in
Rockbridge who had paid their own passage to America.

17. Leyburn, Scotch-Irish, pp. xiv, 16.
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could settle one family in the area for each one thousand acres within two
years, a time limit later extended.!8

Borden was not alone in this kind of enterprise. William Beverley had
received an even larger grant just to the north of Borden’s in present-day
Augusta County. Since official government policy of colonial Virginia
stressed populating the frontier, Beverley’s terms were similar—to settle a
specific number of families within a two-year period. These two entrepre-
neurs industriously circulated information in both America and northern
Ireland about their lands, and Beverley’s grant was filling rapidly with Irish
Presbyterians. Shortly they would spill south into Borden’s tract.!®

Some came directly from northern Ireland, passing through Penn-
sylvania, which had long been the favored point of entry for most Irish
Presbyterians because of that colony’s liberality in religious toleration.20
The newcomers, finding the best lands in Pennsylvania either too costly or
already taken by their predecessors, pressed on to the Central Valley of
Virginia where acreage was still plentiful and inexpensive.2! Other early
settlers on Borden’s land (most likely the majority) had been living for a
while, or had even been born, in Pennsylvania. But after two decades of
heavy Irish Presbyterian migration into Pennsylvania’s back country, many
had grown dissatisfied with the “crowded” conditions, and the ambitious
or restless among them sought wider spaces on the Virginia frontier.22 A
very few others came from New Jersey or from east of the Blue Ridge.23

In all probability, these Irish Presbyterian hordes would have descended
upon the Rockbridge region without any inducement from Borden. Two
historians, in fact, have viewed the supposed benefits of Borden’s grant
with skepticism. According to both, individual settlers could just as easily
have purchased this land directly from the colonial government, thereby
avoiding the legal tangles which so often followed the purchase of a title
from Borden himself.24 Thus, Borden’s services as proprietor were not

18. E. Pendleton Tompkins, “Borden’s Grant,” Proceedings of the Rockbridge
Historical Society 1(1941): 14.

19. William Couper, History of the Shenandoah Valley, 3 vols. (New York, 1952),
1: 272-79.

20. Pennsylvania had no established church, while many of the other colonies did.
In most New England colonies, for example, the Puritan faith was established, and in
the southern colonies Anglicans had established the Church of England.

21. Dunaway, Scotch-Irish of Colonial Pennsylvania, p. 103.

22. Ibid., p. 105; Leyburn, Scotch-Irish, p. 206.

23. Couper, History of the Shenandoah Valley, 1: 265, 293.

24. Ibid., 1: 306; Oren F. Morton, A History of Rockbridge County, Virginia
(Staunton, 1920), p. 32. Borden kept poor records, and there was strong feeling
among many of the settlers who acquired their titles from him that he had not dealt
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absolutely necessary to settle the area, and since he was promised his grant
at the precise moment when the cutting edge of the Irish Presbyterian
southward migration into the Valley of Virginia had advanced to the
Rockbridge area, most certainly settlers would have flowed onto the land
without Borden’s advertisement.2s

John Peter Sallings, for instance, who had explored the region during
the 1720s, homesteaded near Balcony Falls to the south of Borden’s grant
around 1732—three years prior to Borden’s first agreement with the govern-
ment to recruit settlers.26 No doubt there were others as early deed books
show patents to smaller amounts of land outside Borden’s great tract. The
first was recorded in 1740.27 Some of these could have preceded the settlers
Borden collected, as did Sallings, for usually a homesteader actually lived
on his land a number of years before receiving a title, and Borden brought
no settlers until late in the year 1737 and gave no titles until 1741. It is
impossible, therefore, to draw up any definitive list of families who may
have been the first to live within the present day bounds of Rockbridge
County until more research is done on the early settlers outside Borden’s
tract. Certainly evidence indicates the settlement of the grant was not the
only facet of pioneer Rockbridge history.

Settlement of the grant, however, has been more thoroughly researched.
Indeed, it rightly should be the primary focus of any early Rockbridge
history, for the great bulk of the pioneer population homesteaded on this
tract, and these settlers were the Irish Presbyterians who so powerfully
molded the region’s subsequent character.

But again there are obstacles to compiling any accurate list of which
families appeared earliest, although common concensus holds that John
McDowell, his father, Ephraim, and his sister and brother-in-law, Mary
and James Greenlee, were the first. In September of 1737, they were travel-
ing to Beverley’s grant, planning to make their homes there, and the story
of how Borden accidently stumbled into their camp while in the area
searching for his own land is so well known, it hardly bears retelling.
McDowell, of course, was a surveyor and agreed to locate Borden’s tract in

fairly with them. The litigation over his estate after his death lasted 150 years, and it
is well documented by Couper and Morton, as well as by Waddell, Chalkey, and
numerous others.

25. Couper, History of the Shenandoah Valley, 1: 279. Couper notes, however,
that government officials of colonial virginia believed the promise of a large grant to
a private individual on condition settlers be brought in provided the surest incentive
for populating the frontier, and this was why the granting of such large tracts of land
to men like Borden and Beverley was common practice.

26. Morton, History of Rockbridge County, pp. 19-20.

27. Waddell, Annals of Augusta County, p. 41.
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return for one thousand acres. Mrs. Greenlee testified to this in 1806 when
giving her famous deposition in one of the innumerable suits brought
against the Borden estate. Her mind was perfectly clear, despite her very
advanced age, and her detailed eyewitness account of the earliest years of
settlement deserves being called the “Cornerstone of Rockbridge History.”28

Such a unique tale from so valuable a document may perhaps be the
reason McDowell’s little group has been so generally accepted as the origi-
nal grant settlers. But it is possible the McDowells and Greenlees were not
really “first” in time; they may simply have been the first to contract a
formal arrangement with Borden.

It would not be unreasonable to assume that some families had already
moved onto Borden’s future land prior to his appearance in 1737. As
noted, there probably were settlers in other parts of Rockbridge before
Borden’s arrival, and since no boundaries were drawn as yet, why not a few
also on the acres which would someday belong to the proprietor? This was
certainly the case when William Beverley received his grant just north of
Borden’s, and Greenlee stated in her deposition that a number of people
did settle without first talking with “old Borden.”?® When Borden finally
issued titles after his grant was confirmed in 1739, perhaps a few of the
recipients had been such pre-Borden “squatters.” Borden no doubt would
have been pleased to do business with them, for their existence would
surely have been to his advantage in accumulating the one hundred fami-
lies he needed to earn the one hundred thousand acres.

Even after Borden arrived and contracted his initial agreement with
McDowell, the settlers who followed by no means entered the grant in a
systematic single file. They came in groups, haphazardly and probably in
large numbers at a time—more like an invasion than by any orderly proce-
dure. Since Borden’s final patent gave him 92,100 acres—1,000 for each
family settled—the government “processioner” must have counted ninety-
two families a mere one year later in the fall of 1738 when it was time to
judge whether or not Borden had sufficiently fulfilled the terms to receive
the grant.30

28. Tompkins, “Borden’s Grant,” 1: 15. The deposition is printed in full in Couper,
History of the Shenandoah Valley, 1: 274-79.

29. Joseph A. Waddell, “Scotch-Irish of the Valley of Virginia,” in The Scotch-
Irish in America, Proceedings and Addresses of the Seventh Congress at Lexington,
Virginia, June 20-23, 1895 (Nashville, Tenn., 1895), p. 82; Couper, History of the
Shenandoah Valley, 1. 269, 278.

30. Morton, History of Rockbridge County, p. 27; Couper, History of the Shen-
andoah Valley, 1: 294; F. B. Kegley, Kegley'’s Virginia Frontier (Roanoke, Va., 1938),
pp. 38-39.
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One would naturally expect these ninety-two families to have been the
first settled on the tract, but in the absence of the processioner’s list, there is
no way to determine whom he counted. Moreover, it was possible that
either more or less than ninety-two families existed. Mrs. Greenlee, in her
deposition, told a story about how the servant girl of a James Bell trotted
from one cabin to another, giving the processioner a different name at
each, and thus was counted perhaps five or six times. Greenlee also indi-
cated that gossip abounded about others who were counted several times in
the same way.3!

This tale appears to have been authentic, for the Augusta County Court
Records of 1751 show that Benjamin Borden, Jr., during a suit for several
deeds against his late father’s estate, referred specifically to the case of the
servant girl, as well as to another instance in which the wife of a settler
performed the same trick of going to another cabin ahead of the proces-
sioner and presenting herself as the wife of a different settler.32

On the other hand, the junior Borden later claimed the number of
families was 145.33 This, too, could have been so, because settlers continued
to “squat” on the land without making purchase arrangements, probably
expecting eventually to receive Borden’s usual “cabin right,” which was one
hundred acres with the privilege of buying additional land in return for
building a cabin and planting crops.34 Very likely some did receive titles
later. Did the processioner search for any of these squatters? Or did he seek
out only those with whom Borden had a formal arrangement? Perhaps he
simply travelled through the grant at random, counting those whom he
found by happenstance or by word of mouth, thus remaining ignorant of
some families who had moved into this wilderness area. In any case, the
grant was based on a tally of ninety-two.

Yet a list of the earliest titles conveyed by Borden between 1741 and his
death in 1742 included only fifty families.3> Mrs. Greenlee believed these
first deeds were given for the “cabin rights.”36 If one could know how many
settlers the processioner really did count more than once, the total might
come closer to his ninety-two. However, any precise one for one connec-
tion between the names on the list and the identity of the actual first
settlers remains speculative. The first of the titles was not issued until fall,

31. Couper, History of the Shenandoah Valley, 1: 275.

32. Chalkley, Chronicles of the Scotch-Irish Settlement in Virginia, 1: 305.
33. Couper, History of the Shenandoah Valley, 1: 294.

34. Ibid., 1: 278.

35. A list and an analysis of these is appended.

36. Couper, History of the Shenandoah Valley, 1: 278.

126 Rockbridge Historical Society



First Years and First Families

1741—three years after the processioner’s count. Any of the persons on the
list could have arrived since that 1738 tally, and therefore would not have
been among those who were chronologically first.

To add confusion to the matter, the settlers started buying and selling
land among themselves before titles were given.3” Under the circumstances,
it is quite possible some settlers who finally did have a deed recorded may
have purchased the “cabin right” from a more restless pioneer who had
moved on.

Furthermore, the recording of deeds was sometimes delayed for many
years beyond the physical act of settling. Witness the case of John Mc-
Dowell, who was certainly the first to make a formal contract with Borden.
McDowell’s lands were not legally titled until 1755, and then to his son
years after the father’s untimely death in an Indian skirmish of 1742. The
Greenlees, too, did not receive a title until 1747.38 Cunninghams, McKees,
Hamiltons, Gilmores, Logans, and Irvins, among others, were reputed to
have settled around Kerrs Creek perhaps as early as 1736, but none by
these names were titled until after Borden’s death.®

Then there were those among the earliest settlers, like Andrew Moor
(Moore), who failed to receive titles because of legal problems. In 1750
Moor alleged he had bought seven hundred acres of Borden’s tract in 1738,
but that Borden had surveyed it to William Evans and George Hender-
son.*® Another litigant was the same James Bell whose servant the proces-
sioner had unwittingly counted so many times. Bell filed suit against the
Borden estate in 1751, claiming he had entered one hundred acres prior to
1738, but had failed to receive a deed. In this same suit, Bell mentioned
sixteen other men who also had each entered one hundred acres with
Borden on February 21, 1738, but who, like Bell, still had been given no
deeds.4!

37. Kegley, Kegley's Virginia Frontier, p. 58; Leyburn, Scotch-Irish, p. 205; Mor-
ton, History of Rockbridge County, p. 28.

38. Morton, “Conveyances in Borden Tract, 1741-1780,” in History of Rock-
bridge County, pp. 345, 348.

39. Waddell, Annals of Augusta County, p. 170; Morton, History of Rockbridge
County, pp. 343-50. The first title to a Cunningham (1748) appears on p. 344, the
first to a McKee (1757) on p. 348, the first to a Hamilton (1751), on p. 343, the first to
a Gilmore (Gilmer) (1748) on p. 345, the first to a Logan (1753), on p. 346, and the
first to an Irvin (Erwin) (1748) on p. 345.

40. Chalkley, Chronicles of the Scotch-Irish Settlement in Virginia, 1: 303.

41. Ibid., p. 305. The names were: Alex. Breckinridge, George, James, Robert and
Adam Breckenridge, John Moore, Quantin Moore, George Henderson, Thomas
Armstrong, John Bell, John Walters, William McCanless, Robert Poage, Seth Poage,
Daniel McAnaire, and John Grove. However, John Moore, George Henderson,
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Obviously early settlement in the grant did not guarantee receiving one
of the first titles, and in the absence of any incontestable written documents
to prove who really was settled in the fall of 1738 when the processioner
arrived to count heads, it is impossible to produce any complete list of
those who did establish the very first “cabin rights” on Borden’s grant.

Unless one is pursuing some very specific geneological quest, the issue is
perhaps not so important. Certainly the Irish Presbyterian population con-
tinued to swell dramatically after the processioner’s 1738 count of the
questionable ninety-two original families. Some of the newer-comers may
well have been among the fortunate recipients of the first titles issued by
Borden between 1741 and 1743. But some of the later-comers, such as
Archibald Alexander (1747) and John Bowyer (1753), had more influence
on the developing community.42

Rather than quibble about who was “first,” a better question to ask is
what traits allowed these former Ulster tenants, now pioneers in the Vir-
ginia wilderness, to endure. Aristocrats they were not. But then the well-
born have often been feeble frontiersmen, while these descendants of
Scottish peasants possessed a heritage of withstanding adverse circum-
stances. Their traditional tenaciousness in surviving the grimmest condi-
tions had been accentuated by their century of colonial experience among
the enemy Irish Catholics in Ulster. Just as their grandparents and great-
grandparents had once intruded upon and dominated the Catholics of
northern Ireland, so now these Ulstermen were prepared to push aside the
heathen Indians of the Virginia frontier.43

During the first year they must have followed the Indian example of
eating the area’s abundant fresh game, but they quickly planted grain seed
as the first step towards taming the Rockbridge wilderness. Shortly these
crops, especially wheat, became the staple of their diet.44

Second only to the need for full stomachs, their lives centered on their
passionate Presbyterianism. One of their very first community acts was to
petition William Gooch, governor of Virginia colony, for the right to
establish congregations for worship. This was May 1738—not so long since
John McDowell had first met Borden and several months before the

William McCanless, and Robert Poage were listed among those who received the
earliest deeds; perhaps their hundred acres each referred to in this suit were lands
other than their original “cabin rights.” Also see Kegley, Kegley's Virginia Frontier,
p. 43.

42. Waddell, Annals of Augusta County, pp. 122, 180.

43. Morton, History of Rockbridge County, p. 23.

44. E. Pendleton Tompkins, Rockbridge County, Virginia: An Informal History
(Richmond, 1952), pp. 60-61.
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government processioner would arrive to count heads.4’

Religious services on the Sabbath were an all-day affair beginning at ten
in the morning and continuing to sunset. The settlers gathered to hear two
lengthy sermons, completely unadorned and unbroken by any ritual, with
a pause only for lunch. The mood of this meal was somber—even the
children played no games and made no noise. It was not a picnic.46 The
worshipers held absolute beliefs about right and wrong, convinced as they
were that the Presbyterian way was the only way to salvation. Principles
were never compromised. They esteemed strong discipline and, like cabin
building, barn raising, and tree felling, the enforcing of morals was com-
munity business. Standards were strict—dancing, for example, was viewed
with suspicion in the earliest days—and transgressors were publicly admon-
ished by the Presbyterian session.

A lighter side to Rockbridge life developed as time passed, especially on
court days and at wedding feasts, but the modern mind invariably pictures
a stern, dour people—stubborn, narrow-minded, intolerant, even cantank-
erous. Perhaps such traits were an asset in the wilderness. Levity and
amusement had little value when so much hard work was vital for survival.
Frontier Presbyterianism was not an easy faith, but then neither was front-
ier life an easy one.

No towns, church buildings, or school existed. There was no law enforce-
ment aside from community pressure. No court held session, except in
Orange County far to the east over the Blue Ridge. Augusta County, which
included present day Rockbridge, was set off in November 1738, but the
court was not organized to do business until 1745. Settlers were forced to
travel almost one hundred miles across the mountains to attend to any
matters requiring legal records—including the performance of marriage
ceremonies.4’ Surely this must have been an onerous journey, for there
were no roads and horseback was the only means of transportation. In
fact, the earliest settlers on the Rockbridge frontier arrived with all their
belongings on pack horses, and it would be some years before any kind of
wheeled vehicles could be used.48 The first shelters consisted of lean-to
camps, followed by simple, small log houses. Furniture was scanty and
crude.#® And there was the constant menace of wolves, cougars, and
Indians.5®

45. Ibid., p. 73.

46. Ibid., p. 39; Leyburn, Scotch-Irish, pp. 288-89.
47. Couper, History of the Shenandoah Valley, 1: 363.
48. Ibid., 1: 280.

49. Waddell, Annals of Augusta County, p. 44.

50. Tompkins, “Borden’s Grant,” p. 18.
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Such rude conditions, however, did not discourage these tough, deter-
mined Irish Presbyterians. Within the single decade between 1735, when
Borden was first promised the grant, and the establishment of the Augusta
County court in 1745, they had succeeded in transforming the raw Rock-
bridge wilderness into an orderly, more civilized community. The popula-
tion had grown well beyond the first ninety-two families counted by the
processioner in 1738, and as noted, at least fifty settlers had received deeds
to their lands. Four Presbyterian meeting houses had been organized
(Timber Ridge, New Providence, Falling Spring, and Monmouth).5! One,
and perhaps two, grist mills had been constructed—Hays’ Mill towards the
northern part of Borden’s tract and James Young’s on Whistle Creek.52
Though farming remained the primary occupation of virtually all, various
tradesmen were practicing specialized skills: a blacksmith, a wheelwright, a
wagon-maker, a joiner, among others. A start towards education, always a
major Presbyterian concern, had been launched by bringing in indentured
servants as schoolmasters.53 An Augusta County military force of twelve
companies with about fifty men each had come into existence. Captain
John McDowell’s company was composed of men from the southern part
of Borden’s grant, while those in the central and northern part served under
captain John Buchanan.* The days of the pack horse were now numbered,
for a petition had been approved and work begun to build a road from
James Young’s through Timber Ridge.5s

Preposterous as it may seem, the settlers of Borden’s tract had even
voted to tax themselves. One attraction of the frontier was that the
government exempted pioneers from taxation during the initial years of
homesteading. But the settlers soon found the lack of public funds an
inconvenience. Money was needed to construct roads, to pay bounties for
killing the wolves which constantly threatened livestock, and to provide an
eighteenth-century form of welfare for the poor, who apparently were
present from the beginning.5¢

One of the more intriguing features of the Rockbridge frontier commun-
ity was the rapid emergence of distinct social classes. Though they had
shared a common background of tenacy in northern Ireland and had come
to America to escape common economic troubles, the Irish Presbyterian

51. Ibid., p. 19.

52. Ibid., p. 20.

53. Tompkins, Rockbridge County, p. 66.

54. Waddell, Annals of Augusta County, p. 45; Couper, History of the Shenan-
doah Valley, 1: 309.

55. Waddell, Annals of Augusta County, p. 45.

56. Ibid., p. 43; Couper, History of the Shenandoah Valley, 1: 329.
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migration was not tinged in any way with the crusading spirit of liberty and
equality. To return to the point made earlier, they were Ulstermen and their
loyalty was to the culture and traditions they had known in Ulster. They
hoped to recreate familiar patterns in the wilderness, including strong
patriarchial families, adherence without question to Presbyterian disci-
pline, and respect for men of substantial means. Their impulses were con-
servative rather than liberal.

Naturally, during the initial days of settlement every family lived in the
same crude, makeshift arrangements, but no one intended to maintain this
primitive egalitarianism. Those who could acquired servants and hired
help, and their situation improved. Within months the social distinctions of
Ulster were manifest, with recognized leadership devolving on those mak-
ing the most rapid material progress. On the Rockbridge frontier, as in old
Ulster, such leadership was not distinguished by aristocratic titles or the
feudal privileges of the land owning gentry. Yet even in the Virginia back
country where so many could buy their own farms, all understood the lines
drawn between the “good” families, the “middling” groups, and the “lower

-orders.” In the absence of any traditional European marks of status, there
arose on the frontier an unwritten code for judging the “better sorts.” One’s
home must advance quickly from lean-to shack to small log cabin to some
larger structure of finer quality. One’s land and crops should be clean with
additional acres cleared every year (a sign of industrious farming). One
must acquire numerous cattle and other domestic animals, especially sheep,
for the latter were hard to tend while their wool provided better quality
clothing. One must keep a weed-free, well-cultivated garden. And one’s
wife and daughters, though laboring long unrequited hours with cooking
and house cleaning and sewing, must never, never work in the fields.5’

By fulfilling these criteria, a man presumably demonstrated his posses-
sion of the best hard-working, sober Presybterian qualities, and inciden-
tally, such materially rewarded virtue was deemed a sign of having been
blessed by God’s grace along the single path to Presbyterian salvation. Any
such man was surely deserving of the respect and deference due a superior.

Yet the realities of Rockbridge frontier life constituted a crucible for
values. Space was a primary influence; the existence of vastly more unsettled
regions always just a little farther to the west exerted a continual pull.
Anyone, even the “better sorts,” might be lured by this prospect of ever
greater expanses of land, and those who were restless, adventurous, or
unwilling to submit to established discipline and mores moved on. Some
achieved distinction in other wilderness settings. Those who remained in

57. Leyburn, Scotch-Irish, pp. 257-63.
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Rockbridge demonstrated their commitment to stability, the accepted
community morals, and the emerging social order.

Thus it was that even as early as 1745, Rockbridge’s particular charac-
ter, which descendants of the early pioneers would call Scotch-Irish, had
begun to take a defined shape. Those who supported the community struc-
ture being forged by the more rooted Irish Presbyterian settlers stayed,
while those who did not left. So Rockbridge developed as an essentially
conservative area, criss-crossed by a tightly knit network of Irish Presbyter-
ian family relations in which Presbyterian discipline prevailed and special
social dignity was accepted as a preordained reward for the virtuous.

This conservatism, which could so easily have become smug and com-
placent, was charged with an energy fostered by the freedom of movement
possible in the spacious American wilderness. So rich were the fresh privi-
leges of opportunity that the inherited privileges of mere birth could never
entirely solidify. Each generation had to earn again its own right to status;
each generation must renew its individual claim to respect through hard
work and honorable accomplishment.

This had been the Irish Presbyterian experience when they had pio-
neered in Ulster, and this was a mark of Irish Presbyterian vigor on the
Rockbridge frontier. The result was an emerging community in which one
of the most cherished traditions was a family history of stable, steady
achievement by each son and grandson and great-grandson. Through the
on-going years, the Scotch-Irish descendants of those early settlers have
come to consider this trans-generational sense of responsibility one of their
finest qualities.

APPENDIX

Following is an alphabetical list of the earliest deeds conveyed in Ben-
jamin Borden’s grant through 1743, the year of the proprietor’s death. The
deeds are recorded in Orange County, as that is where all records concern-
ing the Rockbridge area were kept until the organization of the Augusta
County court in 1745. This list is extracted from Oren F. Morton, “Con-
veyances in Borden Tract, 1741-1780,” A History of Rockbridge County,
Virginia (Staunton, 1920), pp. 343-50. Morton presents in consecutive
order the name of the purchaser (sometimes that of a spouse in paren-
theses), the number of acres, the price, the year of recording the deed, and
the location if known. £, s, and d stand for pounds, shillings, and pence. If
one wishes to figure the prices in American currency of the times, the
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eighteenth century pound = $3.33, the shilling = 16 2/ 3 cents, the pence = 1
7/ 18 cents.

Morton gives no date beside four names, but these same four with a
1742 date do appear on a list of first Borden deeds in William Couper,
History of the Shenandoah Valley, 3 vols. (New York, 1952), 296-99.
Couper also notes that the original Isaac Taylor deed was conveyed to
Isaac Taylor, Jr., in 1746. However, Couper does not include John Carr
(Kerr) or William Finley who was most probably the William Fearnley on
another list in Lyman Chalkley, Chronicles of the Scotch-Irish Settlement
in Virginia: Extracted from the Original Court Records of Augusta County,
1745-1800, 3 vols. (Rosslyn, 1912), 524-25.

One of the difficulties in compiling names of the early Rockbridge
settlers is that the eighteenth century recognized no standardized spellings,
and often the same individual’s name appears in different places spelled
differently. For example, the Robert Heastane on Chalkley’s list must
surely have been Robert Houston. And it is reasonable to assume that
Finley was Fearnley (Fernly) (Fernley) because Borden mentioned in his
will a daughter, Mary, who was married to a William Fearnley, and the
Finley on Morton’s list, whose consort was Mary, seems to have purchased
land which was unusual in its description as simply part of a larger tract.
As son-in-law, perhaps he was planning to buy (or inherit) the rest of it.

In addition to Morton, Couper, and Chalkley, F. B. Kegley, Kegley's
Virginia Frontier (Roanoke, 1938), pp. 43-45, also listed the settlers who
received the earliest Borden grant deeds. <ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>